Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe in der Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft Wissenschaftliche Berichte FZKA 7124

# Regulation of the p53 Tumor Suppressor Protein by Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3

R. Kulikov Institut für Toxikologie und Genetik

Mai 2005

Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe in der Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft

Wissenschaftliche Berichte FZKA 7124

## Regulation of the p53 tumor suppressor protein by Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3

Roman Kulikov

Institut für Toxikologie und Genetik

von der Fakultät für Chemie und Biowissenschaften der Universität Karlsruhe (TH) genehmigte Dissertation

Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH, Karlsruhe 2005

Impressum der Print-Ausgabe:

Als Manuskript gedruckt Für diesen Bericht behalten wir uns alle Rechte vor

#### Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe GmbH Postfach 3640, 76021 Karlsruhe

Mitglied der Hermann von Helmholtz-Gemeinschaft Deutscher Forschungszentren (HGF)

ISSN 0947-8620

urn:nbn:de:0005-071240

## Regulation des Tumorsuppressor Proteins p53 durch die Glykogen Synthase Kinase 3

#### ZUSAMMENFASSUNG

Das Mdm2 Onkoprotein reguliert Menge und Aktivität des p53 Protein, eines der wichtigsten Tumorsupressorproteine in höheren eucaryotischen Zellen. Für einen effizienten Abbau des p53 Proteins muss das Mdm2 Protein an mehreren zusammenhängenden Phosphorylierungsstellen innerhalb des zentralen konservierten Bereichs phosphoryliert sein.

Während meiner Doktorarbeit fand ich, dass die Glykogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) das Mdm2 Protein *in vitro* und *in vivo* innerhalb des zentralen Bereichs phosphoryliert. Hemmung von GSK 3 mit synthetischen Inhibitoren oder siRNA verhinderte den Abbau des p53 Proteins in einer Mdm2 abhängigen Weise, obwohl das p53 Protein an das Mdm2 Protein gebunden war und durch das Mdm2 Protein ubiquityliert wurde. Auch die Lokalisierung der p53 und Mdm2 Proteine oder die Interaktion der Mdm2 und MdmX Proteine war durch die Inhibition von GSK 3 nicht betroffen. Die Hemmung von GSK 3 verminderte jedoch die Bindung des Mdm2 Proteins an das Proteasom. Die Mengenzunahme des p53 Protein führte zur Transkription des *p21/waf1* und *mdm2* Gens, nicht aber zur Transkription apoptotischer Gene wie *bax* oder *puma*. Nach ionisierender Strahlung, die zur Mengenzunahme des p53 Proteins geht der p53 Mengenzunahme voraus und überlappt teilweise mit ihr. Darüberhinaus reduzierte die Expression einer GSK 3 Mutante, die gegen die Phosphorylierung durch ionisierende Strahlung resistent war, die Ansammlung des p53 Proteins.

Ich schließe aus diesen Ergebnissen, dass GSK 3 das p53 Protein reguliert, indem es wichtige Phosphorylierungsstellen phosphoryliert, die im zentralen Bereich des Mdm2 Proteins liegen. Meine Daten weisen außerdem auf einen neuen Mechanismus für die schadensinduzierte Ansammlung des p53 Proteins hin und beschreiben eine postubiquityläre Funktion des Mdm2 Proteins, die Interaktion des Mdm2 Proteins mit dem Proteasom.

#### ABSTRACT

The Mdm2 oncoprotein regulates abundance and activity of the p53 protein, one of the most important tumor suppressor proteins in higher eucaryotic cells. For efficient degradation of p53, the Mdm2 protein needs to be phosphorylated at several contiguous residues within the central conserved domain.

I found that glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) phosphorylated the Mdm2 protein *in vitro* and *in vivo* within the central domain. Inhibition of GSK 3 with synthetic compounds or siRNA rescued p53 from degradation in an Mdm2-dependent manner despite its association with the Mdm2 protein and ubiquitylation. Localization of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins or the interaction of the Mdm2 and MdmX proteins were not affected but inhibition of GSK 3 decreased the association of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. The accumulated p53 protein induced transcription of the *p21/waf1* and *mdm2* gene but not of pro-apoptotic genes such as *bax* or *puma*. Ionizing irradiation, which leads to p53 accumulation directed phosphorylation of GSK 3 at serine 9, which preceded and overlapped with the increase in p53 levels. Moreover, expression of a GSK 3 mutant refractory to ionizing irradiation-induced phosphorylation reduced the accumulation of p53. I therefore conclude that GSK 3 regulates p53 levels by phosphorylating key sites in the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. My data also reveal a new mechanism for DNA damage-induced p53 accumulation and describe a post-ubiquitylation function of the Mdm2 protein, the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome.

### Acknowledgements

This work was performed in the Institute of Toxicology and Genetics (ITG), Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe and financially supported by Forschungszentrum Karlsruhe and Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft (DFG).

I would like to thank Prof. Dr. Peter Herrlich for giving me the opportunity to do my PhD work at the Institute of Genetics.

I am grateful to Dr. Christine Blattner for supervising, critical discussions and helpful ideas during my work.

Many thanks to my collegues who supported me during this time. Special thanks to Anna Brichkina and Markus Winter for their help and advice.

Last but not least, I would like to express my deepest gratitude to my parents for their support, which I always felt even from the great distance and for their respect for any choice I had ever made in my life, though very often it was not easy for them.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Zusammenfassung	i
Abstract	ii
Acknowledgements	iii
Table of contents	v
List of figures	ix
List of tables	х
Abbreviations	xi
1. INTRODUCTION	1
1.1. The p53 tumor suppressor protein	2
1.1.1 Transcriptional activation function of the p53 protein	2
1.1.2 P53, direct activator of apoptosis	3
1.1.3 Structure of the p53 protein	3
1.1.4 P53 is degraded via the ubiquitin-dependent proteasome degradation	4
1.2 General principles of ubiquitylation-dependent proteasomal degradation.	4
1.3 The p53 degradation pathway	6
1.3.1 The Mdm2 protein is a major negative regulator of p53.	7
1.3.1.1 The interaction of Mdm2 and p53 is a prerequisite for p53 ubiquitylation and degradation.	8
1.3.1.2 Co-localization of p53 and Mdm2 is a prerequisite for Mdm2- mediated degradation of the p53 protein	10
1.3.1.3 Ubiquitylation of the p53 protein is tightly regulated	12
1.3.1.3.1 The Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity is regulated by protein-protein interactions	12
1.3.1.3.2 Non-protein ligands change Mdm2 binding specificity	15
1.3.1.3.3 The Mdm2 protein interacts with many proteins that regulate multiple pathways	15
1.3.1.3.4 Mdm2 functions are regulated by post-translational modifications	16
1.3.1.4 hRad23 proteins regulate the post-ubiquitylation function of the Mdm2 protein	18
1.3.2 The central domain of the Mdm2 protein: at the crossroads of p53 ubiquitylation and degradation.	19
1.4 Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 (GSK 3)	21

1.4.1 Regulation of GSK 3	21
1.4.1.1 Regulation of GSK 3 by phosphorylation	21
1.4.1.2 Regulation of the intracellular localization of GSK 3	23
1.4.1.3 Regulation of GSK 3 by binding proteins	23
АІМ	24
2. MATERIALS AND METHODS	25
2.1 MATERIALS	25
2.1.1 Chemicals	25
2.1.2 Kits	26
2.1.3 Binding matrices	26
2.1.4 Oligonucleotides	26
2.1.5 Plasmids	28
2.1.6 Antibodies	29
2.1.7 Enzymes	30
2.1.8 Bacteria	31
2.1.9 Cell lines and media	31
2.1.10 Other materials	31
2.2 METHODS	32
2.2.1 CELL CULTURE AND TRANSFECTION METHODS	32
2.2.1.1 Cell culture	32
2.2.1.2 Freezing and thawing of cells	32
2.2.1.3 Transfection of cells with jet-Pei reagent	32
2.2.1.4 Transfection of cells with calcium phosphate	32
2.2.1.5 Magnetic separation of transfected cells	33
2.2.1.6 Treatment of cell lines	33
2.2.2 NUCLEIC ACIDS METHODS	33
2.2.2.1 Determination of nucleic acid concentration	33
2.2.2.2 Plasmid DNA preparation	34
2.2.2.1 Large scale plasmid preparation	34
2.2.2.2 Small scale plasmid preparation	34
2.2.2.3 Restriction endonuclease digestion of DNA	34
2.2.2.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis	35

2.2.2.5 Isolation/purification of DNA from agarose gels	35
2.2.2.6 DNA ligation	35
2.2.2.7 Sub-cloning	35
2.2.2.8 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)	35
2.2.2.9 Cloning into pCR <sup>®</sup> -Blunt II-TOPO <sup>®</sup> vector	36
2.2.2.10 Transformation of chemically competent bacteria	36
2.2.2.11 Construction of siRNA expressing plasmids	36
2.2.2.12 Site-directed mutagenesis	37
2.2.2.13 Manual (radioactive) DNA sequencing	37
2.2.2.14 Isolation of polyA RNA from cultured cells	37
2.2.2.15 Northern blotting	38
2.2.2.16 Radioactive labelling of cDNAs for Northern hybridization	38
2.2.2.17 Preparation of cDNA	39
2.2.3 PROTEIN METHODS	39
2.2.3.1 Determination of protein concentration	39
2.2.3.2 Preparation of cell lysate	39
2.2.3.3 SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis	40
2.2.3.4 Western Blotting	40
2.2.3.5 Immunoprecipitation	41
2.2.3.6 Ubiquitylation assay	41
2.2.3.7 Preparation of GST fusion proteins	41
2.2.3.8 Kinase assays	42
2.2.3.9 In vivo labelling of cells with <sup>32</sup> P-orthophosphate	43
2.2.3.10 Two-dimensional peptide mapping	43
2.2.3.11 Immunofluorescence staining	44
3. RESULTS	45
3.1. GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 in vitro and in vivo	45
3.2 Inhibition of GSK 3 leads to p53 accumulation	53
3.3 Accumulated p53 is transcriptionally active	55
3.4 GSK 3 regulates p53 degradation	56
3.5 Inhibition of GSK 3 does not interfere with p53 ubiquitylation	61
3.6 GSK 3 regulates the Mdm2-proteasome interaction	67

3.7 Mutants of Mdm2 where GSK 3 consensus sites are mutated into alanine ubiquitylate p53 but do not promote p53 degradation	68
3.8 GSK 3 is inhibited after ionizing irradiation	70
	70
3.9 Inactivation of GSK 3 contributes to p53 accumulation after IR	72
4. DISCUSSION	75
4.1 The Mdm2 protein is a physiological substrate for GSK 3	75
4.2 Phosphorylation of the central region of the Mdm2 protein regulates its interaction with the proteasome.	81
4.3 The accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 leads to selective activation of p21/waf1 and mdm2 transcription	83
4.4 GSK 3 contributes to the activation of the p53 protein in response to DNA damage	84
4.5 Model of p53 regulation by GSK 3: conclusion	86

#### 5. REFERENCES

89

#### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure	1.1.	The p53 protein is at the crossroads of multiple cellular stress pathways.	2
Figure	1.2.	The ubiquitylation-dependent proteasomal degradation pathway.	5
Figure	1.3.	Functional domains of the Mdm2 protein.	7
Figure	1.4.	Schematic representation of p53 degradation pathway.	9
Figure	1.5.	Topology of p53 ubiquitylation.	11
Figure	1.6.	Regulation of p53 ubiquitylation.	13
Figure	1.7.	Mdm2-interacting proteins.	13
Figure	1.8.	Posttranslational modifications of Mdm2.	17
Figure	1.9.	Regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) by phosphorylation.	22
Figure 2	2.1.	Design of oligonucleotides for generating siRNA expressing plasmids.	36
Figure	3.1.	GSK3 consensus sites in the central domain of Mdm2.	45
Figure	3.2.	GSK 3β phosphorylates Mdm2 <i>in vitro</i> .	46
Figure	3.3.	Phosphorylation of Mdm2 by GSK 3 $\beta$ is enhanced after priming by CKI $\delta$ .	48
Figure	3.4.	Two-dimensional peptide map of Mdm2 phosphorylated in vivo.	50
Figure	3.5.	GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 in vivo.	51
Figure	3.6.	Mdm2 interacts with GSK $3\beta$ .	52
Figure	3.7.	Inhibition of GSK 3 leads to the accumulation of p53.	54
Figure	3.8.	GSK-3 inhibition leads to the accumulation of transcriptionally active p53.	56
Figure	3.9.	Inhibition of GSK 3 prevents p53 degradation I.	57
Figure	3.10.	Inhibition of GSK-3 prevents p53 degradation II.	59
Figure	3.11.	Accumulation of p53 after GSK 3 inhibition depends on the presence of Mdm2.	60
Figure	3.12.	Inhibition of GSK 3 leads to the accumulation of E2F-1.	61
Figure	3.13.	p53 is not phosphorylated by GSK 3.	62
Figure	3.14.	GSK 3 inhibition does not change the intracellular localization of p53 and Mdm2.	63
Figure	3.15.	GSK 3 inhibition does not influence p53-Mdm2 interaction.	64
Figure	3.16.	GSK 3 inhibition does not influence Mdm2/MdmX interaction.	65
Figure	3.17.	GSK 3 inhibition does not change p53 ubiquitylation.	67

Figure 3.18.	GSK 3 inhibition blocks the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome.	68
Figure 3.19	Hypophosphorylated Mdm2 doesn't degrade p53.	69
Figure 3.20	GSK 3 $\beta$ is inactivated towards primed substrates after ionizing irradiation.	71
Figure 3.21	Expression of a constitutive active GSK 3 mutant reduces p53 accumulation after ionizing irradiation.	73
Figure 4.1.	Model of p53 regulation by GSK 3.	87

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 4.1.	Criteria for identifying physiological substrates of GSK 3.	79
------------	---	----

### Abbreviations

aa	aminoacid
AAA ATPases	ATPases associated with diverse cellular activities
APS	ammonium persulfate
Arf	alternative reading frame protein
ATM	ataxia telangiectasia mutated kinase
ATP	adenosine triphosphate
Bis I	bisindolyImaleimide I
Bis IX	bisindolyImaleimide IX
bp	base pairs
BSA	bovine serum albumin
cdk	cyclin dependent kinase
cDNA	complementary DNA
Chk2	checkpoint kinase 2
Ci	Curie
CKI	casein kinase I
DCS	donor calf serum
ddNTP	di-deoxynucleotide triphosphate
DEPC	diethyl pyrocarbonate
DMEM	Dulbecco's modified Eagle's medium
DMSO	dimethylsulfoxide
DNA	deoxyribonucleic acid
DNA-PK	DNA-activated protein kinase
dNTP	deoxynucleotide triphosphate
DTT	dithiothreitol
ECL	enhanced chemiluminescence
EDTA	ethylendiamine-N,N-tetracetate
ER	endoplasmic reticulum
FCS	foetal calf serum
g	gram
GAPDH	glyceraldehyde-3-phosphate dehydrogenase
GSK 3	glycogen synthase kinase 3
GST	glutathione S-transferase
h	hour
HA	hemagglutinin
HEPES	2-[4-(2-hydroxyethyl)-1-piperazinyl]ethanesulfonic acid
HRP	horseradish peroxidase

lg	immunoglobulin
IP	immunoprecipitation
IPTG	isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactopyranoside
IR	ionizing irradiation
kb	kilobases
kDa	kilodalton
LB	Luria–Bertani
m	milli
μ	micro
Μ	molar
Mdm2	mouse double minute 2
min	minute
MOPS	4-morpholinepropanesulfonic acid
mRNA	messenger RNA
n	nano
NES	nuclear export signal
NLS	nuclear localization signal
NoLS	nucleolar localization signal
NP-40	nonidet P-40.
NZF	Npl4 zinc finger
OD	optical density
PBS	phosphate buffered saline
PCNA	proliferating cell nuclear antigen
PCR	polymerase chain reaction
PI3K	phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase
PKA	protein kinase A
PKB	protein kinase B
PKC	protein kinase C
PMSF	phenylethylsulphonyl fluoride
PNK	polynucleotide kinase
PUMA	p53-upregulated modulator of apoptosis
RING	really interesting new gene
RNA	ribonucleic acid
rpm	rounds per minute
RT	room temperature
SDS	sodium dodecyl sulphate
SDS-PAGE	sodium dodecyl sulphate polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis
sec	second

siRNA	small interfering RNA
TBS	tris buffered saline
TEMED	N,N,N',N'+tetramethylethylenediamine
Tris	tris-(hydroxymethyl)-aminomethane
U	units
UV	ultra violet
V	volt
V/v	volume on volume
W/v	weight on volume
WB	western blot
wt	wild type
YY1	ying yang 1

### **1. INTRODUCTION**

The p53 tumour suppressor is a tightly regulated protein that acts by blocking cell cycle progression or promoting apoptosis when cells encounter stress signals such as oncogene activation or DNA damage (for a review, Hofseth et al., 2004). It is mutated in about every second tumor and deletion of both alleles of the p53 gene results in early onset of cancer (Vogelstein et al., 2000). The p53 protein has a short half-life, and it is normally maintained at low levels in unstressed cells by continuous ubiquitylation and subsequent degradation by the 26S proteasome. Ubiquitylation is mainly due to the interaction of the p53 protein with the RING finger ubiguitin E3 ligase Mdm2 (Honda et al., 1997; Oliner et al., 1993; Mommand et al., 1992). When cells are stressed, p53 degradation is blocked and p53 accumulates in the nucleus where it functions as a transcriptional activator or repressor of distinct target genes that contain p53 sequencespecific DNA binding sites. The mechanisms of p53 regulation are under intense investigation. Despite the significant progress in understanding the degradation pathway of the p53 protein, the exact mechanisms underlying the p53 response to DNA damage are not known. The recent observation that the degradation of the p53 protein is regulated by hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein after ionizing irradiation suggests the existence of a signalling cascade that regulates Mdm2 function via phosphorylation of its central domain (Blattner et al., 2002). However, no kinases are known that phosphorylate the central domain of the Mdm2 protein.

In my PhD thesis I have identified glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) as a kinase that phosphorylates the central domain of Mdm2 *in vitro* and *in vivo*. I found that inhibition of GSK 3 rescued p53 from degradation in an Mdm2-dependent manner despite its association with Mdm2 and ubiquitylation. Moreover, inhibition of GSK 3 decreased the association of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. The accumulated p53 protein induced transcription of *p21/waf1* and *mdm2* but interestingly not of proapoptotic proteins such as *bax* or *puma*. In consistency with the hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein after ionizing irradiation, GSK 3 became phosphorylated and inactivated after DNA damage. Correspondingly, expression of a constitutively active mutant of GSK 3 reduced p53 accumulation after ionizing irradiation. These data provide not only a new mechanism for DNA damage-induced p53 accumulation but also shed some light on the post-ubiquitylation function of Mdm2, the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. In the following chapters I will introduce the players of the p53 degradation pathway and their regulation in response to DNA damage.

#### 1.1. The p53 tumor suppressor protein

Since its discovery 25 years ago, p53 has become one of the most studied tumour suppressor genes. Originally it was identified as a cellular protein of 53 kDa that bound to SV40 large T-antigen and accumulated in cancer cells (Lane and Crawford, 1979; Linzer and Levine, 1979). However, 10 years later, researchers discovered that they worked previously with the mutant p53 gene instead of its wild type counterpart. Subsequent research clearly demonstrated that wild type p53 is not an oncogene but in fact a tumor suppressor gene (Baker et al., 1989; Finlay et al., 1989).

In approximately half of all human tumors, the p53 gene was found to be mutated and some of these p53 missense mutations gain oncogenic activity and promote tumorigenesis (Sigal and Rotter, 2000). In the remaining cases, the p53 response pathway may not be functional, due to overexpression of p53 inhibitors, such as Mdm2, or inactivation of p53 activators such as p14Arf (Vogelstein et al., 2000).



**Figure 1.1. The p53 protein is at the crossroads of multiple cellular stress pathways.** After stress p53 accumulates and activates transcription of genes that play a role in cell-cycle checkpoints, apoptosis, DNA repair or cellular senescence. (Adopted from Hofseth et al., 2004)

#### 1.1.1 Transcriptional activation function of the p53 protein

The p53 protein has multiple functions in cells, most of them are based on its activity as a transcription factor. In the absence of stress, the p53 protein is transcriptionally inactive. Several signalling pathways stabilize the p53 protein in response to stress and lead to its

activation. Depending on the conditions of cell growth, the type and duration of stress, p53 selectively activates a different subset of target genes which cause either apoptosis or growth arrest (for a recent review, Hofseth et al., 2004; Fig. 1.1). The p53 protein regulates the G1-S checkpoint in response to relatively low doses of DNA damage, heat shock, hypoxia and other forms of stress. The targets for transcriptionally active p53 protein that mediate efficient G<sub>1</sub> arrest are the cyclin-dependent kinase inhibitor p21<sup>WAF1</sup>, GADD45 and 14-3-3 $\sigma$ . Growth arrest in response to mild DNA damage gives the cell time to repair damaged DNA. Under extreme stress and severe DNA damage, the p53 protein triggers the activation of genes implicated in the apoptotic cascade including bax, APAF-1, NOXA, PUMA and many others (Fig. 1.1). The mechanisms that enable p53 to selectively trigger one of the two distinct pathways are not known and are subject of intense investigations (Slee et al., 2004).

#### 1.1.2 P53, direct activator of apoptosis

There is growing evidence that the p53 protein can induce apoptosis independently of its ability to bind DNA and to activate transcription. A number of publications reported recently about the localization of the p53 protein to mitochondria in response to DNA damage or hypoxia. The p53 protein translocates to the mitochondria at the onset of p53-induced apoptosis and contributes directly to apoptotic signalling at the mitochondria. At the mitochondria, the p53 protein interacts directly with anti-apoptotic proteins such as Bcl-2 and Bcl-X<sub>L</sub> (Marchenko et al., 2000; Mihara et al., 2003). Interestingly, transcriptionally inactive mutants of the p53 protein, when targeted to mitochondria, induce apoptosis as effectively as wild-type p53 (Mihara et al., 2003).

#### 1.1.3 Structure of the p53 protein

The human p53 protein is a nuclear phosphoprotein that consists of 393 amino acids. The protein is commonly divided into three functional domains. The amino-terminal domain is required for transcriptional activation of target genes. The Mdm2 protein interacts with this N-terminal transactivation domain and thus inhibits p53 transcriptional activity (Chen et al., 1995). Most of the interactions between the p53 protein and its target proteins take place in the central core domain of the p53 protein, which mediates sequence-specific DNA-binding. Towards the carboxyl-terminal end of the p53 protein, there is a tetramerization domain, a nuclear export signal and nuclear localization signals.

The p53 protein is a target for a complex and diverse array of covalent post-translational modifications (reviewed in Bode and Dong, 2004). The most common of these post-translational modifications of the p53 protein include phosphorylation of serines and threonines, and acetylation, ubiquitylation and sumoylation of lysine residues. Post-translational phosphorylation and acetylation is supposed to lead to p53 stabilization,

accumulation and activation in the nucleus (reviewed in Bode and Dong, 2004). More recent reports suggest, however, that the role of phosphorylation might have been overestimated (Thompson et al., 2004: Jackson et al., 2004).

#### 1.1.4 P53 is degraded via the ubiquitin-dependent proteasome degradation

In normal, unstressed cells, the p53 protein is very unstable with a half-life ranging from 5 to 30 minutes (Maltzman and Czyzyk, 1984). In consequence, p53 is present at very low cellular levels owing to continuous proteasomal degradation that is largely mediated by the Mdm2 protein (Maki et al., 1996). Recently, three other proteins have been discovered, Pirh2, Cop1 and topors, that also facilitate degradation of the p53 protein via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway (Leng et al., 2003; Dornan et al., 2004; Rajendra et al., 2004). The physiological significance of p53 degradation by Cop1, Pirh2 and topors is not as yet clear. Therefore, Mdm2-dependent p53 degradation will be discussed in the next chapters.

#### 1.2 General principles of ubiquitylation-dependent proteasomal degradation.

The most common role of ubiquitylation is to render proteins susceptible to degradation by the 26S proteasome (for a review, Fang and Weissman, 2004). It occurs as a consequence of modification of proteins with chains of four or more ubiquitins linked through lysine 48 (K48) of ubiquitin and the specific recognition of these tagged substrates by the 19S cap of the 26S proteasome (Thrower et al., 2000).

In general, ubiquitylation results from the sequential action of three classes of enzymes, E1 or ubiquitin activating enzyme, E2 or ubiquitin conjugating enzyme, and E3 or ubiquitin protein ligase (Fig. 1.2). As a result of this enzyme cascade, an ubiquitin monomer becomes attached to the  $\varepsilon$ -amino group of an internal lysine residue of the substrate (Passmore and Barford, 2004). In some cases, the ubiquitin molecule is attached to a free alpha-amino group of the substrate rather than to a lysine residue (Breitschopf et al., 1998; Kuo, 2004; Ben-Saadon et al., 2004). The ubiquitylation reaction is repeated until polyubiquitin chains are formed. For several proteins, the activity of an additional protein, called E4 ligase, is required for polyubiquitylation (Koegl et al., 1999).

Substrate specificity is determined largely by the E3 ubiquitin ligase. Ubiquitin ligases can be identified by specific E3 motifs. Most of the E3 ligases fall into two big classes: HECT domain (<u>H</u>omologous to <u>E6-AP</u> <u>C</u>arboxyl <u>T</u>erminus; Huibregtse et al., 1995) or RING domain (<u>Really Interesting New Gene</u>) ubiquitin ligase (Joazeiro and Weissman, 2000). A few other motifs are, however, also associated with ubiquitin ligase activity. These include U-box (Cyr et al., 2002), PHD (<u>P</u>lant <u>H</u>omeo-<u>D</u>omain; Coscoy et al., 2001) or LAP (<u>L</u>eukemia-<u>A</u>ssociated <u>P</u>rotein) finger domains (Boname and Stevenson, 2001).



**Figure 1.2. The ubiquitylation-dependent proteasomal degradation pathway.** Free ubiquitin (Ub) is activated in an ATP-dependent manner with the formation of a thiol-ester linkage between E1 and the carboxyl terminus of ubiquitin. The activated ubiquitin monomer is transferred to one of several E2s. For HECT domain E3s, ubiquitin is transferred from the E2 protein to the active site cysteine of the HECT domain of the ubiquitin ligase, and subsequently transfered to a substrate (S) or to a substrate-bound multi-ubiquitin chain. For RING-finger E3s, E2s associate with E3s, which may have the substrate already bound and the ubiquitin is transferred directly from the E2 enzyme to the substrate. The ubiquitylation reaction is repeated until a multiubiquitin chain of four or more K48-linked ubiquitin moieties is formed. Some substrates require the activity of an additional enzyme, an E4 ubiquitin ligase for polyubiquitylation. The polyubiquitylated substrate is recognized by proteasomal multiubiquitin receptors, unfolded and degraded in the central catalytic chamber of the 26S proteasome. Single ubiquitin molecules are regenerated and can be used again.

Once the chains of at least four ubiquitin proteins are formed, the substrate is targeted for proteasomal degradation (Thrower et al., 2000). The polyubiquitin chains are recognized by multiubiquitin receptors on the regulatory subunit of the proteasome that target proteins to AAA ATPase-dependent unfolding and subsequent degradation in the central catalytic chamber of the 20S proteasome (Fig. 1.2; Sauer et al., 2004). The nature of polyubiquitin receptors was actively investigated recently (Hartmann-Petersen and Gordon, 2004).

A few proteins are able to bind polyubiquitin chains, among them are Dsk2/PLIC, Rad23, Cdc48, S6' AAA ATPase and S5a non-ATPase subunit of the proteasome. Genetic

studies in yeast have demonstrated indirectly that Rad23 and Dsk2/PLIC proteins play a role in polyubiquitin recognition (Hartmann-Petersen and Gordon, 2004). However, the only direct evidence for recognition of polyubiquitin chains by Rad23 was received recently when Deshais and co-workers developed a new cell-free degradation system and were able to show that Rad23 is a receptor for polyubiquitylated forms of the cdk inhibitor Sic1 (Verma et al., 2004). Importantly, in the same system Rad23 was not targeting Cln2 and other proteins for degradation revealing a high level of specificity (Verma et al., 2004). Another hypothesis proposes that specific ubiquitin ligases may contribute to the delivery of their substrates to the proteasome (Xie and Varshavsky, 2000). Indeed, a number of different E3 ubiquitin ligases have been shown to interact with the proteasome. In human cells, the KIAA10 E3 has been shown to bind to the human S2/Rpn1 subunit (You and Pickart, 2001) and the von Hippel-Lindau protein (VHL) interacts with S6a, a component of 19S regulatory complex of proteasome (Tsuchiya et al., 1996) Moreover, its ability to degrade its substrate, HIF1 $\alpha$ , depends on the interaction of VHL with the proteasome (Corn et al., 2003). In budding yeast, the Ubr1 and Ufd2 ubiquitin ligases interact directly with the proteasome (Xie and Varshavsky, 2000). Future investigations will reveal whether delivering substrates for proteasomal degradation is a general property of ubiquitin ligases and which role multiubiquitin receptors play in this process.

#### 1.3 The p53 degradation pathway

The p53 protein is degraded via the classical ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. It is polyubiquitylated at several C-terminal lysines and subsequently degraded by the proteasome (for a Review, Yang et al., 2004). Mdm2 acts as an E3 ligase for p53 (Honda et al., 1997) and promotes its ubiquitylation and degradation in vivo (Haupt et al., 1997; Kubbutat et al., 1997). The corresponding E2 enzyme was identified recently (Saville et al., 2004). UbcH5B/C supports the degradation of the p53 degradation in vivo and is the most likely E2 candidate for Mdm2-dependent ubiquitylation of p53 (Saville et al., 2004), although a direct interaction of the UbcH5B/C proteins with the Mdm2 protein was not shown. In addition to Mdm2, other E3 ligases have been shown to ubiguitylate the p53 protein and promote its proteasome-mediated degradation. Pirh2 interacts with the p53 protein and promotes Mdm2-independent p53 ubiquitylation and degradation (Leng et al., 2003). Similar to Mdm2, Pirh2 is a target gene of the p53 protein and participates in autoregulatory negative feedback loop (Leng et al., 2003). Another E3 ligase, COP1, has also been described recently as a direct ubiquitin ligase for p53 (Dornan et al., 2004). The depletion of COP1 by siRNA enhances p53-mediated growth arrest and sensitizes cells to ionizing irradiation (Dornan et al., 2004). The third and most recently discovered physiological ubiquitin ligase for p53 is the human topoisomerase I- and p53-binding protein topors (Rajendra et al., 2004). It is yet uncertain how these proteins are

specifically regulated and under which situations they may be specifically activated. However, the redundancy of four ubiquitin ligases for p53 emphasizes the importance of keeping this tumor suppressor protein under tight control.

#### 1.3.1 The Mdm2 protein is a major negative regulator of p53.

Mdm2-dependent ubiquitylation of the p53 protein is believed to be the most important pathway for p53 degradation and it was actively investigated over the last years. The *mdm2* (mouse double minute 2) gene was originally identified as one of three genes (*mdm1, 2,* and *3*) which were amplified in a spontaneously transformed mouse BALB/c cell line (3T3-DM; Cahilly-Snyder et al., 1987). The gene product of *mdm2* was subsequently shown to be responsible for the transformation of cells when it is overexpressed (Fakharzadeh et al., 1991). Particularly, genetic deletion of the *mdm2* gene in the mouse demonstrated a critical role of the Mdm2 protein for the regulation of the p53 protein. Mdm2-null mouse embryos died early after implantation (before E6.5), but they were fully rescued when p53 was absent (Jones et al., 1995; Montes de Oca Luna et al., 1995). This result provides genetic evidence that the most important role of the Mdm2 protein is the physiological regulation of p53 protein function, at least in early development (Jones et al., 1995; Montes de Oca Luna et al., 1995).



**Figure 1.3. Functional domains of the Mdm2 protein.** *NLS*, nuclear localization signal; *NES*, nuclear export signal; *Zn-finger*, zinc-finger domain; *NoLS*, nucleolar localization signal; *RING-finger*, RING-finger domain. The numbers above denote amino acid numbers.

The Mdm2 protein is a nuclear phosphoprotein that contains several conserved functional domains (Fig. 1.3). The amino terminus contains p53-interacting domain (Chen et al., 1993; Kussie et al., 1996). Within the central domain, there are binding sites for many Mdm2 regulators, e.g. p300, Arf, L5, L11, L23 and YY1 (Grossman et al., 1998; Llanos et al., 2001; Marechal et al., 1994; Lohrum et al., 2003; Dai et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2004). The central region also contains nuclear localization and nuclear export signals, that mediate nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling, and a <u>Npl4 zinc finger (NZF)</u> domain. NZF domains are known to bind ubiquitin but the NZF domain of Mdm2 has a very weak ubiquitin-binding activity and its function is largely unknown (Meyer et al., 2002). The carboxyl-terminus of the Mdm2 protein contains a C3H4 RING finger domain that is required for

Mdm2-mediated ubiquitin transfer (Honda and Yasuda, 2000). The C-terminus of Mdm2 also contains a nucleolar localization sequence and binds RNA (Elenbaas et al., 1996).

The Mdm2 protein controls the activity of the p53 protein in two ways. It inhibits the transcriptional activity of p53 by binding to its transactivation domain and concealing it from coactivators and the basic transcriptional machinery (Momand et al., 1992; Kussie et al., 1996). This inhibition has been attributed to the intrinsic transcriptional repressive activity of the N-terminal region of Mdm2 and to the recruitment of a transcriptional corepressor CtBP2 by Mdm2 (Mirnezami et al., 2003). The Mdm2 protein also promotes ubiquitylation and degradation of the p53 protein. Overexpression of the Mdm2 protein decreases p53 protein levels (Haupt et al., 1997; Kubbutat et al., 1997). Further studies demonstrated that Mdm2 is a ubiquitin ligase (Honda et al., 1997). The activity of Mdm2 towards p53 both in vitro (Fang et al., 2000; Honda and Yasuda, 2000) and in cells (Fang et al., 2000) is mediated by its C-terminal RING finger. Mdm2 itself is induced by p53 (Barak et al., 1993). Thus, p53 and Mdm2 are linked through an autoregulatory negative feedback loop that maintains low cellular levels of p53. Multiple stimuli including DNA damage, oncogene activation disrupt the p53-Mdm2 negative feedback loop, leading to p53 accumulation and transcriptional activation of p53 target genes (reviewed in Alarcon-Vargas and Ronai, 2002).

# 1.3.1.1 The interaction of Mdm2 and p53 is a prerequisite for p53 ubiquitylation and degradation.

The interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins is a necessary but insufficient requirement for p53 degradation (Fig. 1.4). The Mdm2 and p53 proteins form a complex via their Nterminal domains (Chen et al., 1993). The minimal Mdm2-binding site on the p53 protein comprises residues 18-26 of which Phe19, Trp23 and Leu26 are the most critical (Chen et al., 1993; Bottger et al., 1997). Accordingly, p53 mutants, in which the Mdm2 binding site has been mutated are resistant to Mdm2-mediated degradation (Haupt et al., 1997; Kubbutat et al., 1997). In comparison to p53, p53-binding region of Mdm2 is relatively large, the direct interaction with the p53 protein has been localized to a hydrophobic pocket (19-108 aa) at the amino terminus of the Mdm2 protein that consists of two structurally similar parts, which form a deep cleft into which the p53 protein inserts as an amphipathic  $\alpha$ -helix (Kussie et al., 1996). Nevertheless, sequences far away from the hydrophobic cleft have been shown to affect p53-Mdm2 binding. For instance, phosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein at Thr216 by cyclin A/cdk2 weakens its interaction with p53 (Zhang and Prives, 2001). Interestingly, although the Nterminal part of p53 contains the primary docking site for Mdm2, a p53 protein lacking its N-terminus is still able to interact with Mdm2 in the presence of RNA (Burch et al., 2000).

Introduction



Figure 1.4. Schematic representation of p53 degradation pathway.

This additional interaction site has been mapped to the core domain of the p53 protein where it regulates p53 ubiquitylation and it regulates p53 ubiquitylation as mutation of the critical for the interaction Ser-261 and Leu-264 leads to increased p53 ubiquitylation (Shimuzu et al., 2002). Importantly, nuclear magnetic resonance studies have revealed global conformational changes of the Mdm2 protein after binding of a N-terminal peptide derived from the p53 protein (Schon et al., 2002). It is possible, that the binding of the Mdm2 and p53 proteins via their N-termini exposes a secondary binding motif in the p53 protein that inhibits p53 ubiquitylation by binding to a so far unrecognized domain in the Mdm2 protein. Additional requirement for the interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins includes the p53 homo-tetramerization domain. Monomeric mutants of the p53 protein are not degraded by the Mdm2 protein (Kubbutat et al., 1998). The tetramerization domain of the p53 protein enhances p53 degradation, possibly by improving the Mdm2 binding.

The Mdm2-p53 interaction is thought to be regulated by a number of posttranslational modifications. The N-terminus of the p53 protein can, for instance, be phosphorylated by many kinases (for a review, Bode and Dong, 2004). On the basis of the interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins, it has been suggested that phosphorylation of the p53 protein at

serine residues within the N-terminus is a critical event for the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to DNA damage or oncogene activation since it releases the p53 protein from the inhibitory action of the Mdm2 protein (Shieh et al., 1997; Chehab et al., 1999). However, the mutation of N-terminal serines into alanines doesn't significantly change the ability of the p53 protein to interact with Mdm2 *in vivo* (Lai, et al., 2000) and mutant p53 proteins, were the critical residues have been mutated still accumulate in response to DNA damage (Wu et al., 2002; Blattner et al., 1999b; Ashcroft et al., 1999). Therefore, phosphorylation of N-terminal serines is dispensable for p53 accumulation which is further supported by the fact that several stimuli, e.g. induction of p14ARF, lead to p53 accumulation without N-terminal phosphorylation of the p53 protein (Jackson et al., 2004). Nevertheless, phosphorylation of Thr18 may interfere with the interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 protein and weaken it several fold (Schon et al., 2002).

Not only the p53 protein but also the Mdm2 protein is phosphorylated in response to DNA damage (Khosravi et al., 1999; de Toledo et al., 2000). Phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein at Ser-17 by DNA-PK is supposed to disrupt the interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 protein (Mayo et al., 1997). Another kinase, ATM, phosphorylates both, the Mdm2 and the p53 protein in response to DNA damage (de Toledo et al., 2000). Although there are no data available regarding the phosphorylates Mdm2 *in vitro* at multiple sites, including one site between residues 1 and 115 (Khosravi et al., 1999). In this region only Ser-17 fits with the SQ-motif that is required for DNA-PK or ATM activity. NMR studies have shown that Mdm2 residues 16-24 form a lid over the p53-binding site of Mdm2 (McCoy et al., 2003). When Ser-17 is replaced with an aspartic acid, thus mimicking a phosphorylated serine, the lid has a higher affinity for the p53-binding site of the Mdm2 protein than wild type and in consequence, it prevents the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the p53 protein (McCoy et al., 2003). Thus, allosteric regulation of Mdm2 may play a role in DNA-damage induced p53 activation.

# 1.3.1.2 Co-localization of p53 and Mdm2 is a prerequisite for Mdm2-mediated degradation of the p53 protein

Localization of the Mdm2 and p53 proteins is a very important issue for the regulation of p53. Thus, factors that influence their localization will also affect p53 degradation (Fig. 1.4). Several proteins regulate the localization of the Mdm2 protein by inducing nucleoplasmic shuttling (reviewed in O'Brate and Giannakakou, 2003). For example, Akt-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serines 166 and 168 is necessary for the translocation of the Mdm2 protein from the cytoplasm into the nucleus where it ubiquitylates p53 (Mayo and Donner, 2001; Ogawara et al., 2002; Zhou et al., 2001). In contrast, p14ARF sequesters the Mdm2 protein in nucleoli thus preventing the Mdm2

protein from physical interaction and ubiquitylation of p53 (Tao and Levine, 1999; Weber et al., 1999). The localization of the p53 protein is also regulated by post-translational modifications and protein-protein interactions. In some tumors, e.g. breast adenocarcinoma, undifferentiated neuroblastoma, retinoblastoma or colorectal carcinoma, the p53 protein is located in the cytoplasma and therefore functionally inactive (O'Brate and Giannakakou, 2003).



**Figure 1.5. Topology of p53 ubiquitylation.** Mdm2 monoubiquitylates p53 in the nucleus. Monoubiquitylated p53 is exported out of the nucleus and degraded by cytoplasmic proteasomes. It also mediates apoptosis through its interaction with mitochondria. When Mdm2 levels are high, p53 is polyubiquitylated in the nucleus and degraded by nuclear proteasomes.

In the past, it has been thought that the p53 protein needs to be translocated to the cytoplasm for efficient degradation (Zhang and Xiong, 2001). More recently, however, it was shown that p53 can be degraded in both nucleus and cytoplasm (Xirodimas et al., 2001a). Interestingly, recent evidence suggests monoubiquitylation as a critical signal for regulating nuclear export, and Mdm2 is capable of inducing both monoubiquitylation and polyubiquitylation of p53 (Li et al., 2003). When Mdm2 protein levels are low, it catalyzes monoubiquitylation of p53 that is then effectively exported out of the nucleus and subjected to further modifications in the cytoplasm (Fig. 1.5). When Mdm2 protein levels are high, the p53 protein is quickly polyubiquitylated within the nucleus and degraded by nuclear proteasomes. The reasons for moving monoubiquitylated p53 out of the nucleus are not clear. It is possible that monoubiquitylated p53 has functions in the cytoplasm

other than transcriptional activation. Indeed, cytoplasmic p53 has recently been shown to play an important role in apoptosis through interactions with the mitochondria (Murphy et al., 2004).

#### 1.3.1.3 Ubiquitylation of the p53 protein is tightly regulated

When the p53 and Mdm2 proteins colocalize in the same cellular compartment and interact, Mdm2 transfers ubiquitin moiety to the C-terminus of p53. At the same time, p53 can become deubiquitylated by the ubiquitin protease HAUSP (Li et al., 2002; Li et al., 2004). In response to stresses, ubiquitylation of p53 is inhibited through diverse pathways, depending on the nature of stimulus and cell type.

Significant progress has been made in recent years in understanding the molecular mechanisms of p53 ubiquitylation. The Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity is a subject to multiple regulatory events involving Mdm2 posttranslational modifications and protein-protein interactions (Fig. 1.4) and emerging evidence suggests that inhibition of the E3 activity of the Mdm2 protein or of its post-ubiquitylation function are common mechanisms for rescuing the p53 protein from degradation.

# 1.3.1.3.1 The Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity is regulated by protein-protein interactions

Several proteins have recently been shown to play an important role in p53 regulation through their interaction with the Mdm2 protein. By interacting with Mdm2, they regulate the abundance of the p53 protein in an indirect way, namely by activating or inhibiting the Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity, or the Mdm2 post-ubiquitylation function (Fig. 1.6; Fig. 1.7). From the other hand, many Mdm2-interacting proteins represent the p53-independent substrates of Mdm2 (Fig. 1.7).

#### Positive regulators of p53 ubiquitylation

Although the Mdm2 protein has ubiquitin ligase activity towards the p53 protein *in vitro*, in a cellular context it requires several cofactors that support polyubiquitylation of the p53 protein. One of most important cofactors of the Mdm2 protein is Mdmx, an Mdm2 family member that also contains a RING domain (for a review, Marine and Jochemsen, 2004). Nevertheless, despite its appearance as an E3 ligase, the MdmX protein does not seem to have any ubiquitin ligase activity towards p53. Moreover, when it is overexpressed, it can stabilize both, the Mdm2 and the p53 protein (Jackson and Berberich, 2000; Stad et al., 2001). Surprisingly, genetic deletion of both *mdmX* alleles revealed that the MdmX protein does function as a negative regulator of the p53 protein, resulting in embryonic lethality, in a similar way to deletion of the *mdm2* gene (Migliorini et al., 2002). The mechanism for MdmX-mediated p53 stabilization is not clear.



**Figure 1.6. Regulation of p53 ubiquitylation.** P53 is ubiquitylated mainly by the Mdm2 protein, although other endogenous E3 ligases are capable of ubiquitylating p53. p53 ubiquitylation is stimulated by MdmX, YY1 and p300. Different stress stimuli lead to inactivation of the Mdm2 protein via protein-protein interactions or posttranslational modifications.



Figure 1.7. Mdm2-interacting proteins.

MdmX seems to block the degradation of p53 rather than its ubiquitylation since polyubiquitylated forms of p53 readily accumulate within the nucleus after MdmX overexpression (Jackson and Berberich, 2000; Stad et al., 2001). However, when the ratio of the MdmX:Mdm2 proteins is low, these proteins cooperatively decrease p53 levels and therefore, mutual dependence model was recently proposed (Gu et al., 2002). According to this model, MdmX stimulates Mdm2 activity towards p53 degradation. The precise mechanism of MdmX function is, however, not as yet clear.

The Mdm2 protein also interacts with the transcriptional co-activator p300 (Grossman et al., 1998). When the levels of the Mdm2 protein are low, it does not polyubiquitylate p53 *in vitro* (Lai et al., 2001). A role for the transcriptional coactivator p300 in p53 polyubiquitylation has been suggested by the observation that adenovirus E1A protein stabilizes the p53 protein, possibly by affecting its ubiquitylation. This effect may depend partly on the interaction of the E1A protein with p300 (Chiou and White, 1997). More recently, p300 has been shown to possess ubiquitin ligase activity and to act as a E4 ubiquitin ligase for p53 *in vivo* (Grossman et al., 2003).

Another transcription factor, Ying Yang 1 (YY1) interacts with both the Mdm2 and p53 protein (Sui et al., 2004). It is a negative regulator of the p53 protein and stimulates Mdm2-dependent polyubiquitylation of p53, possibly by stabilizing the association of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins (Sui et al., 2004; Gronroos et al., 2004). Inactivation of endogenous YY1 enhances the accumulation of the p53 protein as well as the expression of p53 target genes in response to DNA damage, and it sensitizes cells to DNA-damage-induced apoptosis (Gronroos et al., 2004).

#### Negative regulators of p53 ubiquitylation

Recent work from Rubbi and Milner puts forward a very interesting hypothesis that all p53inducing signals such as low oxygen levels, heat shock, nucleotide depletion, abnormalities in cell growth and proliferation and DNA damage are actually transmitted through the nucleolus via one and the same mechanism – by disrupting nucleoli (Rubbi and Milner, 2003). When the authors irradiated small sections of the nucleus with ultraviolet light in a way that damaged the DNA but did not compromise nucleolar function, the p53 protein was not stabilized. Conversely, when they injected an antibody that disrupted the nucleolar organisation but did not damage the DNA, the p53 protein was accumulated (Rubbi and Milner, 2003). Obviously, DNA damage *per se* is not enough to stabilize the p53 protein. Stabilization rather depends on nucleolar disruption. One of the hypotheses how the nucleolar disruption leads to p53 accumulation is the release of nucleolar proteins that bind to Mdm2 and inactivate its ubiquitin ligase function. P14<sup>ARF</sup> or ARF protein was the first nucleolar protein that was discovered to inhibit p53 ubiquitylation (Ruas and Peters, 1998). p14<sup>ARF</sup> functions upstream of the Mdm2 protein and blocks its activity. This model is strengthened by the tumorigenicity of ARF knockout mice (Lowe and Sherr, 2003). Still, the exact mechanistic function of p14<sup>ARF</sup> is not completely understood. The protein is capable of sequestering the Mdm2 protein in the nucleolus, though it can also stabilize the p53 protein independently of Mdm2 relocalization (Llanos et al., 2001). p14<sup>ARF</sup> directly inhibits the enzymatic function of Mdm2 *in vitro*, however, *in vivo* it only reduces the amount of polyubiquitylated forms of the p53 protein and shows no effect on Mdm2 self-ubiquitylation (Honda and Yasuda, 1999; Midgley et al., 2000; Xirodimas et al., 2001b).

Al least three other nucleolar proteins bind the Mdm2 protein *in vivo*: L5, L11 and L23. A recent report shows that all these proteins associate with the Mdm2 protein in one complex (Dai and Lu, 2004), although Mdm2-L5, Mdm2-L11 and Mdm2-L23 interactions were individually reported previously (Marechal et al., 1994; Lohrum et al., 2003; Dai et al., 2004). Overexpression of any of these proteins activates the p53 protein by preventing Mdm2-mediated ubiquitylation and degradation. It is possible that these ribosomal proteins sense nucleolar stress and subsequently inhibit the Mdm2 protein so that the p53 protein can be efficiently stabilized.

#### 1.3.1.3.2 Non-protein ligands change Mdm2 binding specificity

The Mdm2 protein is a conformationally flexible protein. NMR studies revealed global conformational changes of the overall structure of the Mdm2 protein upon binding of p53-derived peptides (Schon et al., 2002). Interestingly, non-protein ligands alter the conformation of the Mdm2 protein as well (Burch et al., 2000; Burch et al., 2004). The C-terminal domain of Mdm2 has been shown to be a functional zinc-binding domain and RNA-binding domain (Lai et al., 1998; Elenbaas et al., 1996) that can alter the association of the Mdm2 protein with the p53 protein (Burch et al., 2000). Depending on whether the Mdm2 protein is ligand-free, zinc-bound or RNA bound, the conformation of the Mdm2 peptide display (Burch et al., 2004).

# 1.3.1.3.3 The Mdm2 protein interacts with many proteins that regulate multiple pathways

The p53 protein represents a classical protein that is ubiquitylated by the Mdm2 protein and as a consequence, degraded by the proteasome. But it is not the only protein that is regulated by the Mdm2 protein. Mdm2 interacts with multiple factors that regulate transformation, cell cycle control, differentiation, DNA synthesis, RNA biosynthesis, transcription and cell surface turnover (reviewed in Iwakuma and Lozano, 2003).

Recently, several proteins were identified as substrates for Mdm2-mediated ubiquitylation (Fig. 1.7). Among them are Numb (Yogosawa et al., 2003), androgen receptor (Lin et al., 2002), insulin receptor substrate IRS-1 (Usui et al., 2004), histone acetyltransferase Tip60 (Legube et al., 2002), histone H2B (Minsky and Oren, 2004) and, possibly, E2F1 (Blattner et al., 1999a). All these proteins associate with the N-terminus of the Mdm2 protein. Importantly, the same proteins may modulate p53 ubiquitylation possibly via competing for binding the N-terminal substrate-recognition domain of Mdm2 (Legube et al., 2004). The Mdm2 protein also regulates many pathways via ubiquitylation-independent pathways (for review see: Iwakuma and Lozano, 2003), such as the interaction of the E2F1 protein with Rb (Sdek et al., 2004), the suppression of p73 function (Zeng et al., 1999) and the stimulation of DNA polymerase  $\varepsilon$  (Asahara et al., 2003).

#### 1.3.1.3.4 Mdm2 functions are regulated by post-translational modifications

The ability of the Mdm2 protein to target the p53 protein for proteasomal degradation is regulated by multiple posttranslational modifications of the Mdm2 protein such as phosphorylation, acetylation, ubiquitylation and sumoylation (Fig. 1.4; Fig. 1.8). Depending on the site of modification, one of the different functions of the Mdm2 protein may be affected. The modifications are regulated in response to different types of cellular stresses and most of them are critical for DNA-damage induced p53 activation.

Almost 20% of the amino acids of the Mdm2 protein are serine or threonine residues, and the Mdm2 protein is phosphorylated at multiple sites in vivo (Hay and Meek, 2000). The consequences of these phosphorylations are multiple and complex, and every aspect of Mdm2 function seems to be regulated by phosphorylation (for review, Meek and Knippschild, 2003). The interaction of the p53 protein with the Mdm2 protein is, for instance, regulated by phosphorylation of the amino-terminus of the Mdm2 protein by a DNA-PK-like kinase (Mayo et al., 1997). Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity and Mdm2 nucleoplasmic shuttling is affected by Akt phosphorylation (Ashcroft et al., 2002; Ogawara et al., 2002) and the post-ubiquitylation function of the Mdm2 protein is regulated by GSK 3-dependent phosphorylation as I demonstrate in my work (Fig. 1.8 and Results). Two clusters of phosphorylation sites are located at the amino terminal (amino acids 1-193) and central (amino acids 200-300) domains of the Mdm2 protein (Hay and Meek, 2000). Mapping of these clusters fits well with more recent studies which have identified a number of sites that are phosphorylated in a cellular context, including (with the modifying enzymes, where known, given in parentheses) Ser17 (DNA-PK; Mayo et al., 1997), Ser166 (Akt; Zhou et al., 2001), Ser186 (Akt; Zhou et al., 2001), Ser188 (Akt; Milne et al., 2004), Thr216 (cyclin A-cdk1/2; Zhang und Prives, 2001), Ser229, Ser232, Ser240, Ser242, Ser246 (CKI<sub>0</sub>; Winter et al., in press), Ser253, Ser256, Ser260, Ser262, Ser269

(CK2; Gotz et al., 1999), Tyr394 (c-Abl; Goldberg et al., 2002), and Ser395 (ATM; Maya et al., 2001). Although, many sites were shown to be phosphorylated by specific kinases *in vitro*, for most of them there is very little evidence that they are phosphorylating the Mdm2 protein *in vivo*.



Figure 1.8. Posttranslational modifications of Mdm2.

Apart from several kinases, phosphatase PP2A is also implicated in the regulation of Mdm2 phosphorylation. Two more recent studies have shown that cyclin G1 interacts directly with the Mdm2 protein and with the protein phosphatase 2A (PP2A) holoenzyme encompassing the B' subunit. In this complex, cyclin G1 can act both as a targeting subunit and as a selectivity factor that stimulates PP2A phosphatase activity towards the Mdm2 protein (Kimura and Nojima, 2002; Okamoto et al., 2002). The cyclin G1-PP2A complex dephosphorylates the Mdm2 protein at residues Thr216 and Ser166 (Okamoto et al., 2002). Phosphorylation of these sites has opposing effects on Mdm2 activity (Zhou et al., 2001; Zhang and Prives, 2001), and the biological consequence of cyclin G1-PP2A mediated dephosphorylation is not clear.

The Mdm2 protein is also sumoylated (SUMO-1, <u>S</u>mall <u>U</u>biquitin-like <u>Mo</u>difier 1) *in vivo* by the SUMO E3 ligases Ubc9, PIAS1, and PIASx $\beta$  (Buschmann et al., 2001; Miyauchiet al.,

2002). Current evidence suggests that the site(s) of SUMO modification lies within aminoacids 134-212, a region which contains four lysines (Xirodimas et al., 2002). It is proposed that the Mdm2 protein becomes sumoylated as it enters the nucleus, by RanBP2 and further sumoylated by PIAS within the nucleus itself (Miyauchi et al., 2002).

The CBP protein (CREB-binding protein) acetylates the Mdm2 protein *in vitro* and *in vivo* at lysines 466/467 located within the RING finger domain of Mdm2 (Wang et al., 2004), The Mdm2 mutant K466/467Q, which mimicks the Mdm2 protein with an acetylated lysine is severely reduced in its activity regarding p53 ubiquitylation and degradation, as well as in Mdm2 autoubiquitylation (Wang et al., 2004).

The Mdm2 protein is an E3 ubiquitin ligase, which mediates ubiquitylation of the p53 protein and of other substrates as well as the self-ubiquitylation (Iwakuma and Lozano, 2003). Specificity in the transfer of ubiquitin to p53 and Mdm2 itself resides, in part, in the RING domain. Substitution of this domain with a heterologous RING finger permits autoubiquitylation but abolishes ubiquitylation of the p53 protein (Fang et al., 2000). Certain deletion mutants in the central domain of Mdm2 allow to uncouple the p53 ubiquitination and self-ubiquitylation function of Mdm2.

The balance between auto- and substrate-ubiquitylation of Mdm2 is modulated physiologically by posttranslational modifications and by protein-protein interactions. Upon SUMO conjugation, the E3 ligase activity of the Mdm2 protein is shifted towards the p53 protein, while self-ubiquitylation is minimized (Buschmann et al., 2001). Phosphorylation of Mdm2 by Akt induces stabilization of the Mdm2 protein due to a reduction in self-ubiquitylation while p53 ubiquitylation is enhanced (Feng et al., 2004). Also the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with MdmX inhibits the self-ubiquitylation of the Mdm2 protein but does not interfere with p53 degradation (Stad et al., 2001). Obviously, the regulation of p53 ubiquitylation and Mdm2 self-ubiquitylation is different and the underlying mechanisms of these two processes need to be uncovered.

# 1.3.1.4 hRad23 proteins regulate the post-ubiquitylation function of the Mdm2 protein

hRad23A and hRad23B proteins contain UBL (ubiquitin-like) domains that bind to the S5a subunit of proteasomes and two UBA (ubiquitin associating domains) domains that interact with polyubiquitin chains. Because of these properties the hRad23 proteins were proposed to be the receptors for proteasome substrate recognition (Verma et al., 2004). hRad23 proteins are involved in the regulation of p53 turnover. The overexpression of hRad23B leads to the accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 in Mdm2-dependent manner suggesting that it blocks a post-ubiquitylation function of Mdm2 (Glockzin et al., 2003;
Brignone et al., 2004). The current model states that hRad23 proteins represent a link between the Mdm2 protein and proteasome, which is required for efficient degradation of polyubiquitilated p53 proteins (Glockzin et al, 2003; Brignone et al., 2004). However, several facts contradict to this hypothesis as the silencing of hRad23 with siRNA leads to the increased rates of p53 degradation rather then one would expect from the described model (Brignone et al., 2004). Second, degradation-defective mutant of Mdm2 ( $\Delta$ 211-240) displays an increased binding to hRad23 but it is not able to target p53 for degradation (Brignone et al., 2004). It seems that a role of hRad23 proteins is more complex than it was thought before, and the further investigations should clarify this question.

# **1.3.2** The central domain of the Mdm2 protein: at the crossroads of p53 ubiquitylation and degradation.

The central domain of the Mdm2 protein encompasses approximately 90 aminoacids, from aminoacid 210 to 300. It is characterized by a very high number of negatively charged aminoacids. The function of this domain is not as yet known but it is clear that it is crucial for p53 ubiquitylation and degradation. Initially, the central domain was only implicated in post-ubiquitylation processing of the p53 protein. Neither the deletion of 222-272 nor 217-246 aminoacids influenced the Mdm2 E3 ligase activity or nucleocytoplasmic shuttling of the Mdm2 protein. However, mutant Mdm2 was not able to target the p53 protein for proteasomal degradation (Argentini et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2001). Two recent reports demonstrate that the acidic domain is also critical for p53 ubiquitylation (Kawai et al., 2003; Meulmeester et al., 2003). The central domain also contains the determinants of substrate specificity of the Mdm2 protein; for instance, the mutation of 247-252 aminoacids blocks the degradation of p53 but not MdmX (Uldrijan and Vousden, 2004), and the replacement of the whole central domain of the Mdm2 protein with the equivalent domain of the MdmX protein blocks the ability of the Mdm2 protein to ubiquitylate the p53 protein but doesn't block Mdm2 self-ubiquitylation activity (Kawai et al., 2003; Meulmeester et al., 2003).

The regulation of Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity by protein-protein interactions is also mediated by the central domain. So, the central domain represents a binding platform for Arf, L5, L11, L23, YY1, p300, hRad23, for all the proteins regulating p53 degradation pathway with possible exception of MdmX (Grossman et al., 1998; Llanos et al., 2001; Marechal et al., 1994; Lohrum et al., 2003; Dai et al., 2004; Sui et al., 2004). Of note, while the interaction of MdmX with Mdm2 stimulates Mdm2 ubiquitylation activity towards p53 and the heterooligomerization of Mdm/MdmX was mapped to the Ring finger domains of both proteins (Tanimura et al., 1999), the central domain of Mdm2 might directly contribute to the Mdm2/MdmX heterooligomerization as the RING finger domain directly interacts with the central domain of Mdm2 *in vitro* (Dang et al., 2002).

A cluster of phosphorylation sites in the central domain of the Mdm2 protein is constitutively phosphorylated in cells (Blattner et al., 2002). This cluster includes serines 238, 240, 244, 251, 254, 258 and 260 (Hay and Meek, 2000; Blattner et al., 2002). Modification of each of these residues may contribute significantly to Mdm2-mediated turnover of the p53 protein. This conclusion is based on the use of a series of mutants of the Mdm2 protein where serines were replaced with an alanine, either as a single mutation or in pairs, block the degradation of the p53 protein to various degrees, (Blattner et al., 2002). Similar to the deletion mutants of the acidic domain, the ability of these mutant proteins to ubiguitylate p53 is not affected indicating that phosphorylation of these serines is critical for a post-ubiquitylation function of the Mdm2 protein. In response to ionizing irradiation, key residues in this domain including serines 238, 240, 244, 251, 254, 258 and 260 become rapidly hypophosphorylated and this hypophosphorylation clearly precedes p53 accumulation (Blattner et al., 2002). Hypophosphorylation could occur through stress-dependent inhibition of kinase(s) or stimulation of a phosphatase(s) or both. Up to now, enzymes that modify this region in response to DNA damage were not known.

#### 1.4 Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3 (GSK 3)

GSK 3 was discovered over 20 years ago as one of several protein kinases that phosphorylated and inactivated glycogen synthase (Embi et al., 1980). It was subsequently purified to homogeneity from skeletal muscle (Woodgett and Cohen, 1984), and molecular cloning revealed that there were two closely related isoforms, GSK  $3\alpha$  and GSK  $3\beta$ , which are expressed ubiquitously in mammalian tissues (Woodgett, 1990; Woodgett, 1991). The proteins share 97% sequence similarity within their kinase catalytic domains, but differ significantly from one another outside this region, with GSK  $3\alpha$  possessing an extended N-terminal glycine-rich tail.

For many years, GSK 3 was linked exclusively to glycogen metabolism. However, during the last years, GSK 3 was recognized as a multifunctional kinase that regulates many cellular functions as diverse as glucose metabolism, protein synthesis, cell proliferation, microtubule dynamics, cell motility and Wnt-signalling (for a review see: Jope and Johnson, 2004). At present at least 50 protein substrates have been reported for GSK 3, ranging from metabolic enzymes over structural proteins, to transcription factors. Although most of these proteins have not as yet met all of the criteria for being regarded as a physiological GSK 3 substrate (Frame and Cohen, 2001), this large number of substrates the great potential of GSK 3 to affect many cellular functions. Moreover, it suggests that the activity of GSK 3 must be carefully regulated to avoid indiscriminate phosphorylation of its many substrates. Although the mechanisms regulating GSK 3 are not fully understood, precise control appears to be achieved by a combination of phosphorylation, alteration of localization, and regulation of interactions with GSK 3-binding proteins.

#### 1.4.1 Regulation of GSK 3

#### 1.4.1.1 Regulation of GSK 3 by phosphorylation

GSK 3 is one of the few protein kinases that are constitutively active. Its activity is, however, significantly reduced by phosphorylation of an N-terminal serine, Ser9 in GSK 3 $\beta$  and Ser21 in GSK 3 $\alpha$  (Sutherland et al., 1993; Sutherland and Cohen, 1994). Several kinases can phosphorylate these serines (Fig. 1.9), including PKB, protein kinase A (PKA), protein kinase C (PKC), p90Rsk and p70S6K (Goode et al., 1992; Cross et al., 1995; Sutherland and Cohen, 1994; Li et al., 2000). Accordingly, many signaling pathways control GSK 3 activity. It is possible that each kinase affects only a specific pool of the GSK 3 present in cells because of the subcellular distribution of both GSK 3 and each regulatory kinase (Frame and Cohen, 2001). Scaffolding proteins provide one mechanism to restrict interactions between the kinases. For example, PKA-anchoring protein 220 binds GSK 3 to facilitate its phosphorylation by PKA (Tanji et al., 2002). In contrast to the inhibitory regulation by phosphorylation of serines in the N-terminal domain, GSK 3 activity is enhanced by

phosphorylation of Tyr216 in GSK  $3\beta$  and Tyr279 in GSK  $3\alpha$  (Hughes et al., 1993). This might occur by autophosphorylation or by other tyrosine kinases but little is known about regulation of the processes that modulate tyrosine phosphorylation of GSK 3 (Frame and Cohen, 2001).



Figure 1.9. Regulation of glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) by phosphorylation. Several signaling cascades activate kinases that directly inhibit GSK 3 by phosphorylating a regulatory N-terminal serine of GSK 3 (shown as Ser9 of GSK 3 $\beta$ ). Reactivation of GSK 3 is mediated by specific protein phosphatases. Many substrates of GSK 3 must be primed, which means they need to be pre-phosphorylated at a serine or threonine, four residues away from the serine or threonine that will be phosphorylated by GSK 3. Thus, the consensus site for phosphorylation of primed substrates by GSK 3 is [S/T]xxx[S/T](*P*). Priming provides an additional regulatory mechanism to control phosphorylation of substrates by GSK 3 because signalling pathways that prime its substrates must be active before GSK 3 can phosphorylate the substrates. Two examples are shown, pre-phosphorylation of the microtubule-associated protein tau by cdk5 facilitates phosphorylation of the tau protein by GSK 3 to phosphorylate  $\beta$ -catenin must be pre-phosphorylated by casein kinase I (CKI) at Ser45 for GSK 3 to phosphorylate  $\beta$ -catenin at sites Ser41, Ser37, Ser33 and to target it for proteasomal degradation (Amit et al., 2002).

The activity of GSK 3 is often regulated by the phosphorylation state of its substrates. Most substrates must be pre-phosphorylated (primed) to allow phosphorylation by GSK 3 (Fig. 1.9). This type of regulation allows to inhibit GSK 3 phosphorylation indirectly, via inhibiting the activity of the priming kinase. Thus, two sets of phosphorylation-based signaling systems are integrated to regulate the actions of GSK 3. Upstream of GSK 3, signaling systems transmit regulatory information to GSK 3 via kinases that directly phosphorylate GSK 3 to control its activity. Downstream of GSK 3, another set of signaling systems transmit information by pre-phosphorylating substrates of GSK 3. The timing and location of these signals individually control the activity of GSK 3 towards each substrate.

#### 1.4.1.2 Regulation of the intracellular localization of GSK 3

In addition to regulation by phosphorylation, mechanisms that regulate the intracellular localization of GSK 3 control its access to substrates. GSK 3 is predominantly localized in the cytoplasm, but to some extent also in nuclei and mitochondria, where it is highly active in comparison with cytosolic GSK 3 (Bijur and Jope, 2003). Nuclear levels of GSK 3 change dynamically in response to stimuli. They fluctuate during the cell cycle, being highest in the S-phase, which allows phosphorylation of nuclear cyclin D1 by GSK 3 (Diehl et al., 1998). Nuclear levels of GSK 3 rapidly increase early in apoptosis, thus enabling GSK 3 to modulate gene expression by regulating transcription factors (Bijur and Jope, 2001). During replicative senescence in human fibroblasts, GSK 3 accumulates in the nucleus and contributes to senescence-associated p53 accumulation (Zmijewski and Jope, 2004).

#### 1.4.1.3 Regulation of GSK 3 by binding proteins

GSK 3 activity is also regulated by protein-protein interactions. The best characterized example is the canonical Wnt signaling pathway where GSK 3 binding proteins control access to its substrate,  $\beta$ -catenin (for a recent review, Patel et al., 2004). In the absence of a stimulus, the scaffold protein axin binds GSK 3, casein kinase I,  $\beta$ -catenin and other proteins. This enables casein kinase I to phosphorylate Ser45 on  $\beta$ -catenin thus creating a priming site for GSK 3. In turn, GSK 3 phosphorylates Thr41 and, subsequently, Ser37 and Ser33 (Fig. 1.9). These modifications promote  $\beta$ -catenin degradation (Amit et al., 2002). Wnt stimulation activates disheveled (dvl), which, together with the GSK 3-binding protein Frat, facilitates disruption of the axin-based complex. This decreases the phosphorylation of  $\beta$ -catenin, which results in  $\beta$ -catenin accumulation and activation (Patel et al., 2004).

#### AIM

The aim of this thesis is to identify kinases that phosphorylate the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. The Mdm2 protein is constitutively phosphorylated *in vivo* at several sites that are critical for p53 degradation. Until recently, no kinases were known that phosphorylate the Mdm2 protein at these sites. Since glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) has two consensus phosphorylation sites within the central domain of Mdm2, my first goal was to test whether the Mdm2 protein is phosphorylated by GSK 3 *in vitro* and *in vivo*. Because GSK 3 phosphorylated the Mdm2 protein at sites that are critical for p53 degradation, I characterized the effect of GSK 3 inhibition on p53 ubiquitylation and degradation. Since the central domain of the Mdm2 protein is hypophosphorylated upon ionizing irradiation, I tested the role of GSK 3 for the DNA damage induced p53 accumulation.

# 2. MATERIALS AND METHODS

# 2.1 MATERIALS

# 2.1.1 Chemicals

All chemicals were of the highest quality and were purchased from:

Agarose
Alsterpaullone
Ampicillin/streptomycin, 100 U/ml
Bacto-agar
BisindolyImaleimide I
BisindolyImaleimide IX
BSA, Fraction V
Diethyl pyrocarbonate
DMSO
Guanidinium chloride
Hydrogen peroxide 30%
Hydromount
IPTG
Jet-Pei
$\beta$ -Mercaptoethanol
MG132 Proteasome inhibitor
Phosphate-buffered saline (PBS)
Puromycin dihydrochloride
Skimmed milk powder
Trypsin

Peglab, Erlangen, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Gibco-BRL, Karlsruhe, Germany Otto-Nordwald KG, Hamburg, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany PAA Laboratories GmbH, Pasching, Austria Fluka, Buchs, Germany Fluka, Buchs, Germany BDH Laboratory Supplies, Poole, England Fluka, Buchs, Germany National Diagnostics, Hessle, England Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany PolyPlus, Illkirch, France Serva, Heidelberg, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Gibco-BRL, Karlsruhe, Germany Calbiochem, Bad Soden, Germany Saliter, Obergünzburg, Germany Difco, Detroit, USA

All other chemicals were, unless otherwise stated, purchased from *Carl Roth GmbH* & Co. (Karlsruhe, Germany), *Merck* (Darmstadt, Germany) or *Sigma* (Deisenhofen, Germany).

<u>Radiochemicals:</u>		
[γ- <sup>32</sup> P]-dATP	5 mCi/mmol, 10 mCi/ml	Perkin-Elmer, Rodgau-Jügesheim,
		Germany
$[\alpha$ - <sup>32</sup> P]-dCTP	1 tip, 50 µCi, 3000 Ci/mmol	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany
$[\alpha$ - <sup>33</sup> P]-ddNTP	1500 Ci/mmol, 450 mCi/ml	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany
[ <sup>32</sup> P]-orthophosphate	10 mCi/ml	Perkin-Elmer, Rodgau-Jügesheim,
		Germany

#### 2.1.2 Kits

Easy Pure DNA Purification Kit	<i>Biozym Diagnostik GmbH</i> , Oldendorf, Germany
MACSelect <sup>™</sup> Transfected Cells Selection Kit	<i>Miltenyi Biotech</i> , Bergisch Gladbach, Germany
Prime-a-gene Labelling Kit	Promega, Mannheim, Germany
Qiagen Plasmid Maxi Kit	<i>Qiagen</i> , Hilden, Germany
QuikChange <sup>®</sup> site-directed mutagenesis kit	Stratagene, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
Zero <sup>®</sup> Blunt <sup>®</sup> TOPO PCR cloning kit	Invitrogen, Karlsruhe, Germany
2.1.3 Binding matrices	
Glutathione Sepharose 4B	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany
Ni-NTA-Agarose	<i>Qiagen</i> , Hilden, Germany
Protein A Sepharose	<i>Pierce</i> , Bonn, Germany
Sephadex G-50	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany

#### 2.1.4 Oligonucleotides

Oligo(dT)-cellulose

All the oligonucleotides were purchased from *Biomers.net* (Ulm, Germany) or *MWG Biotech* (Ebersberg bei München, Germany).

Amersham, Freiburg, Germany

Oligonucleotides for site-directed mutagenesis: <u>GSK 3 $\beta$  Ser9 $\rightarrow$ Ala:</u>

S9A GSK3_fw:	5'-CGGCCCAGAACCACCGCCTTTGCGGAGAGCTGC-3'
S9A GSK3_rev:	5'-GCAGCTCTCCGCAAAGGCGGTGGTTCTGGGCCG-3'

## Mdm2 point mutations:

S227,230A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GATGGCGTAGCTGAGCATGCTGGTGATTGCCTG-3'
S227,230A Mdm2_rev:	5'-CAGGCAATCACCAGCATGCTCAGCTACGCCATC-3'
S238,240A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GGATCAGGATGCAGTTGCTGATCAGTTTAGCG-3'
S238,240A Mdm2_rev:	5'-CGCTAAACTGATCAGCAACTGCATCCTGATCC-3'
S244A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GTTTCTGATCAGTTTGCCGTGGAATTTGAAG-3'
S244A Mdm2_rev:	5'-CTTCAAATTCCACGGCAAACTGATCAGAAAC-3'
S251,254A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GAAGTTGAGGCTCTGGACGCGGAAGATTAC-3'
S251,254A Mdm2_rev:	5'-GTAATCTTCCGCGTCCAGAGCCTCAACTTC-3'
S258,260A Mdm2_fw:	5'-CTCGGAAGATTACGCCCTGGCTGACGAAGGGCAC-3'

S258,260A Mdm2_rev:	5'-GTGCCCTTCGTCAGCCAGGGCGTAATCTTCCGAG-3'
S267A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GGGCACGAGCTCGCAGATGAGGATGAT-3'
S267A Mdm2_rev:	5'-ATCATCCTCATCTGCGAGCTCGTGCCC-3'
S284,288A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GACAGGAGAAGCCGATACAGACGCTTTTGAAGGAG-3'
S284,288A Mdm2_rev:	5'-CTCCTTCAAAAGCGTCTGTATCGGCTTCTCCTGTC-3'
S296A Mdm2_fw:	5'-GATCCTGAGATTGCCTTAGCTGAC-3'
S296A Mdm2_rev:	5'-GTCAGCTAAGGCAATCTCAGGATC-3'

Mdm2 deletion mutants:

Delta201-300_fw:	5'CTGAGGGAGATGTGCAGCTGGAAGTGTACCTCATG-3'
Delta201-300_rev:	5'-CATGAGGTACACTTCCAGCTGCACAATCTCCCTCAG-3'
Delta201-235_fw:	5'-CTGAGGGAGATGTGCAGCCAGGATTCAGTTTCTGA-3'
Delta201-235_rev:	5'-TCAGAAACTGAATCCTGGCTGCACATCTCCCTCAG-3'
Delta236-260_fw:	5'-TCTGGTGATTGCCTGGATGACGAAGGGCACGAGCT-3'
Delta236-260_rev:	5'-AGCTCGTGCCCTTCGTCATCCAGGCAATCACCAGA-3'
Delta261-300_fw:	5'-GAAGATTACAGCCTGAGTTGGAAGTGTACCTCATG-3'
Delta261-300_rev:	5'-CATGAGGTACACTTCCAACTCAGGCTGTAATCTTC-3'

Oligonucleotides for cloning the N-terminus (1-206 aa), central domain (220-305 aa) and C-terminus (296-491 aa) of Mdm2 into the pGEX4T-2 vector:

Central domain_fw:	5'-GTCGACGCCCTCGCATCAGGATCTTGACG-3'
Central domain_rev:	5'-TCAATAGTCAGCTAAGGAAATCTCAGGATC-3'
N-terminus_fw:	5'-CCAGGAATTCCCATGTGCAATACCAACATGTCTGTACC-3'
N-terminus_rev:	5'-GGGCGGCCGCTAACATATCTCCCTTATTACACACAG-3'
C-terminus_fw:	5'-CCAGGAATTCCCGAAATTTCCTTAGCTGACTATTGG-3'
C-terminus_rev:	5'-GGGCGGCCGCTAGGGGAAATAAGTTAGCACAATCAT
	TTG-3'

Oligonucleotides for cloning into pSUPER or pSUPER.neo-gfp vectors:

SiRNA_mdm2_1260_fw:	5'-GATCCCCGACAAAGAAGAGAGTGTGGTTCAAGAGACC
	ACACTCTCTTCTTTGTCTTTTTGGAAA-3'
SiRNA_mdm2_1260_rev:	5'-AGCTTTTCCAAAAAGACAAAGAAGAGAGTGTGGTCTC
	TTGAACCACACTCTCTTCTTTGTCGGG-3'
SiRNA_GSK3β_fw:	5'-GATCCCCCATAGTCCGATTGCGTTATTTCAAGAGAATA
	ACGCAATCGGACTATGTTTTTGGAAA-3'

#### SiRNA\_GSK3β\_rev:

# 5'-AGCTTTTCCAAAAACATAGTCCGATTGCGTTATTCTCT TGAAATAACGCAATCGGACTATGGGG-3'

*Oligonucleotides for cloning p21 from cDNA:* 

P21_fw:	5'-CCGGAATTCTTGAAAATGTCAGAACCGGCTGGG
	GATG-3'
p21_rev:	5'-GGGCGGCCGCCTAGGGCTTCCTCTTGGAGAAG-3

Oligonucleotides for adding a C-terminal Flag-tag (DYKDDDDK) to GSK 3*β*:

GSK3_fw:	5'-CCGGAATTCTTGAAAATGTCAGGGCGGCCCAGA
	ACCACC-3'
GSK3-Flag_rev:	5'-GGGCGGCCGCTCATTTGTCATCGTCGTCCTTGT
	AGTCGGTGGAGTTGGAAGCTGATGC-3'

## 2.1.5. Plasmids

**pcDNA3.1**, a vector for eucaryotic expression under the control of the CMV promotor, was purchased from *Invitrogen* (Karlsruhe, Germany).

**pSUPER**, **pSUPER.neo-gfp**, vectors for eucaryotic expression of siRNA-like transcripts under the control of the promoter of the polymerase-III H1-RNA gene. pSuper.neo-gfp vector also encodes a neomycin resistance gene that is fused with the enhanced green fluorescent protein gene (EGFP). Both vectors were purchased from *Oligoengine*.

**pGEX4T-2**, a vector for inducible bacterial expression of (<u>G</u>lutathione <u>S-T</u>ransferase) GST-fusion proteins under the control of the tac promotor, purchased from *Amersham* (Freiburg, Germany).

**pMACS K<sup>k</sup>.II**, a vector for eucaryotic expression of the cell surface marker H-2K<sup>k</sup>, purchased from *Miltenyi Biotech* (Bergisch Gladbach, Germany).

pcDNA3 His-ubiquitin was a gift from S. Mittnacht.

pcDNA3-wtGSK3β, pcDNA3-R96A-GSK3β were a gift from T. Hagen.

**pcDNA3-Mdm2**, **pcDNA3-mdm2 S238/240A**, **pcDNA3-Mdm2 S251A/S254A**, **pcDNA3p53** and **pDWM 659 N-Myc-Mdm2** have been described previously (Blattner et al., 2002). **pcDNA3-S9A-GSK3**β was created by site-directed mutagenesis of pcDNA3-wtGSK3 using the QuikChange<sup>®</sup> site-directed mutagenesis kit.

**pcDNA3-Flag-wt-GSK3**β and **pcDNA3-Flag-S9A-GSK3**β encoding wt GSK3β and S9A GSK3β with C-terminal Flag-tag were created by PCR using GSK3-Flag\_rev and GSK3\_fw primers and pcDNA3-wtGSK3β or pcDNA3-S9A-GSK3β as templates. The PCR products were ligated into pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO<sup>®</sup> vector. pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO-wt GSK3-

Flag and pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO-S9A-GSK3-Flag were digested with *EcoRI* and *NotI*. The resulting inserts were isolated and ligated into pcDNA3.1.

pDWM659 Myc-Mdm2-Δ201-300, pDWM659 Myc-Mdm2-Δ201-235, pDWM659 Myc-Mdm2-Δ236-260, pDWM659 Myc-Mdm2-Δ261-300, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S227,230A, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S238,240A, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S244A, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S251,254A, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S258,260A, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S267A, pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S284,288A Mdm2 and pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 S296A were generated by mutating pDWM659 N-Myc-Mdm2 using the QuikChange<sup>®</sup> site-directed mutagenesis kit and Delta201-300\_fw, Delta201-300\_rev, Delta201-235\_fw, Delta201-235\_rev, Delta236-260\_fw, Delta236-260\_rev, Delta261-300\_fw, Delta261-300\_rev, S227,230A Mdm2\_fw, S227,230A Mdm2\_rev, S238,240A Mdm2\_fw, S251,254A Mdm2\_rev, S258,260A Mdm2\_fw, S258,260A Mdm2\_rev, S267A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_rev, S284,288A Mdm2\_fw, S258,260A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_rev, S284,288A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S296A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S267A Mdm2\_rev, S296A Mdm2\_fw, S284,288A Mdm2\_rev, S296A

pcB6-Bax and pCMV-PUMA were a gift from K. Vousden.

**pSuper-GSK3** $\beta$  and **pSuper.neo.gfp-Mdm2** encoding siRNA against human GSK 3 $\beta$  (region 323-342) and human Mdm2 (region 1232-1241) were created by cloning annealed SiRNA\_GSK3 $\beta$ \_fw and SiRNA\_GSK3 $\beta$ \_rev or SiRNA\_mdm2\_1260\_fw and SiRNA\_mdm2\_1260\_rev oligonucleotides into the HindIII and BgIII site of pSuper and pSuper-neo.gfp.

pGEX-4T-2 wt mdm2 (220-305), pGEX-4T-2 S238/240A mdm2 (220-305) and pGEX-4T-2 S251/254A mdm2 (220-305) encoding wild type or phosphorylation site mutants of the central domain of Mdm2 were generated by amplifying the central domain of Mdm2 with Central domain\_fw and Central domain\_rev primers using pcDNA3-Mdm2, pcDNA3-mdm2 S238/240A or pcDNA3-Mdm2 S251A/S254A as a template. The PCR products were ligated into pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO<sup>®</sup> vector. The resulting pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO-mdm2 (220-305), pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO- S238/240A mdm2 (220-305) and pCR<sup>®</sup>-Blunt II-TOPO- S251/254A mdm2 (220-305) plasmids were digested with EcoRI-NotI and the inserts were ligated into the pGEX4T-2 vector.

pGEX-4T-2 wt mdm2 (1-206) and pGEX-4T-2 wt mdm2 (296-491) encoding N-terminus and C-terminus of Mdm2, were obtained from Markus Winter.

# 2.1.6. Antibodies

*Primary antibodies:* p53:

DO-1, monoclonal (Vojtesek et al., 1995) AB-2, monoclonal (*Oncogene*, Bad Soden, Germany) CM-1, rabbit polyclonal (Midgley et al., 1992)

Mdm2:	4B2, monoclonal (Chen et al., 1993)
PCNA:	PC10, monoclonal (Waseem and Lane, 1990)
GST/GST-fusion proteins:	anti-GST, goat polyclonal ( <i>Rockland</i> , Gilbertsville, USA)
myc-tagged Mdm2:	9E10, monoclonal ( <i>Oncogene</i> , Bad Soden, Germany)
GSK 3:	anti-GSK-3 $\beta$ , monoclonal ( <i>BD Biosciences</i> , Heidelberg,
	Germany)
	anti-phospho-Ser9-GSK-3 $\beta$ , rabbit polyclonal ( <i>Cell Signaling</i> ,
	Beverly, USA)
E2F-1:	sc-193, rabbit polyclonal (Santa Cruz, Santa Cruz, USA)
S6b /Rpt3:	TPB7-27, monoclonal ( <i>Biomol</i> , Hamburg, Germany)
β-catenin:	anti-β-catenin, monoclonal ( <i>BD Biosciences</i> , Heidelberg,
	Germany)
Secondary antibodies:	
anti-mouse:	P0161, HRP-conjugated (DakoCytomation GmbH, Hamburg)
	Germany)
	Cy-2 conjugated ( <i>Dianova</i> , Hamburg, Germany)
anti-rabbit:	P0448, HRP-conjugated (DakoCytomation GmbH, Hamburg)
	Germany)
	Cy-3 conjugated ( <i>Dianova</i> , Hamburg, Germany)
anti-goat:	PO160, HRP conjugated ( <i>DakoCytomation GmbH</i> , Hamburg)
	Germany)

# 2.1.7. Enzymes

Casein Kinase I δ	New England Biolabs, Beverly, USA
Chymotrypsin, sequencing grade	Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany
DNA Polymerase I, Klenow Fragmen	<i>Promega</i> , Mannheim, Germany
Glygogen Synthase Kinase 3 $\beta$ (GSK 3 $\beta$ )	Upstate Biotechnology, Charlottesville, USA
Lysozyme	Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany
M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase	<i>Promega</i> , Mannheim, Germany
<i>Pfu</i> polymerase	<i>Promega</i> , Mannheim, Germany
PfuTurbo DNA polymerase	Stratagene, Amsterdam, the Netherlands
Proteinase K	Sigma, Deisenhofen, Germany
T4 DNA ligase	<i>Promega</i> , Mannheim, Germany
T4 Polynucleotide kinase	<i>Promega</i> , Mannheim, Germany
Thermo Sequenase	USB, Cleveland, USA
All restriction endonucleases were purchased from Promega, Mannheim, Germany,	

## 2.1.8 Bacteria

<u>*E. coli* BL21:</u> F<sup>-</sup>, *omp*T, *hsd*S (rB<sup>-</sup>, mB<sup>-</sup>), *gal*, *dcm*, bacterial strain for expression of the GST-fusion proteins, were purchased from *Amersham*, Freiburg, Germany.

<u>*E. coli* DH5 $\alpha$ :</u> *sup*E44 $\Delta$ *lac*U169( $\phi$ 80*lac*Z $\Delta$ M15)*hsd*R17*rec*A1 *end*A1 *gyr*A96 *thi*-1 *rel*A1, were obtained from Christine Blattner.

<u>*E. coli* TOP10:</u> F<sup>-</sup> *mcr*A  $\Delta$ (*mrr-hsd*RMS-*mcr*BC)  $\Phi$ 80/*ac*Z $\Delta$ M15  $\Delta$ /*ac*X74 *rec*A1 *deo*R *ara*D139  $\Delta$ (*ara-leu*)7697 *gal*U *gal*K *rps*L (Str<sup>R</sup>) *end*A1 *nup*G, were included in the Zero<sup>®</sup> Blunt<sup>®</sup> TOPO PCR cloning Kit.

<u>E. coli XL-1 Blue</u>: *rec*A1 *end*A1 *gyr*A96 *thi*-1 *hsd*R17 *sup*E44 *rel*A1 *lac* [F' *pro*AB *lac*l<sup>q</sup>Z∆M15 Tn10 (Tet')] were included in the QuikChange<sup>®</sup> site-directed mutagenesis kit.

#### 2.1.9 Cell lines and media

NIH 3T3 cells were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium (DMEM; *Gibco-BRL*, Karlsruhe) supplemented with 10% donor calf serum (*Gibco-BRL*, Karlsruhe, Germany) and 100 U/ml streptomycin and penicillin (*Gibco-BRL*, Karlsruhe, Germany) in a humidified atmosphere with 5%  $CO_2$  at 37°C. All other adherent cell lines were grown in Dulbecco's modified Eagle medium supplemented with 10% fetal calf serum (*PAA Laboratories GmbH*, Pasching, Austria) and 100 U/ml streptomycin and penicillin.

**U2OS**, human, osteosarcoma, epithelial, ATCC number HTB-96, obtained from Christoph Englert.

H1299, human, lung carcinoma, epithelial, ATCC number CRL-5803, obtained from David Lane.

**COS-7**, African green monkey, kidney, SV40 transformed fibroblasts, ATCC number CRL-1651, obtained from David Meek.

NIH/3T3 mouse embryonic immortalized fibroblasts, obtained from Margarethe Litfin.

#### 2.1.10 Other materials

$20 \times 20$ cm cellulose chromatography plates	Merck, Darmstadt, Germany
ECL Hyperfilm	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany
Filter paper 3MM	Bender&Hobein, Karlsruhe, Germany
Hybond N+ membrane	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany
Immobilon-P (PVDF membrane)	<i>Millipore</i> , Bedford, USA
MP Hyperfilm	Amersham, Freiburg, Germany
P81 ion-exchange paper	VWR, Darmstadt, Germany
Petri dishes	Greiner Labortechnik, Nürtingen,
	Germany

# **2.2 METHODS**

The composition of commonly used buffers and routine methods were taken from Molecular Cloning (Maniatis et al., 1989) unless otherwise stated.

# 2.2.1 CELL CULTURE AND TRANSFECTION METHODS

# 2.2.1.1 Cell culture

All cell lines were maintained at  $37^{\circ}$ C in a Steri-Cult 200 incubator (*Forma Scientific*, Marietta, USA) in 5% CO<sub>2</sub> and 95% air humidity. Adherent cells were grown until they reached 80-90% confluence. For trypsinization, the medium was aspirated and cells were washed once with PBS (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 6.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.5 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>). 1 ml of 0.25% trypsin was added per 50 cm<sup>2</sup> and the cells were incubated at 37°C until they detached from the culture dish. The trypsin solution was diluted 1:5 with fresh culture medium, and the cell suspension was transferred to a centrifugation tube. Cells were collected by centrifugation for 2 min at 1200 rpm and re-plated.

# 2.2.1.2 Freezing and thawing of cells

For freezing, logarithmically growing cells were trypsinized as described in section 2.2.1.1 and collected by centrifugation. The cells were resuspended in freezing medium (DMEM, 20% FCS, 10% DMSO) and transferred to cryovials. After incubation on ice for 30 min, the cells were stored at -80°C for 16-24 h before they were transferred into liquid nitrogen. For re-propagation, cells were thawed quickly at 37°C and transferred to fresh medium. The next day, the medium was replaced with fresh culture medium.

# 2.2.1.3 Transfection of cells with jet-Pei reagent

Cells were plated the day before transfection. For a 75 cm<sup>2</sup> culture dish, 20  $\mu$ l of 1× Jet-Pei<sup>TM</sup> reagent was diluted in 150 mM NaCl to a total volume of 500  $\mu$ l. The diluted Jet-Pei<sup>TM</sup> solution was added to 15  $\mu$ g of DNA in 500  $\mu$ l of 150 mM NaCl and incubated at RT for 30 min. The mixture was added dropwise to the cells and distributed evenly by gentle swirling. 24 hours after transfection, the medium was replaced with fresh culture medium.

# 2.2.1.4 Transfection of cells with calcium phosphate (Chen and Okayama, 1987)

The day before transfection, cells were trypsinized and  $1 \times 10^5$  cells were plated onto  $30 \text{ cm}^2$  culture dishes. 5  $\mu$ g DNA was diluted in 250 mM CaCl<sub>2</sub> and mixed dropwise with an equal volume of 2× HBS buffer (280 mM NaCl, 1.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 50 mM HEPES, pH 7.05). The calcium phosphate-DNA precipitate was added to 10 volumes of culture medium and mixed by gentle swirling. 12 hours after transfection, the culture medium was removed. The cells were incubated with 15% glycerol in PBS for 2 min, washed once with PBS and grown in fresh culture medium for at least 24 hours.

#### 2.2.1.5 Magnetic separation of transfected cells

 $1 \times 10^6$  U2OS cells were transfected with 1  $\mu$ g pMACS K<sup>k</sup>.II vector, which expresses the truncated mouse MHC class I molecule H-2K<sup>k</sup> as a selection marker, and 9  $\mu$ g pSuper.neo-gfp vector expressing siRNA against human Mdm2 or empty vector. 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone or left untreated for control. Two hours after treatment, cells were washed twice with PBS and 500  $\mu$ l of 0.25% trypsin solution was added. When the cells were dissociated from the culture dish and from each other, trypsinization was stopped by adding 100  $\mu$ l 100% FCS. 80 µI MACSelect K<sup>k</sup> MicroBeads were added and incubated on ice for 15 minutes with gentle rocking. 1.32 ml of pre-cooled degassed PBE buffer (PBS, 2 mM EDTA, 0.5% BSA) were added and the cells were pipetted up and down to ensure a single-cell suspension. The MS separation column was placed into a MiniMACS Separation Unit and washed with 500  $\mu$ l of degassed PBE. The resuspended cells were applied to the column in 4 portions of 500  $\mu$ l each. The column was washed 3 times with 500  $\mu$ l of degassed PBE buffer and the flow-through which contained the untransfected fraction of the cells was collected. The column was removed from the Separation Unit and placed into a fresh tube. 500  $\mu$ I of PBE were added to the column and the transfected cells were flushed out using a plunger.

#### 2.2.1.6 Treatment of cell lines

<u>Ionizing irradiation</u>: Cells were irradiated in culture medium with 7.5 Gray using a <sup>60</sup>Cobalt  $\gamma$ -source with a dose rate of 2 Gray/min.

<u>UV irradiation</u>: the medium was removed from the cells. Cells were irradiated with 30 Joules/m<sup>2</sup> UV-C light and the initial culture medium was added back to the cells.

<u>GSK 3 inhibition</u>: alsterpaullone was used at a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ M, bisindolyImaleimide I at a final concentration of 4  $\mu$ M, bisindolyImaleimide IX at a final concentration of 50 mM.

<u>Transfected cells</u> were selected with 300  $\mu$ g/ml <u>neomycin</u> or 1.5  $\mu$ g/ml <u>puromycin</u>.

<u>Cycloheximide</u> was used at a final concentration of 30  $\mu$ g/ml and <u>MG132</u> at a final concentration of 10  $\mu$ g/ml.

# 2.2.2 NUCLEIC ACIDS METHODS

#### 2.2.2.1 Determination of nucleic acid concentration

The concentration of nucleic acids was determined by measuring their optical density (OD) at 260 and 280 nm. An  $OD_{260} = 1$  is equivalent to 50  $\mu$ g/ml double stranded DNA or 40  $\mu$ g/ml RNA. A ratio of  $OD_{260}/OD_{280}$  ranging from 1.8 to 2.0 indicates an acceptable purity of the nucleic acid.

#### 2.2.2.2 Plasmid DNA preparation

#### 2.2.2.2.1 Large scale plasmid preparation

Plasmid DNA was prepared on a large scale using the Qiagen Plasmid Maxi Kit. A single bacterial colony was inoculated into 200 ml of LB-medium (10 g tryptone; 5 g yeast extract, 10 g NaCl ad 1 I) supplemented with the appropriate antibiotic and incubated overnight with shaking (220 rpm) at 37°C. The bacteria were collected by centrifugation in a fixed angle rotor at 6000 rpm for 10 min and the pellet was resuspended in 10 ml solution P1 (10 mM EDTA, 50 mM Tris-HCl pH 8.0, 400  $\mu$ g/ml RNAse A) and incubated for 5-10 min at RT. Cells were lysed by addition of 10 ml solution P2 (200 mM NaOH, 1% SDS) and the mixture was neutralised by addition of 10 ml of solution P3 (3 M Na acetate pH 4.8). After 20 min incubation on ice, the lysate was centrifuged at 4000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C in a fixed angle rotor and the supernatant was applied onto a pre-equilibrated Qiagen-tip 500 column. The column was washed twice with QC buffer and the plasmid DNA was eluted with 15 ml QF buffer. The purified DNA was precipitated by adding 10 ml of isopropanol and collected by centrifugation in a swing-out rotor at 10000 rpm for 20 min at 4°C. The DNA pellet was washed with 70% ethanol, resuspended to a final concentration of 1-3 mg/ml in TE buffer (10 mM Tris-HCl, 1 mM EDTA, pH 8.0) and stored at -20°C.

#### 2.2.2.2 Small scale plasmid preparation

A single bacterial colony was inoculated into 2 ml of LB medium supplemented the appropriate antibiotic and grown overnight under constant shaking (220 rpm) at 37°C. The next day, 1.5 ml were transferred to a fresh vial and the bacteria were collected by centrifugation at 5000 rpm for 5 min. The pellet was resuspended in 200  $\mu$ l of TELT buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 62.5 mM EDTA, 2.5 M LiCl, 0.4% Triton X-100) and the cells were lysed in the presence of lysozyme at a final concentration of 1 mg/ml for 3 min at 96°C. After 5 min on ice, lysate was centrifuged at 13000 rpm for 8 min. The pellet was removed with a yellow pipette-tip, and the DNA was precipitated by adding 100  $\mu$ l isopropanol. The DNA was collected by centrifugation, washed with 70% ethanol and resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l water.

#### 2.2.2.3 Restriction endonuclease digestion of DNA

DNA was digested at a concentration of 1  $\mu$ g/ $\mu$ l in the buffer recommended by the supplier and 2-3 units of a restriction enzyme per  $\mu$ g DNA. The reaction was incubated for 1 hour at 37°C. The quality of the digest was controlled by agarose gel electrophoresis.

#### 2.2.2.4 Agarose gel electrophoresis

1 to 1.5% agarose were boiled in TAE buffer (40 mM Tris, pH 7.2, 20 mM sodium acetate, 1 mM EDTA). Ethidium bromide was added to a final concentration of 0.3  $\mu$ g/ml and the solution was poured into a horizontal electrophoresis chamber, which was fitted with a comb. After polymerization, the comb was removed, the DNA was mixed with loading buffer (0.5 M EDTA, 50% glycerol, 0.01% bromophenole blue) and loaded into the slots. Electrophoresis was carried out at 50-100 V at RT until the bromophenole blue front had moved 5 cm. The DNA was visualized by transillumination with 320 nm UV light and photographed with an Eagle Eye photocamera system (*Stratagene*).

## 2.2.2.5 Isolation/purification of DNA from agarose gels

DNA fragment was isolated with the Easy Pure DNA Purification Kit. The DNA was excised from the agarose gel with a scalpel. The gel piece containing the DNA was melted at 55°C in Salt buffer. 5  $\mu$ I + 1  $\mu$ I per 1  $\mu$ g DNA of the DNA-binding resin was added and incubated at RT for 5 min. The resin with the bound DNA was washed twice, dried and the DNA was eluted with water.

# 2.2.2.6 DNA ligation

Except for TOPO cloning (see 2.2.2.9), DNAs were incubated with 3 units T4 ligase in  $1 \times$  T4 buffer supplied by the manufacturer (*Promega*) for 1-3 h at RT. Insert: vector ratio was usually 3:1.

# 2.2.2.7 Sub-cloning

The fragments of DNA was released from the vectors using appropriate restriction endonucleases, resolved by agarose gel electrophoresis, isolated from the gel and ligated into a second vector by using compatible sites or through blunt end ligation.

# 2.2.2.8 Polymerase Chain Reaction (PCR)

All PCR reactions were carried out in a thermal cycler (GeneAmp PCR System 2400, *Perkin Elmer*). PCR was performed in a total volume of 50  $\mu$ l containing 100 ng of template, 250  $\mu$ M dNTP, 250 ng of primers, 3 U of Pfu polymerase and 1× Pfu polymerase buffer. In some cases, MgCl<sub>2</sub> was added to a final concentration of 1 mM. PCR was usually carried out with the following cycles: 1 cycle (95°C, 3 min), 30 cycles (95°C, 30 sec; 55°C, 30 sec; 72°C, 2 min/1 kb DNA template) and 1 cycle (72°C, 2 min). The quality of the PCR product was analyzed by agarose gel electrophoresis.

## 2.2.2.9 Cloning into pCR®-Blunt II-TOPO® vector

PCR products were cloned into the p pCR-Blunt II-TOPO vector by using the Zero<sup>®</sup> Blunt<sup>®</sup> TOPO PCR Cloning Kit. The plasmid vector was supplied linearized with blunt ends and covalently bound topoisomerase I. *Vaccinia virus* topoisomerase I binds to duplex DNA at specific sites, forms a covalent bond with the phosphate group of the 3' thymidine and cleaves one DNA strand, thus enabling the DNA to unwind. The enzyme then re-ligates the ends of the cleaved strand and dissociates from the DNA.

For the TOPO-ligation, 4  $\mu$ l of fresh PCR product, 1  $\mu$ l of the pCR-Blunt II-TOPO vector and 1  $\mu$ l sterile water was mixed gently and incubated for 5 min at RT. 2  $\mu$ l of the reaction were used for transformation of chemically competent *E. coli* TOP10.

#### 2.2.2.10 Transformation of chemically competent bacteria

100  $\mu$ l chemically competent bacteria were thawed on ice. DNA was added and the mixture was incubated on ice for 30 min. The bacteria were heated to 42°C for 45 s, immediately transferred on ice and diluted to 1 ml with LB medium. The bacteria were incubated for 1 hour at 37°C, spread onto pre-warmed selective agar plates (supplemented with 50  $\mu$ g/ml ampicillin or kanamycin) and grown overnight at 37°C.

#### 2.2.2.11 Construction of siRNA expressing plasmids

Two complementary oligos were designed according to the graph in Figure 2.1 using the RNAi Design Tool from *Oligoengine* (http://www.oligoengine.com). The oligonucleotides were dissolved in water to a final concentration of 3 mg/ml. 1  $\mu$ l of a forward and reverse oligonucleotide was added to 48  $\mu$ l annealing buffer (50 mM HEPES, pH 7.4, 100 mM K-acetate, 2 mM Mg-acetate), heated to 90°C for 4 min, incubated at 70°C for 10 min and slowly cooled down to 10°C. After annealing, 2  $\mu$ l of oligonucleotides were phosphorylated with 10 units T4 polynucleotide kinase in PNK buffer (70 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.6, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM DTT) and 1 mM ATP for 30 min. PNK was heat-inactivated at 65°C for 20 min and the annealed and phosphorylated oligonucleotides were ligated into pSUPER or pSUPER.neo-gfp vector, linearized with *Bg/*II and *Hind*III. Positive clones were screened by *Hind*III/*Eco*RI digestion.



Figure 2.1. Design of oligonucleotides for generating siRNA expressing plasmids.

#### 2.2.2.12 Site-directed mutagenesis

Point mutations and deletions were introduced into wild type plasmids using the QuikChange<sup>®</sup> site-directed mutagenesis kit. PCR was carried out in total volume of 50  $\mu$ l containing 5  $\mu$ l of 5× reaction buffer, 250 ng of each primer, 1  $\mu$ l of dNTPs, 100 ng of template and 2.5 units PfuTurbo DNA polymerase. Cycling parameters were: 1 cycle (95°C, 30 sec), 30 cycles (95°C, 30 sec; 55°C, 1 min; 68°C, 20 min) and 1 cycle (68°C, 20 min). To create the deletion mutant  $\Delta$ 235-260 of Mdm2, the method was modified according to Wang and Malcolm, 2002. Two PCR reactions each containing only one of the two primers were set up and 5 cycles of PCR were performed. The two PCR reactions were combined and another 30 PCR cycles were performed as described in 2.2.2.8. The DNA templates were digested for 1 h at 37°C with *Dpnl, a* restriction endonuclease specific for methylated DNA. 2  $\mu$ l of the PCR product were used to transform chemically competent *E. coli.* Positive clones were identified by sequencing (see 2.2.2.13).

## 2.2.2.13 Manual (radioactive) DNA sequencing

DNAs were sequenced using the Thermo Sequenase Radiolabelled Terminator Cycle Sequencing Kit. 1  $\mu$ g of plasmid DNA was mixed with 3 pmol of a sequencing primer and 8 U of Thermo Sequenase in a total volume of 20  $\mu$ l. From this mixture, 4.5  $\mu$ l were transferred into a PCR vial containing 2  $\mu$ l dNTPs and 0.5  $\mu$ l of one of four [<sup>33</sup>P]-ddNTPs. PCR was performed using the following parameters: 95°C, 30 s; 55°C, 30 s and 72°C, 1 min for a total of 50 cycles. The reactions were stopped by addition of 4  $\mu$ l of the stop solution. After denaturation (95°C, 5 min), 5  $\mu$ l of the sequencing reaction were loaded onto a 6% polyacrylamide 6M urea/TBE (90 mM Tris-base, 90 mM boric acid, 2.5 mM EDTA, pH 8.3) gel and separated by electrophoresis. When the bromophenole blue front reached the bottom of the plate, the electrophoresis chamber was disassembled. The gel was dried on Whatman 3MM paper at 80°C for 2 hours under vacuum and exposed to MP Hyperfilm. Films were developed 24-48 hours after exposure in a Kodak M35 X-OMAT Processor.

#### 2.2.2.14 Isolation of polyA RNA from cultured cells

All solutions (except for Tris-containing buffers) were pretreated with diethyl pyrocarbonate (DEPC) for at least 1 hour at 37°C or overnight at RT to remove RNases and autoclaved. Cells were grown to 80-90% confluency in 175 cm<sup>2</sup> cell culture dishes. The medium was aspirated and the cells were washed twice with PBS and scraped into 10 ml STE buffer (100 mM NaCl, 20 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 10 mM EDTA, 0.5% SDS). Genomic DNA was chopped up by a 10 s pulse with an "Ultra-turrax T25" (*Janke & Kunkel IKA Labortechnik*, Staufen, Germany) and proteins were digested with 300  $\mu$ g/ml proteinase K for 45 min at 37°C. 0.1 g oligo(dT)cellulose and 1 ml 5 M NaCl were added

and the suspension was incubated with end-over-end rotation overnight at room temperature. The cellulose was pelleted by centrifugation and washed 3 times with HSB buffer (300 mM NaCl, 10 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.5, 5 mM EDTA, 0.1% SDS). Bound RNA was eluted with 3 ml of distilled water and concentrated by ethanol precipitation. After 2 days at -20°C, the RNA mixture was centrifuged at 10000 rpm for 25 min. The RNA-pellet was washed with 70% ethanol to remove the salt, centrifuged for another 10 min and dried. The RNA was resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l water and used for Northern blotting or reverse transcription.

#### 2.2.2.15 Northern blotting

Agarose to a final concentration of 1.4% was boiled in 1× MOPS buffer (20 mM MOPS, pH 7.0; 5 mM Na-acetate; 1mM EDTA). The solution was cooled down to 37°C and formaldehyde was added to a final concentration of 6%. The agarose solution was poured into a horizontal electrophoresis chamber that was fitted with a comb and allowed to polymerize. 5  $\mu$ g of polyA RNA were mixed with an equal volume of RNA sample buffer (17.5% formaldehyde, 50% deionized formamide, 1× MOPS buffer, 0.5% ethidium bromide, 0.01% bromophenole blue), denatured for 10 min at 65°C and loaded onto the gel. Electrophoresis was performed in 1× MOPS buffer at 130 V until the bromophenole blue front had moved for 6 cm. The RNA was blotted overnight onto Hybond N+ membrane in 10x SSC buffer (1.5 M NaCl, 150 mM Na-citrate, pH 7.0) and crosslinked by UV-irradiation and heating for 2 hours at 80°C. The membrane was pre-hybridized for 2 hours at 65°C in 4× SSC buffer (600 mM NaCl, 60 mM Na-citrate, pH 7.0), 1× Dennhardt's solution (0.02% Ficoll 400, 0.02% Polyvinylpyrolidin 360, 0.02% BSA), 0.1% SDS, 16 mM Na-phosphate pH 7.3 and 0.05% sodium pyrophosphate and hybridized overnight at 65°C in 4× SSC buffer, 10 mM EDTA and 0.1% SDS in the presence of the radiolabeled cDNA. The membrane was washed at 65°C for 30 min each in buffer A (300 mM NaCl, 30 mM Na-citrate, 16 mM Na-phosphate pH 7.3, 0.01% sodium pyrophosphate), buffer B (150 mM NaCl, 15 mM Na-citrate, 16 mM Na-phosphate pH 7.3, 0.01% sodium pyrophosphate), buffer C (150 mM NaCl, 15 mM Na-citrate, 16 mM Naphosphate pH 7.3, 0.01% sodium pyrophosphate) and buffer D (75 mM NaCl, 7.5 mM Nacitrate, 0.1% SDS, 16 mM Na-phosphate pH 7.3, 0.01% Na-pyrophosphate) and exposed to MP Hyperfilm. Films were developed in a Kodak M35 X-OMAT Processor.

# 2.2.2.16 Radioactive labelling of cDNAs for Northern hybridization

Radio-labeling of cDNAs was performed using the prime-a-gene labelling system (*Promega*). cDNAs comprised the open reading frame of human *p53*, *p21/waf1*, *bax*, *PUMA*, *mdm2* and a 1200 bp *PstI* fragment of rat *GAPDH*. 25 – 50 ng of gel purified DNA probes were adjusted with water to a final volume of 35  $\mu$ l and denatured for 2 min at

95°C. 2  $\mu$ l unlabelled dNTPs (dATP, dGTP, dTTP, 500  $\mu$ M each), 2  $\mu$ l nuclease-free BSA, 10  $\mu$ l 5× labelling buffer (250 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 25 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 10 mM DTT, 1 M HEPES, pH 6.6, 26 A<sub>260</sub> u/ml random hexadeoxyribonucleotides), 50  $\mu$ Ci [ $\alpha$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-dCTP and 5 units of the Klenow fragment of DNA Polymerase I were added and incubated for 60 minutes at RT. The labelling mix was applied onto a Sephadex G-50 column and spun at 2000 rpm for 2 minutes. The eluate containing the labelled DNA probes was collected in a reaction tube and stored at - 20°C for a maximum of one week. Immediately before use, labelled cDNAs were denatured at 95°C for 2 minutes.

# 2.2.2.17 Preparation of cDNA

1  $\mu$ g polyA RNA from the human osteosarcoma U2OS cell line and 1  $\mu$ g Oligo(dT)<sub>12-18</sub> (*Invitrogen*) were diluted with water to a final volume of 14  $\mu$ l, denatured for 5 min at 70°C and cooled down on ice. 5  $\mu$ l 5× M-MLV RT buffer (*Promega*), 1.25  $\mu$ l dNTP mix (10 mM each), 25 units Rnasin<sup>®</sup> Ribonuclease Inhibitor (*Promega*) and 200 units M-MLV Reverse Transcriptase were added and the volume was adjusted to 25  $\mu$ l with RNAse-free H<sub>2</sub>O. After an initial incubation at 40°C for 10 min, the temperature was raised to 55°C. The reaction was incubated for another 50 min and stopped by heat-inactivation (15 min at 70°C). The cDNA was used to amplify *p21/waf1* by standard PCR (see 2.2.2.8).

# 2.2.3 PROTEIN METHODS

# 2.2.3.1 Determination of protein concentration

Protein concentrations were determined according to Bradford. The Bradford solution was prepared by dissolving 100 mg Coomassie Brillian Blue G-250 in 50 ml of ethanol. 100 ml 85% phosphoric acid were added and the total volume was adjusted to 1 I with water. The Bradford solution was filtered and stored at 4°C.

To determine the protein concentration in samples, 2  $\mu$ l of the sample were added to 1 ml of Bradford reagent and measured immediately in an ELISA plate reader at 600 nm. For the calibration curve, 0, 2, 4 and 6  $\mu$ l of 1 mg/ml BSA were added to 1 ml Bradford reagent and measured in parallel. The concentration of protein samples was determined as OD/2 $\alpha$ , where  $\alpha$  is OD of 1  $\mu$ l BSA in 1 ml Bradford reagent.

# 2.2.3.2 Preparation of cell lysate

Cells were washed twice with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and lysed in NP-40 buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 5 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride). The protein extract was cleared by centrifugation at 13000 g at 4°C for 15 min and the protein concentration was determined by the method of Bradford.

#### 2.2.3.3 SDS-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis

For SDS-polyacrylamid gel electrophoresis, the Mini-PROTEAN<sup>®</sup>3 System (*BioRad*, München, Germany) was used to cast the gels and perform the electrophoresis. 8, 10 or 12% SDS-polyacrylamide gels were employed.

An inner and an outer glass plate were assembled in a casting tray. For the separating gel, 2.5 ml 1.5 M Tris-HCl pH 8.8; 50 µl 20% (w/v) SDS; 100 µl 10% (w/v) ammonium persulfate, 4 µI TEMED and acrylamide/bisacrylamide (30:0.8) up to the desired concentration (8, 10 or 12%) were mixed and adjusted with water to a final volume of 10 ml. The gel solution was poured into the gel chamber and overlaid with isopropanol. After polymerization, the isopropanol was removed and the stacking gel was poured onto the separation gel (6.8 ml water; 1.7 ml acrylamide/bisacrylamide (30:0.8); 1.25 ml 1 M Tris-HCl, pH 6.8; 50  $\mu$ l 20% (w/v) SDS; 100  $\mu$ l 10% (w/v) ammonium persulfate, 10  $\mu$ l TEMED). A comb was inserted into the stacking gel and the gel was allowed to polymerize. After polymerization, the comb was removed, the gel chamber was disconnected from the casting tray and inserted into an electrophoresis chamber. Protein samples were mixed with an equal volume of 2× SDS-PAGE sample buffer (4% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 0.16 M tris pH 6.8, 20% glycerol, 4%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, 0.002% bromophenol blue), heat denatured for 5 min at 95°C and loaded onto the gel. Electrophoresis was carried out in 1x running buffer (25 mM Tris, 200 mM glycin, 0.1% (w/v) SDS) at 150 V until the bromophenole blue front reached the bottom of the gel.

#### 2.2.3.4 Western Blotting

After proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, they were electrically transferred onto presoaked in methanol Immobilon membrane at 30 V overnight in transfer buffer (25 mM Tris, 200 mM glycin, 10% methanol). After transfer, the membrane was incubated in blocking solution: 5% (w/v) non-fat milk in PBST (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 6.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.5 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 0.2% Tween 20) at RT for 1 h with shaking, to reduce unspecific binding of antibodies to the membrane. The blocking solution was removed and the membrane was incubated with the primary antibody, diluted in blocking solution, at RT for 1.5 h or, for phosphorylation-specific antibodies, in 5% BSA in PBST at 4°C overnight (the optimal working dilution was determined empirically). After 3 washes of 10 min each in PBST, the membrane was incubated for 1 hour with a HRP-conjugated secondary antibody, diluted 1:2000 in blocking solution. After incubation with the secondary antibody, the membrane was washed 3 times 10 min each in PBST. Equal volumes of ECL solution I (100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5, 2.5 mM luminol, 400  $\mu$ M coumaric acid) and ECL solution II (100 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.5, 0.02% H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>) were mixed and applied to the membrane. The volume was adjusted so that the liquid completely covered the surface of the membrane. After 1 minute incubation, excess of the ECL solution was removed, the membrane was exposed to ECL Hyperfilm and developed in a Kodak M35 X-OMAT Processor.

#### 2.2.3.5 Immunoprecipitation

Cells were washed twice with ice-cold phosphate-buffered saline (PBS) and lysed in NP-40 buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 5 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride). The protein extract was cleared by centrifugation at 13000 rpm at 4°C for 15 min and the protein concentration was determined by the method of Bradford. 1  $\mu$ g of the antibody, pre-coupled to Protein A sepharose, was added to 400  $\mu$ g of cell lysate and the mixture was incubated on a rotating wheel at 4°C for 1.5 hours. The protein/antibody complexes were washed three times with NP-40 lysis buffer. 1× SDS sample buffer (2% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 0.08 M tris pH 6.8, 10% glycerol, 2%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, 0.001% bromophenol blue) was added to the beads and the samples were heat denatured for 5 min at 95°C before they were loaded onto a 10% SDS-PAGE gel.

## 2.2.3.6 Ubiquitylation assay (Rodriguez et al., 2000)

U2OS cells were transfected with a plasmid encoding His-tagged ubiquitin. 36 hours after transfection, cells were harvested, washed twice in ice-cold PBS and lysed in 6 ml guanidinium lysis buffer (6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>/NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub> pH 8, 0.01 M Tris pH 8, 5 mM imidazole, 10 mM  $\beta$ -mercapthoethanol). 75  $\mu$ l Ni<sup>2+</sup>-NTA agarose beads were added to the lysate and the mixture was incubated with end-over-end rotation at RT for 4 hours. The beads were consecutively washed with the following buffers: guanidinium buffer (6 M guanidinium-HCl, 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>/NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 8, 0.01 M Tris pH 8, 10 mM βmercaptoethanol), Urea pH 8 buffer (8 M urea, 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>/NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 8, 0.01 M Tris pH 8, 10 mM β-mercaptoethanol), buffer A (8 M urea, 0.1 M Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>/NaH<sub>2</sub>PO<sub>4</sub>, pH 6.3, 0.01 M Tris pH 6.3, 10 mM β-mercaptoethanol), buffer A plus 0.2% Triton X-100 and buffer A plus 0.1% Triton X-100. Ubiquitylated proteins were eluted with 75  $\mu$ l of elution buffer (200 mM imidazole in 5% SDS, 0.15 M Tris pH 6.7, 30% glycerol, 0.72 M βmercaptoethanol) for 30 min at RT under constant shaking. The eluate was diluted 1:1 with 2× SDS-PAGE sample buffer and subjected to SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred to Immobilon-P blotting membrane and probed with the anti-p53 antibody DO-1.

#### 2.2.3.7 Preparation of GST fusion proteins

50 ml of LB medium (10 g tryptone, 5 g yeast extract and 5 g NaCl for 1 l; autoclaved) were inoculated with 5 ml of an overnight culture of transformed *E. coli* BL21 and incubated at  $37^{\circ}$ C with vigorous shaking for 1-2 h until the culture reached OD<sub>600</sub> of 0.6 –

0.8. Then isopropyl- $\beta$ -D-thiogalactopyranoside (IPTG) was added to a final concentration of 1 mM to induce expression of the GST-fusion proteins. After an additional incubation for 5 h at 37°C, bacteria were collected by centrifugation, resuspended in 2.5 ml of PBS and lysed by mild sonification. To ensure the solubilization of the proteins, Triton X-100 was added to a final concentration of 1%, and the lysate was incubated for 30 min at RT with end-over-end rotation. The debris was removed by centrifugation for 10 min at 13000 rpm and the GST-fusion proteins were further purified. 10  $\mu$ l of glutathione sepharose 4B was added to 1.5 ml of bacterial lysate and incubated for 2 hours at 4°C with end-over-end rotation. The sepharose was washed three times with 1 ml PBS and the proteins were eluted 3 times with 20  $\mu$ l glutathione elution buffer (50 mM Tris-HCl, pH 8.0, 10 mM glutathione).

#### 2.2.3.8 Kinase assays

1  $\mu$ g of bacterially expressed GST-Mdm2 fusion proteins, Mdm2 protein immunoprecipitated from cells or 1  $\mu$ g of tau protein (*Upstate*) were incubated with 50 ng of recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$ , or with GSK 3 $\beta$  immunoprecipitated from mammalian cells, in the presence of 7 mM MOPS, pH 7.3, 20 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 0.2 mM EDTA, 1 mM DTT, 10  $\mu$ M ATP and 250  $\mu$ Ci/ml [<sup>32</sup>P]- $\gamma$ -ATP for 30 min at 30°C. The reaction was stopped by adding 2× SDS sample buffer (4% sodium dodecyl sulfate, 0.16 M Tris pH 6.8, 20% glycerol, 4%  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol, 0.002% bromophenol blue) and separated by SDS-PAGE. The proteins were transferred to Immobilone-P blotting membrane and exposed to MP Hyperfilm.

For phosphorylation of primed Mdm2 with GSK 3 $\beta$ , 2  $\mu$ g of bacterially expressed GST-Mdm2 were incubated with 50 units of recombinant CKI $\delta$  in 1x CKI $\delta$  buffer (50 mM Tris-HCI, pH 7.5, 10 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 5 mM DTT) and 100  $\mu$ M ATP for 3 hours at 30°C, to ensure complete phosphorylation of the substrate. The reaction was heated for 15 min to 70°C to inactivate CKI $\delta$  and 0.5  $\mu$ g of pre-phosphorylated GST-Mdm2 were subjected to phosphorylation by GSK 3 $\beta$  as described.

To measure GSK 3 activity in crude cell lysates (Ryves et al., 1998), cells were washed with ice-cold PBS and scraped into 1 ml NP-40 lysis buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 5 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride, 50 mM NaF, 5 mM  $\beta$ -glycerolphosphate). The lysate was cleared by centrifugation at 13000 rpm for 10 min and 12.5  $\mu$ l of protein extract was mixed with 6  $\mu$ l phospho-Glycogen Synthase Peptide-2 (*Upstate*, 4 mg/ml), 6.5  $\mu$ l ATP mix (200 mM HEPES, pH 7.5; 50 mM MgCl<sub>2</sub>, 8 mM DTT, 400  $\mu$ M ATP, 250  $\mu$ Ci/ml [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP) and incubated at 30°C for 15 min. 20  $\mu$ l of the sample were spotted onto P81 ion-exchange paper. The P81-paper was washed three times for 5 min in 0.75% phosphoric acid and once for 5 min in acetone. Bound radioactivity was quantified by Cherenkov counts in a scintillation counter.

#### 2.2.3.9 In vivo labelling cells with <sup>32</sup>P-orthophosphate

Cos-7 cells were transfected by jet-Pei method with pDWM659 Myc-Mdm2. 48 hours after transfection, cells were washed twice with 1× TBS (25 mM Tris-HCl, pH 7.4, 137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl), and pre-incubated for 1 hour with 8 ml of phosphate-free DMEM (*Invitrogen*) containing 10% dialyzed FCS. The medium was replaced with 8 ml fresh phosphate-free DMEM, 2 - 3 mCi of [<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate were added per 175 cm<sup>2</sup> plate and the cells were incubated for an additional 3 hours. The cells were lysed in 1 ml of NP-40 buffer (150 mM NaCl, 50 mM Tris pH 8.0, 5 mM EDTA, 1% NP-40, 1 mM phenylmethylsulfonyl fluoride) and lysed for 20 minutes on ice. Cell debris was removed by centrifugation at 4°C for 15 min at 13000 rpm and the p53 and Mdm2 proteins were immunoprecipitated from the supernatant as described in 2.2.3.5.

#### 2.2.3.10 Two-dimensional peptide mapping

[<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate-labelled proteins (see 2.2.3.9) or GST-fusion proteins phosphorylated by GSK 3 in vitro (see 2.2.3.8) were subjected to two-dimensional chymotryptic peptide mapping according to Blattner et al., 2002. Phosphorylated proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, the gel was dried and exposed to MP Hyperfilm. The p53 and Mdm2 proteins were excised from the gel and the gel pieces were homogenised in 500  $\mu$ l of fresh "ambic" solution (4 mg/ml NH<sub>4</sub>HCO<sub>3</sub>). An additional 500  $\mu$ l "ambic" solution, 10µl 20% SDS and 20µl  $\beta$ -mercaptoethanol were added and the gel pieces were heated for 5 min to 100°C. The proteins were eluted overnight with end-over-end rotation. The next day, the supernatant was transferred to a new reaction tube and the proteins were precipitated with 250  $\mu$ I 100% ice-cold trichloroacetic acid (TCA) and 20  $\mu$ g RNAse A for 1 hour on ice. The protein pellet was collected by centrifugation at 10000 rpm for 10 min, and washed with 100% cold ethanol. The protein pellet was air-dried for 10 min. To oxidase cysteines into cysteic acid, protein pellet was resuspended in fresh performic acid (prepared by incubating for 1 hour the mix of 450  $\mu$ l 98% formic acid and 50  $\mu$ l 30% hydrogen peroxide at RT). After 1 hour incubation on ice, 300  $\mu$ l water was added and the samples were lyophilised. The dried protein was resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l "ambic" solution by hard vortexing and digested with 10  $\mu$ g chymotrypsin (sequencing grade, Sigma) at 37°C overnight. The next day, 10  $\mu$ g of chymotrypsin were added and the samples were incubated at 37°C for at least 2 more hours. 300  $\mu$ l water were added and the sample was lyophilised. Addition of water and lyophilisation was repeated 2-3 times until all salt was removed. Peptides were resuspended in 50  $\mu$ l of "pH 1.9 buffer" (580 mM formic acid, 1.36 M acetic acid) by vortexing and the debris was removed by brief centrifugation. The supernatant was transferred into a new tube, lyophilised, resuspended in 5  $\mu$ l "pH 1.9" buffer" and spotted onto cellulose plates. 5  $\mu$ l of 40% "pH 1.9 buffer", 5 mg/ml DNP-lysine and 1 mg/ml xylene cyanol were loaded as a marker. Electrophoresis was performed in "pH 1.9 buffer" for 1.5 hours at 500 V at 4°C. Plates were dried and assembled in chromatography chambers. Chromatography was performed in Phosphopeptide Chromatography Buffer (isobutyric acid (62.5%, vol/vol), *n*-butanol (1.9%, vol/vol), pyridine (4.8%, vol/vol), and glacial acetic acid (2.9%, vol/vol) in deionized water) for 5 – 6 hours. After chromatography, the plates were dried and exposed to MP-Hyperfilm.

#### 2.2.3.11 Immunofluorescence staining

Cells, grown on coverslips, were washed twice with PBS (137 mM NaCl, 2.7 mM KCl, 6.5 mM Na<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>, 1.5 mM K<sub>2</sub>HPO<sub>4</sub>) and fixed for 20 min with 3.7% paraformaldehyde in PBS at RT. The coverslips were washed 3-4 times with PBS and the cells were permeabilized in 0.1% Triton-100 in PBS for 5 min. The coverslips were washed twice with PBS and blocked for 1 hour with 1% BSA in PBS (PBS-BSA). The blocking solution was aspirated and 250  $\mu$ l of primary antibody diluted in PBS-BSA were added and incubated for 1 h. The coverslips were washed 3 times with PBS and incubated with 150  $\mu$ l of a Cy2- or Cy3-coupled secondary antibody, diluted in PBS-BSA, for 1 hour. The coverslips were washed 5 times with PBS and mounted onto glass slides with Hydromount. The slides were dried overnight in the dark and analyzed by laser scanning microscopy.

## Preparation of the paraformaldehyde solution

1.85 g of paraformaldehyde (3.7%) were dissolved in 2.5 ml distilled water at 80°C for 2-3 min. 5 drops of 1 M NaOH were added and the solution was allowed to cool. The solution was adjusted to 50 ml with PBS and used immediately.

# 3. RESULTS

# 3.1 GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 in vitro and in vivo

The p53 protein is a critical regulator of cell death. To allow cell proliferation, the p53 protein needs to be kept under tight control. This control is performed mainly by the Mdm2 protein that binds to the N-terminal transactivation domain of the p53 protein, ubiquitylates it and targets it for rapid degradation by cellular proteasomes (Momand et al., 1992; Fang et al., 2000). Degradation of the p53 protein, however, requires phosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. Particularly, phosphorylation of serine 238, 240, 244, 251, 254, 258 and 260 of the Mdm2 protein has been shown to be critical for its function (Blattner et al., 2002). Despite their importance for the regulation of p53 protein levels, kinases that phosphorylate the central region of the Mdm2 protein have not been identified when I started with my PhD. The goal of my PhD work was therefore to identify kinases that phosphorylate this important region of the Mdm2 protein. Intriguingly, two serines in the central domain of the Mdm2 protein (serine 240 and serine 254) conform to a classical GSK 3 (Glycogen Synthase Kinase 3) consensus site (Fig. 3.1).



# Consensus site for GSK 3 phosphorylation -S-XXX-S(P)-

Figure 3.1. GSK3 consensus sites in the central domain of Mdm2. Two potential GSK 3 phosphorylation sites in the central region of Mdm2 are marked in boxes. Phosphorylatable aminoacids marked in red.

To investigate whether the Mdm2 protein can be phosphorylated by GSK 3 I first tested whether GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein *in vitro*. Therefore I fused the aminoterminal part (aa 1 to 206), the central part (aa 220 to 305) and the carboxyterminal part (aa 296 to 491) of the Mdm2 protein to the the glutathione S-transferase gene and expressed the fusion proteins in bacteria. I purified the GST-Mdm2 fusion proteins by adsorption to glutathione sepharose and incubated 1  $\mu$ g of the fusion protein with 50 ng of recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  and  $\gamma$ -[<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP for 30 minutes.



С



**Figure 3.2. GSK 3** $\beta$  **phosphorylates Mdm2** *in vitro.* **A**: GST and GST fused to parts of the Mdm2 protein (N-term: aa 1-206 of Mdm2; central: aa 220-300 of Mdm2; C-term; aa 296-491 of Mdm2) were incubated with GSK 3 $\beta$  and [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a blotting membrane and exposed to X-ray film (I). The membrane was hybridised with an anti-GST antibody and developed by ECL (II). B: GST-Mdm2 fusion proteins of the central domain (aa 220-305) of wild type or mutant Mdm2 with the indicated substitutions were incubated with GSK 3 $\beta$  and [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. Phosphorylated proteins were eluted from the gel, digested with chymotrypsin and separated by electrophoresis and chromatography. The origin (x) where phosphopeptides were loaded is indicated. Arrows point to mutation-dependent changes in the phosphorylation pattern. **C:** Time course of Mdm2 phosphorylation. GST fused to full length Mdm2 was incubated with GSK 3 $\beta$  and [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP for the indicated times. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, excised from the gel and the ratio of incorporated phosphate to substrate was measured. The experiment was performed twice. The average ratio was calculated and plotted.

The proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to Immobilone P and exposed to X-ray film. As shown in Fig. 3.2 A,I, GSK 3 phosphorylated the N-terminal domain and the central domain of the Mdm2 protein under these conditions. In contrast, the GST part alone or the C-terminal part of the Mdm2 protein were not phosphorylated. To monitor that equal amounts of substrates were applied, I incubated the membranes with an anti-GST antibody and developed the Western blot by ECL. Fig. 3.2 A,II shows that equal amounts of substrates were employed in the assay.

Since serine 240 and 254 conform to a classical GSK 3 consensus phosphorylation site, I wondered whether GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein at these sites. To approach this question, I used mutants of the Mdm2 protein, where serines 238 and 240 or serines 251 and 254 were replaced with an alanine, and cloned them into the pGEX 4T-2 vector to prepare GST-fusion proteins. The corresponding GST-Mdm2-fusion proteins were expressed in bacteria, purified by adsorption to glutathione sepharose and phosphorylated by recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$ . To map the phosphorylation sites, the phosphorylated GST-Mdm2 fusion proteins were purified by gel electrophoresis, digested with chymotrypsin and separated in two dimensions by electrophoresis and chromatography.

The two-dimensional peptide analysis of wild type Mdm2 revealed six distinct peptides that were phosphorylated by GSK 3 *in vitro* (Fig. 3.2 B). When serine 238 and serine 240 were replaced with an alanine, two peptides became invisible due to the absence of incorporated radioactive phosphate (peptide "e" and "f"). In addition, phosphorylation of another peptide (peptide "a") was severely reduced. Similarly, substitution of serine 251 and serine 254 with an alanine brought about loss of phosphorylation of peptide "f" and decreased phosphorylation of peptides "c" and "e" (Fig. 3.2 B).

In summary, these results clearly show that GSK 3 is able to phosphorylate the central domain of the Mdm2 protein, at least *in vitro*. Moreover, GSK 3 phosphorylated the Mdm2 protein at the two GSK 3 consensus sites within the central conserved domain. Interestingly, since GSK 3 phosphorylated bacterially expressed Mdm2 protein, it is obviously capable to phosphorylate Mdm2 even in the absence of a primed phosphorylation.

A few substrates are phosphorylated by GSK 3 at sites that differ from a classical GSK 3 consensus site (Cho and Johnson, 2003; Qu et al., 2004). GSK 3 phosphorylates these substrates with high efficiency even in the absence of priming phosphorylation. To test whether the Mdm2 protein belongs to one of these GSK 3 substrates with a non-classical phosphorylation motif, I determined the efficiency of Mdm2 phosphorylation by GSK 3 in the absence of prior phosphorylation. Therefore, I incubated purified GST-MDM2 (full length) protein with recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  and radioactive  $\gamma$ -[<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP for different time periods, separated the proteins by SDS-PAGE, excised the phosphorylated substrate

from the gel and determined the amount of incorporated radioactive phosphate in a scintillation counter (Fig. 3.2 C).

This approach revealed that the phosphorylation efficiency was very low. After 3 hours of incubation, only 1% of the Mdm2 molecules were phosphorylated by GSK  $3\beta$ , indicating that non-primed Mdm2 is a not a good substrate for GSK  $3\beta$ .



**Figure 3.3.** Phosphorylation of Mdm2 by GSK 3 $\beta$  is enhanced after priming by CKl $\delta$ . A: GST fused to the central domain Mdm2 was phosphorylated with GSK 3 $\beta$  or Mdm2 was first phosphorylated with CKl $\delta$  in the presence of cold ATP. After 30 minutes incubation CKl $\delta$  was heat-inactivated and Mdm2 was incubated with recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  and [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP or in the absence of GSK 3 $\beta$  as a control of CKl $\delta$  inactivation. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and exposed to X-ray film. **B:** Phosphorylated proteins were eluted from the gel, digested with chymotrypsin and separated by electrophoresis and chromatography. The origin (x) where phosphopeptides were loaded is indicated.

Phosphorylation of substrates by GSK 3 is enhanced 100 - 1000 fold when the (n+4) aminoacid is already phosphorylated. This priming phosphorylation brings the serine or threonine that is to be phosphorylated into the correct position within the active site of GSK 3 (Thomas et al., 1999). Markus Winter, a former diploma student has shown that CKI $\delta$  phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein at serine 244, which is one of the priming sites for GSK 3 (Winter et al., in press; Fig. 3.1). Since the phosphorylation rate of unprimed Mdm2 by GSK 3 $\beta$  was rather low, I tested whether phosphorylation efficiency can be improved by pre-phosphorylating the Mdm2 protein with CKI $\delta$ . I incubated the purified GST-MDM2 fusion protein (aa 220 to 300) for 3 hours with recombinant CKI $\delta$  in the presence of non-radioactive phosphate. I inactivated the kinase by heating the sample to 65°C for 15 minutes, diluted it 4 times with GSK 3 kinase buffer and incubated it with recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  and radioactive  $\gamma$ -[<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. As shown in Figure 3.3 A, pre-phosphorylation of Mdm2 by CKI $\delta$  significantly enhanced phosphorylation by GSK 3 $\beta$  in comparison to non-

primed Mdm2. Moreover, when I eluted the phosphorylated Mdm2 from the gel and analyzed it by two-dimensional peptide mapping, I observed, that the pattern of Mdm2 phosphorylation was completely different. While in the absence of CKI<sup>δ</sup> phosphorylation of the central domain with GSK 3 $\beta$  occurred at three major peptides located at a diagonal, phosphorylation of primed Mdm2 by GSK 3 resulted in only one major peptide (Fig. 3.3 B). The result that GSK 3<sup>β</sup> phosphorylated Mdm2 *in vitro* indicated that GSK 3<sup>β</sup> might also phosphorylate Mdm2 under physiologic conditions. Nevertheless, the large excess of substrates and kinases in a test tube frequently leads to false positive results. It was therefore important to show that GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein also in a living cell. To investigate whether GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 under physiologic conditions, I used two different approaches. I analyzed the phosphorylation pattern of the Mdm2 protein that was derived from control cells and from cells that had been treated with alsterpaullone, a potent inhibitor of GSK 3 and I phosphorylated Mdm2 that was derived from control cells or inhibitor-treated cells with recombinant GSK 3. If Mdm2 is a physiologic substrate for GSK 3, only Mdm2 from cells that had been treated with the inhibitor should be phosphorylated by recombinant kinase under these conditions since only in the presence of the inhibitor the Mdm2 protein remained unphosphoylated (Fig. 3.5 A).

For the analysis of the phosphorylation pattern of the Mdm2 protein in living cells, I transfected Cos-7 cells with myc-tagged Mdm2, and incubated the cells for 4 hours with [<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate in the presence or absence of the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone. After harvesting the cells, I immunoprecipitated the Mdm2 protein and purified it further by gel electrophoresis. I digested the Mdm2 protein with chymotrypsin and separated the resulting peptides by electrophoreses and chromatography.

The two-dimensional peptide map of the Mdm2 protein showed many peptides with incorporated radioactive phosphate, indicating that the Mdm2 protein is heavily phosphorylated *in vivo* (Fig 3.4 I). Interestingly, treatment of cells with alsterpaullone resulted in the loss of peptide "a" of the Mdm2 protein, indicating that this peptide is normally phosphorylated by GSK 3 (Fig. 3.4 I).

To further prove that peptide "a" is phosphorylated by GSK 3, I transfected Cos-7 cells with myc-tagged Mdm2 and wild type GSK 3 $\beta$  or with myc-tagged Mdm2 together with a GSK 3 $\beta$  where arginine 96 is replaced with an alanine. This mutant form of GSK 3 $\beta$  is inactive towards primed substrates. Since the Mdm2 protein is heavily phosphorylated at GSK 3 consensus sites in the central domain (Blattner et al., 2002) and since the phosphorylation of non-primed Mdm2 by GSK 3 $\beta$  occurs at a very low rate, the Mdm2 protein most likely constitutes a primed substrate for GSK 3. The R96A mutant of GSK 3 $\beta$  should therefore be unable to phosphorylate the Mdm2 protein and eventually even acts in a dominant negative fashion. I incubated the cells with [<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate,



GSK-3 $\beta$  wild type

GSK-3β R96A

Figure 3.4. Two-dimensional peptide map of Mdm2 phosphorylated *in vivo*. (I) Cos-7 cells were transfected with myc-tagged wild type Mdm2. 48 hours after transfection, cells were incubated for 4 hours with [<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate in the absence or presence of alsterpaullone. (II) Cos-7 cells were co-transfected with myc-tagged Mdm2 and wild type GSK 3 $\beta$  or the R96A mutant. 48 hours after transfection, cells were incubated for 4 hours with [<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate. Myc-tagged Mdm2 was precipitated with the 9E10 antibody, resolved by SDS-PAGE, eluted and digested with chymotrypsin. The resulting peptides were separated by electrophoresis and chromatography. (a, b and c are individual peptides of the Mdm2 protein. Peptide "a" is partly overlapping with peptide c.)

precipitated and purified the Mdm2 protein and performed a two-dimensional peptide analysis.

Overexpression of wild type GSK  $3\beta$  increased the phosphorylation of peptide "a". Consistently, transfection of Mdm2 together with the dominant negative GSK  $3\beta$  mutant resulted in the loss of peptide "a" (Fig. 3.4, II). These data indicate that GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 also in living cells.

Because of the complexity and the bad resolution of the two dimensional peptide maps of the Mdm2 protein, I complemented the study by a second approach. I transfected cells with Myc-tagged wild type Mdm2 or a Myc-tagged mutant of Mdm2 where I had deleted the central domain (aa 200 to 300). I treated the cells with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone or left them untreated for control. After harvesting, I immunoprecipitated the Mdm2 protein from the cells and phosphorylated it by recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  in the

presence of radioactive  $\gamma$ -[<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. I separated the proteins by SDS-PAGE, transferred them to Immobilon P blotting membrane and exposed the membrane onto an X-ray film. To monitor that equal amounts of the Mdm2 protein were loaded onto the gel, the membranes were incubated with an anti-Myc antibody after exposure onto an X-ray film and the western blots were developed by ECL.



**Figure 3.5. GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2** *in vivo.* **A**: Schematic representation of the experiment. **B**: U2OS cells were transfected with a cDNA expressing myc-tagged wild type or mutant Mdm2 ( $\Delta$ 200-300). 36 hours after transfection, cells were treated for 4 hours with Alsterpaullone (+) or left untreated for control (-). Cells were lysed and myc-tagged Mdm2 was precipitated with the 9E10 (anti-myc) antibody, incubated with [ $\gamma$ -<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP with or without GSK 3 $\beta$ , separated by SDS-PAGE, transferred to nitrocellulose and analysed by autoradiography (I). After exposure, the membrane was hybridised with the anti-Myc antibody and developed by ECL (II).

Indeed, in this phosphorylation assay, the Mdm2 protein that was derived from inhibitortreated cells was phosphorylated stronger by recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  than the Mdm2 protein that had been derived from cells that had been left untreated for control. (Fig. 3.5 B,I). Importantly, phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein, where I had deleted the central domain ( $\Delta$ 200-300), remained very low independently of whether the cells had been treated with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone or not (Fig. 3.5 B). Fig. 3.5 B,II shows that equal amounts of the Mdm2 protein were loaded on the gel.

The result of this assay supports the conclusion from the two-dimensional peptide map. Moreover, it shows that the sites that are phosphorylated by GSK 3 are located within the central domain of the Mdm2 protein.

In attempt to identify the amino acids that are phosphorylated by GSK 3 within the central domain of the Mdm2 protein, I created single or double point mutations and deletions of

the Mdm2 protein, where serine 227 and 230, serine 238 and 240, serine 244, serine 251 and 254, serine 258 and 260, serine 267, serine 284 and 288 or serine 296 were replaced with an alanine or where amino acids 201 to 235, 236 to 260 or 261 to 300 were deleted. These Mdm2 mutants were transfected into U2OS cells and phosphorylated by recombinant GSK 3 as described above (Fig. 3.5 A). However, I received no conclusive results since all Mdm2 mutants were phosphorylated by recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  in a similar fashion (data not shown), possibly indicating that GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 at several sites within the central domain.

In summary, the results from the two dimensional peptide analysis and from the kinase assays strongly suggest that GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein within the central domain *in vitro* and *in vivo*, eventually concomitantly at several sites. Nevertheless, despite the indication that Mdm2 is a physiological substrate of GSK 3, the possibility that the Mdm2 protein is phosphorylated by an alternative kinase that is regulated by GSK 3 cannot be entirely excluded.

To further support the conclusion that GSK 3 $\beta$  phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein directly, I investigated whether GSK 3 $\beta$  associates with the Mdm2 protein. Therefore I transfected U2OS cells with Myc-tagged Mdm2 and wild type GSK 3 $\beta$ . After harvesting, I immunoprecipitated GSK 3 $\beta$ , separated GSK 3 $\beta$ /Mdm2 complexes by SDS-PAGE and transferred them to Immobilon P membrane. I incubated the membrane with anti-GSK 3 $\beta$  and anti-Myc antibodies and developed the western blots by ECL. Unfortunately, I was unable to detect an interaction of Mdm2 and wild type GSK 3 $\beta$  (data not shown).



**Figure 3.6. Mdm2 interacts with GSK 3** $\beta$ **.** U2OS cells were transfected with myc-tagged Mdm2 and GSK 3 (R96A) or myc-tagged Mdm2 and a vector control. 36 hours after transfection, GSK 3 $\beta$  was precipitated, the complexes were resolved by SDS-PAGE, transferred to a blotting membrane and probed for Mdm2 and GSK 3 $\beta$ . An aliquot of the cell lysate was analysed to determine Mdm2 expression levels.

The interaction of kinases and substrates is frequently very transient since the proteins dissociate immediately after the enzyme reaction. In consequence, I reasoned that the mutant form of GSK 3 $\beta$  (R96A) that is unable to phosphorylate the Mdm2 protein should longer associate with the Mdm2 protein and thus the interaction might be easier detectable. To test this prediction, I transfected U2OS cells with Myc-tagged Mdm2 and the GSK 3 $\beta$  mutant R96A or vector alone. Again, I immunoprecipitated GSK 3 $\beta$ , separated GSK 3 $\beta$ /Mdm2 complexes by SDS-PAGE, transferred them to Immobilon P membrane and incubated the membrane with antibodies directed against GSK 3 $\beta$  and the Myc-tag and developed the western blots by ECL. Under these conditions, I was able to detect the interaction of the mutant form of GSK 3 $\beta$  with the Mdm2 protein. However, the interaction of endogenous wild type GSK 3 with the Mdm2 protein was again not detectable (Fig. 3.6).

# 3.2 Inhibition of GSK 3 leads to p53 accumulation

Phosphorylation of several serines in the central domain of the Mdm2 protein is vital for p53 degradation (Blattner et al., 2002). Among these serines are the two GSK 3 consensus sites. If GSK 3 is a kinase that phosphorylates these serines *in vivo*, one would expect that inhibition of GSK 3 interferes with the degradation of the p53 protein. To test this hypothesis, I treated a human osteosarcoma U2OS cell line that expresses wild type p53 with a range of GSK 3 inhibitors: lithium chloride (Jope, 2003), alsterpaullone (Leost et al., 2000), bisindolylmaleimide IX (Hers et al., 1999) and bisindolylmaleimide I (Hers et al., 1999). After harvesting, I separated proteins by SDS-PAGE, transferred them onto Immobilon P blotting membrane and incubated the membrane subsequently with the anti-p53 antibody DO-1 and with the anti-PCNA antibody PC-10, which served as a loading control.

Inhibition of GSK 3 resulted in the accumulation of p53 protein levels. Within less than two hours, an increase in p53 protein levels was detectable in the presence of each of the GSK 3 inhibitors. p53 protein levels remained high and accumulated even further in the course of the experiment (Fig. 3.7 A), indicating that the activity of GSK 3 is required to maintain physiological low levels of the p53 protein.

Although I used four different inhibitors of GSK 3, I could not completely exclude the possibility that the p53 protein accumulated due to an unspecific activity of the GSK 3 inhibitors. To show that the increase in p53 protein levels is specifically due to inhibition of GSK 3, I used two different approaches. Firstly, I transfected a p53-negative lung carcinoma cell line (H1299) with p53 in the presence or absence of Mdm2 and GSK 3 $\beta$ . After harvesting, I separated the cellular lysates by SDS-PAGE, transferred the proteins onto a membrane and incubated the membrane with an antibody directed against p53 and with an antibody directed against PCNA, for a loading control.

Α

B



Figure 3.7. Inhibition of GSK 3 leads to the accumulation of p53. A: U2OS cells were incubated with bisindolylmaleimide I, bisindolylmaleimide IX, alsterpaullone or lithium chloride. Cellular extracts were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to Immobilon P membrane. The membrane was probed with the anti-p53 antibody DO-1 and the anti-PCNA antibody PC-10. Western blots were developed by ECL. B: H1299 cells were transfected with pcDNA-p53 (lanes 2-4), pcDNA-mdm2 (lanes 3-4) and pcDNA3-GSK 3 $\beta$  (lane 4). 36 hours after transfection, cells were harvested and probed for the presence of p53 and PCNA. C: U2OS cells were co-transfected with pSuper-GSK 3 $\beta$  expressing GSK 3 $\beta$  RNA*i* and a cDNA encoding a puromycin resistance gene. Cells were selected for 3 days with 1.5  $\mu$ g/ml puromycin, lysed and probed for p53, GSK 3 $\beta$  and PCNA.
In accordance with published data, p53 protein levels were reduced when Mdm2 was coexpressed with p53 (Fig. 3.7 B; Blattner et al., 2002). Importantly, co-transfection of GSK  $3\beta$  further reduced p53 protein levels, indicating that GSK 3 promotes p53 degradation (Fig. 3.7 B).

In a second approach, I transfected U2OS cells with a plasmid that expresses siRNA for GSK 3 $\beta$  and a puromycin-resistance coding vector. To select for transfected cells, I cultured the cells in the presence of 1.5  $\mu$ g/ml puromycin. After three days of selection, I harvested the cells, separated the proteins by SDS-PAGE, transferred them onto a blotting membrane and incubated the membrane with an anti-p53 and an anti-GSK 3 $\beta$  antibody, and an anti-PCNA antibody for loading control.

Figure 3.7 C shows that GSK 3 $\beta$  protein levels were reduced after expression of GSK 3 $\beta$  siRNA. Moreover, and most importantly, p53 protein levels were significantly elevated in cells that lack GSK 3 $\beta$ .

These results clearly show that GSK 3 is an important regulator of p53. Under normal growth conditions, GSK 3 helps to maintain p53 protein levels low. Conversely, inhibition of GSK 3 leads to the accumulation of the p53 protein.

## 3.3 Accumulated p53 is transcriptionally active

Ways to regulate p53 abundance are currently under intense investigation. The observation that the p53 protein accumulated in response to GSK 3 inhibition, opens new possibilities for cancer therapy, since it allows to raise p53 protein levels by administering small molecules that specifically inhibit GSK 3. For a potential use in therapy, it is, however, important that the inhibition of GSK 3 does not interfere with the capacity of p53 to activate transcription of its target genes.

To test whether inhibition of GSK 3 interferes with the transactivation function of p53, I incubated NIH/3T3 fibroblasts with the GSK 3 inhibitor lithium chloride. I harvested the cells after zero, two, five, ten or twenty-four hours and prepared polyA<sup>+</sup> RNA by adsorption to oligo(dT)cellulose. I separated the RNA by formaldehyde-agarose gel electrophoresis and transferred it to a Hybond-N+ membrane. I hybridized the membrane consecutively with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled cDNAs encoding the open reading frame of *p53*, *p21/waf1*, *bax*, *puma*, *mdm2* and a 1 kb *PstI*-fragment of *GAPDH* and exposed it to X-ray film.

In consistency with an earlier report (Mao et al., 2001), I observed a strong increase in *p21* mRNA levels within 4 hours after addition of lithium chloride. *mdm2* RNA levels were also elevated after inhibition of GSK 3 whereas *bax* and *puma* mRNA levels were not significantly altered. Hybridization of the membrane with the *GAPDH* cDNA shows that comparable amounts of mRNAs were loaded onto the gel (Fig. 3.8).



**Figure 3.8. GSK 3 inhibition leads to the accumulation of transcriptionally active p53.** NIH 3T3 cells were treated with LiCl and harvested after the indicated times. Poly(A)<sup>+</sup> RNA was prepared, separated on a agarose-formaldehyde gel and transferred to a Hybond N+ membrane. The membrane was sequentially probed with [<sup>32</sup>P]-labeled cDNAs encoding *PUMA*, *bax*, *mdm2*, *p21*, *p53* and *GAPDH*, and exposed against X-ray films.

### 3.4 GSK 3 regulates p53 degradation

To further consolidate the hypothesis that GSK 3 regulates p53 stability by phosphorylating the central domain of the Mdm2 protein, I explored the mechanism that leads to the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to GSK 3 inhibition in more detail. According to the principle "DNA makes RNA makes protein", protein expression may be regulated at the level of transcription, translation or protein degradation. To determine the regulation level of p53 expression after GSK 3 inhibition, I first determined the levels of *p53* mRNA by Northern blotting. I incubated U2OS cells with 10  $\mu$ M of the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone and harvested the cells after zero, two, five, ten and twenty-four hours. I purified polyA<sup>+</sup> RNA by adsorption to oligo(dT)cellulose, separated the RNA by agarose-formaldehyde gel electrophoresis, transferred it onto a Hybond-N+ membrane and hybridized the membrane consecutively with <sup>32</sup>P-labeled cDNAs encoding the coding region of the *p53* gene and a *PstI* fragment of the *GAPDH* gene for a loading control. I exposed the membrane against an X-ray film and determined *p53* and *GAPDH* mRNA levels by using the values obtained for the *GAPDH* mRNA and plotted the normalized *p53* values (Fig. 3.9 A).

Α

B



**Figure 3.9. Inhibition of GSK 3 prevents p53 degradation I. A:** U2OS cells were treated with alsterpaullone for the indicated times.  $Poly(A)^+$  RNA was prepared, resolved on an agarose-formaldehyde gel and transferred to Hybond N+ membrane. The membrane was sequentially probed with [<sup>32</sup>P]-labelled cDNAs encoding *p53* and *GAPDH*, and exposed against X-ray films. *p53* mRNA levels were normalized by *GAPDH* and plotted. Relative p53 mRNA amount in untreated cells was set to 1. **B:** U2OS cells were treated with alsterpaullone and bisindolylmaleimide IX (Bis IX) for 4 hours or left untreated for control. At the indicated times, cycloheximide (CHX) was added. p53 and PCNA protein levels were determined as described in the legend to Figure 3.7.

Within the time frame of this experiment, there was no induction of p53 mRNA levels detectable. Instead, at two hours after addition of the GSK 3 inhibitor, I observed a slight reduction of p53 mRNA levels (Fig. 3.9 A). This result shows that the increase in p53 protein levels in response to alsterpaullone does not result from transcriptional activation, but is due to posttranscriptional regulation.

After transcription, *p53* mRNA is translated into protein which is then degraded via the ubiquitin-proteasome pathway. In response to a diverse array of insults such as irradiation, hypoxia and nucleotide depletion p53 protein levels are increased due to rescue of the p53 protein from proteasomal degradation. Therefore, I investigated whether this principle also applies to the regulation of p53 protein levels in response to GSK 3 inhibition.

To test this concept, I treated U2OS cells with the GSK 3 inhibitors alsterpaullone or bisindolylmaleimide IX or left them untreated for control. One hour after addition of the GSK 3 inhibitors, I added cycloheximide to the cells to block ongoing protein synthesis. I harvested at the cells at 15 minutes intervals, separated the lysates by SDS-PAGE, and determined p53 protein levels by western blotting.

In consistency with previous reports, I observed a half-life of the p53 protein of about 20 to 30 min in the absence of GSK 3 inhibitors (Fig. 3.9 B; Blattner et al., 1999a; Maltzman and Czyzyk, 1984). Treatment of cells with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone or bisindolylmaleimide IX, however, prolonged the half-life of the p53 protein considerably. During the whole time frame of the experiment, p53 protein levels didn't significantly decrease (Fig. 3.9 B), indicating that inhibition of GSK 3 elevates p53 protein levels by blocking p53 protein degradation.

To further support the conclusion that GSK 3 inhibition raises p53 protein levels by blocking p53 degradation by proteasome, I inhibited GSK 3 in the presence or absence of the proteasome inhibitor MG132.

I harvested the cells at 30 minutes, one, two, four, six and eight hours after GSK 3 inhibition, separated the proteins by SDS-PAGE and determined p53 protein levels by western blotting. To analyze whether GSK 3 inhibition may block p53 degradation by decreasing the levels of Mdm2, the major ubiquitin-ligase for p53, I incubated divided the membrane into two parts and hybridized the upper part of the membrane with an antibody directed against the Mdm2 protein.

As expected, inhibition of GSK 3 increased p53 protein levels only in the presence of functional proteasomes (Fig. 3.10) demonstrating that the increase in p53 abundance after GSK 3 inhibition is solely due to rescue from proteasomal degradation and not e.g. increased translation.



**Figure 3.10. Inhibition of GSK 3 prevents p53 degradation II.** U2OS cells were incubated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 4 hours or left untreated for control. Alsterpaullone was added and the cells were harvested after the indicated time. p53, Mdm2 and PCNA protein levels were determined by Western blotting.

Interestingly inhibition of GSK 3 not only induces p53 accumulation, but also modulates Mdm2 protein levels. Within the first two hours after drug addition, Mdm2 protein levels were slightly increased. Longer exposure to GSK 3 inhibitors, however, decreased Mdm2 expression significantly (Figure 3.10). Nevertheless, since p53 accumulated prior to Mdm2 downregulation, the reduction in the Mdm2 protein levels cannot account for the block in the p53 protein degradation.

Proteasomal degradation of p53 depends on its ubiquitylation by E3 ubiquitin ligases. Apart from Mdm2, three other ubiquitin ligases, Pirh2, Cop1 and topors, are able to ubiquitylate p53 in cells (Leng et al., 2003; Dornan et al., 2004; Rajendra et al., 2004). Inactivation of these alternative ubiquitin ligases could therefore contribute to the stabilization of p53 in response to GSK 3 inhibition. However, if my concept that the p53 protein accumulates in response to GSK 3 inhibition because the Mdm2 protein is underphosphorylated is correct, then depletion of Mdm2 should prevent this accumulation. To test this principle, I transfected U2OS cells with a plasmid encoding siRNA for Mdm2 to knock-down Mdm2 expression. This plasmid also encodes a neomycin resistance gene which allows selection for transfected cells. Because of the low transfection efficiency of U2OS cells, I selected the transfected cells by addition of 300  $\mu$ g/ml neomycin.

Unfortunately, all cells died within the selection period of seven days, probably because p53 accumulates in the absence of Mdm2 and directs cells into apoptosis (Jones et al., 1995; Montes de Oca Luna et al., 1995). I therefore decided to analyse the transfected cells at earlier time points. Since neomycin needs several days to kill cells, it was necessary to sort the transfected cells from the non-transfected ones. I therefore transfected the pMACS K<sup>k</sup>.II vector, which expresses the truncated mouse MHC class I molecule H-2K<sup>k</sup> as a selection surface marker, and the plasmid encoding Mdm2 siRNA. One day after transfection, I treated the cells with alsterpaullone or left them untreated for control. After 2 hours, I purified the transfected cells with MACSelect kit using magnetic beads coupled to antibodies directed against H-2K<sup>k</sup> selection marker. I lysed the selected cells, separated the proteins by SDS-PAGE and determined the levels of Mdm2, p53 and PCNA, for loading control.



**Figure 3.11. Accumulation of p53 after GSK 3 inhibition depends on the presence of Mdm2.** U2OS cells were transfected with pMACS K<sup>k</sup>.II vector and pSuper.gfp/neo encoding Mdm2 siRNA, or pSuper.gfp/neo vector for control. 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with alsterpaullone for 2 hours. Transfected cells were separated from non-transfected cells by magnetic beads (*Miltenyi Biotech*) and Mdm2, p53 and PCNA protein levels were determined by western blotting.

As shown in Figure 3.11, Mdm2 protein levels were significantly reduced when Mdm2 siRNA was transfected. Importantly, in these Mdm2-depleted cells, inhibition of GSK 3 did not alter p53 protein levels. Only in the cells transfected with pMACS K<sup>k</sup>.II plasmid and empty vector, p53 protein levels were significantly increased (Fig. 3.11). These data strongly argue that GSK 3 regulates the p53 protein in a Mdm2-dependent manner. Interestingly, one day after transfection of the vector coding siRNA for Mdm2, the p53 protein levels were not yet elevated, suggesting that other ubiquitin ligases are able to substitute the Mdm2 protein in its absence, but since GSK 3 inhibition didn't change the p53 protein levels in the absence of the Mdm2 protein, these ubiquitin ligases are obviously not regulated by GSK 3.

Apart from p53, several other cellular proteins, e.g. E2F-1, Numb or the androgen receptor, can be targeted by Mdm2 for proteasomal degradation (Fig. 1.7; Blattner et al.,

Results

1999; Yogosawa et al., 2003; Lin et al., 2002). If GSK 3 inhibition interferes with Mdm2dependent degradation of p53, one would expect that the turnover of other Mdm2 substrates should be altered as well.

To test this prediction, I therefore determined the expression of the E2F-1 protein, another Mdm2 substrate. I treated U2OS cells with alsterpaullone, harvested the cells after zero, three, eight and twenty-four hours, separated the cell lysates by SDS-PAGE and analyzed E2F-1, p53,  $\beta$ -catenin and PCNA protein levels by western blotting.

As shown in Figure 3.12, the presence of alsterpaullone increased E2F-1 protein levels in a similar way to the p53 protein although the increase in p53 protein levels preceded the accumulation of E2F-1. This discrepancy may, however, be due to differences in protein expression and protein half-life. I also observed an increase in  $\beta$ -catenin expression under these conditions indicating that alsterpaullone was functional (Fig. 3.12; Frame and Cohen, 2001).



Figure 3.12. Inhibition of GSK 3 leads to the accumulation of E2F-1. U2OS cells were treated with alsterpaullone or left untreated for control. After the indicated times, cells were harvested. E2F-1,  $\beta$ -catenin, p53 and PCNA protein levels were determined by western blotting.

### 3.5 Inhibition of GSK 3 does not interfere with p53 ubiquitylation

Mdm2 mediates ubiquitylation and degradation of the p53 protein. As described in the introduction, several prerequisites are required for successful p53 ubiquitylation and degradation, e.g. localization of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins in the same compartment, interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins and Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity. These factors are tightly regulated via multiple posttranslational modifications of p53 and Mdm2 (Fig. 1.8) and via protein-protein interactions (Fig. 1.7).

Having established that GSK 3 phosphorylates the central domain of the Mdm2 protein where phosphorylation is essential for p53 degradation, I explored if mechanisms other than phosphorylation of the central domain of Mdm2 could account for the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to inhibition of GSK 3.

One of the plausible mechanisms that could interfere with Mdm2 mediated degradation of the p53 protein would be alteration of the phosphorylation pattern of the p53 protein at one of sites that are critical for Mdm2-mediated turnover of the p53 protein.

To test whether GSK 3 phosphorylates the p53 protein directly, I incubated Cos-7 cells for 4 hours with [<sup>32</sup>P]-orthophosphate in the presence or absence of the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone. I immunoprecipitated the p53 protein, purified it further by SDS-PAGE and subjected it to two-dimensional peptide analysis as described in section 3.1 for Mdm2.

Comparison of the two-dimensional peptide maps from alsterpaullone-treated and nontreated cells showed no alteration in the phosphorylation pattern of the p53 protein (Fig. 3.13). Since the p53 protein was derived from cells where the Mdm2 protein phosphorylation was altered (Figure 3.4), I can exclude the possibility that the inhibitor was nonfunctional. Therefore, I conclude that GSK 3 doesn't phosphorylate the p53 protein *in vivo* under normal physiological conditions (Figure 3.13).



**Figure 3.13. p53 is not phosphorylated by GSK 3.** Cos-7 cells were transfected with myctagged pcDNA3-mdm2. 48 hours after transfection, cells were incubated for 4 hours with [<sup>32</sup>P]orthophosphate in the absence or presence of alsterpaullone (see Fig. 3.4). p53 was precipitated using the DO-1 antibody coupled to Protein A sepharose and p53-antibody complexes were resolved by SDS-PAGE. p53 was eluted from the gel, digested with chymotrypsin, and the resulting peptides were separated by electrophoresis and chromatography.

Another mechanism that could trigger the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to GSK 3 inhibition would be spatial separation of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins. To investigate whether GSK 3 inhibition alters the sub-cellular localization of the p53 or Mdm2 proteins, I grew U2OS cells on coverslips, treated the cells with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone harvested the cells after zero, two and four hours and fixed the cells with an paraformaldehyde. To monitor p53 and Mdm2 localization, I incubated the slides with an

anti-p53 or anti-Mdm2 primary antibody, washed the slides and incubated them further with a fluorochrome-coupled secondary antibody.

In the control cells, I detected a rather weak but exclusively nuclear staining for the p53 and Mdm2 proteins (Fig. 3.14, I) but already at two hours after addition of alsterpaullone, nuclear abundance of p53 was significantly increased. For the Mdm2 protein, no change was detectable while the staining for the Mdm2 protein was still exclusively nuclear. After additional two hours of incubation, the intensity of the nuclear fluorescent signal for the p53 protein was even superior while the signal for the Mdm2 proteins were localized to the nucleus in the presence and absence of alsterpaullone. No cytoplasmic staining for the p53 or Mdm2 proteins was evident. Notably, the p53 protein accumulated in the presence of alsterpaullone despite the presence of the Mdm2 protein in the same cellular compartment (Fig. 3.14, I).



**Figure 3.14. GSK 3 inhibition does not change the intracellular localization of p53 and Mdm2.** (I) U2OS cells were treated with alsterpaullone for 2 and 4 hours, harvested and incubated with the 4B2 (mouse anti-Mdm2) and CM-1 (rabbit anti-p53) antibody followed by incubation with Cy2-coupled anti-mouse IgG and Cy3-coupled anti-rabbit IgG secondary antibodies. The Mdm2 protein is stained in green, the p53 protein in red. (II) H1299 cells were transfected with pcDNA3-p53 and wild type or mutant pcDNA3-mdm2. Twenty-four hours after transfection, cells were harvested and analysed for the expression of Mdm2 and p53 by immunofluorescence staining. Mdm2 is stained in green, p53 in red.

The fact that the p53 protein accumulated in the presence of Mdm2 reveals that the capacity of Mdm2 to target p53 for degradation must have been inactivated by other means. A conceivable possibility would be that the association of the p53 protein with the Mdm2 protein might be hampered when GSK 3 is inactivated. The p53 protein and the Mdm2 protein form stable complexes and this complex formation is important for the ability of the Mdm2 protein to target the p53 protein for degradation (Haupt et al., 1997). To investigate whether the p53 protein and the Mdm2 protein remain associated after GSK 3 inhibition, I transfected H1299 cells with p53 and Mdm2 coding plasmids. 24 hours after transfection, I treated cells with the GSK 3 inhibitors alsterpaullone (A), bisindolyImaleimide IX (B) or left them untreated for control. To obtain similar levels of the p53 protein in all samples despite the stabilization of p53 in the presence of GSK 3 inhibitors, I treated the cells with the proteasome inhibitor MG132. After harvesting the cells, I immunoprecipitated the p53 protein with the rabbit polyclonal anti-p53 antibody CM-1 (Midgley et al., 1992), separated the p53/antibody complexes by SDS-PAGE, transferred the proteins to a blotting membrane and determined the level of associating Mdm2 by incubating the membrane with an the 4B2 antibody, which is directed against Mdm2. For control, aliquots of cellular lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blotting for the expression of p53 and Mdm2.



**Figure 3.15. GSK 3 inhibition does not influence p53-Mdm2 interaction.** *left panel* H1299 cells were transfected with pcDNA3-p53 and pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2-4). 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours. 2 hours prior to harvest, alsterpaullone (A) or bisindolylmaleimide IX (B) were added (*experiment was done by Christine Blattner*). *right panel:* H1299 cells were transfected with pcDNA3-p53 (lane 1) or with pcDNA3-p53 and wild type pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2) or mutant mdm2 (lane 3 and 4). 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours. (I) p53 was precipitated using the CM-1 anti p53-antibody and complexes were separated by SDS-PAGE gel. Proteins were blotted onto a membrane and probed with the 4B2 (anti-Mdm2) antibody. Western blots were developed by ECL. (II) Cellular lysate was separated on a SDS PAGE gel and probed for the presence of Mdm2, p53 and PCNA.

Results

The Mdm2 protein was detectable with this assay in p53-immunoprecipitates both in control cells and in cells treated with the GSK 3 inhibitors. Moreover, there was not a slight difference between the differently treated cells with regard to the amount of coprecipitating Mdm2 protein (Fig. 3.15, I, *left panel*). Figure 3.15, II, *left panel* shows that equal amounts of p53 and Mdm2 were expressed in the differently treated cell samples. This result demonstrates that the activity of GSK 3 does not influence the interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins.

Α

B



**Figure 3.16. GSK 3 inhibition does not influence Mdm2/MdmX interaction.** *left panel:* U2OS cells were transfected with pcDNA3-HA-mdmX together with pcDNA3 (lane 1) or with pcDNA3-HA-mdmX and pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2-4). 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours. 2 hours prior to harvest, alsterpaullone (A) or bisindolylmaleimide IX (B) were added. *right panel:* U2OS cells were transfected with pcDNA3-HA-mdmX and pcDNA3 (lane 1) or with pcDNA3-HA-mdmX and wild type pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2) or mutant pcDNA3 (lane 1) or with pcDNA3-HA-mdmX and wild type pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2) or mutant pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 3 and 4). 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours and cells were lysed. **A:** MdmX/Mdm2 complexes were immunoprecipitated with an anti-HA antibody coupled to Protein A sepharose. The protein-antibody complexes were washed and separated on a SDS-PAGE gel. Proteins were transferred to a blotting membrane and probed with the 4B2 (anti-Mdm2) antibody. **B:** Total cellular lysate was separated on a SDS-PAGE gel and probed for the presence of Mdm2, MdmX and PCNA.

Since the p53 accumulated despite the interaction with and colocalization of the Mdm2 and p53 proteins in the same cellular compartment, other mechanisms must be responsible for p53 accumulation. For instance, the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the MdmX protein could be regulated by GSK 3. The MdmX protein stimulates Mdm2 activity to ubiquitylate and degrade the p53 protein (Gu et al., 2002). Dissociation of the Mdm2 and MdmX proteins should therefore reduce the ubiquitylation of the p53 protein.

To investigate whether inhibition of GSK 3 influences the interaction of the Mdm2 and MdmX proteins, I transfected U2OS cells with Mdm2 and HA-tagged MdmX. 24 hours after transfection, I treated the cells with the GSK 3 inhibitors alsterpaullone and bisindolylmaleimide IX or left them untreated for control, harvested the cells and prepared cell lysates. The HA-tagged MdmX protein was immunoprecipitated from the lysate with an antibody directed against the HA epitope and the complexes were resolved by SDS-PAGE. Co-precipitating Mdm2 protein levels was determined by incubating the Western blot membranes with the 4B2 anti-Mdm2 antibody. For control of the Mdm2 and MdmX protein expression, aliquots of cellular lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blotting (Fig. 3.16 B, *left panel*).

As shown in Fig. 3.16 A, *left panel*, comparable amounts of Mdm2 associated with Mdm2 in the presence and absence of the GSK 3 inhibitors. I therefore conclude that the association of the Mdm2 protein with the MdmX protein is independent of the activity of GSK 3.

In addition to the dissociation of Mdm2-p53 or Mdm2-MdmX complexes, other, so far unknown, mechanisms could influence p53 ubiquitylation and therefore block p53 degradation in response to GSK 3 inhibition. To address this possibility, I determined whether inhibition of GSK 3 reduces p53 ubiquitylation.

I transfected U2OS cells with His-tagged ubiquitin. The addition of the His-tag to the ubiquitin-protein allows the purification of ubiquitylated proteins by adsorption to Nickelagarose since the interaction is strong enough to be retained in highly chaotropic buffers. I treated the cells with the GSK 3 inhibitors alsterpaullone and bisindolylmaleimide IX or left them untreated for control. To obtain similar levels of the p53 protein in all samples despite the stabilization of p53 in the presence of GSK 3 inhibitors, I also treated the cells with the proteasomal inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours prior to lysis. Two hours after the addition of the GSK 3 inhibitors I harvested the cells and lysed them in a 6 M guanidinium buffer, which immediately blocks protein degradation. I purified ubiquitylated proteins by adsorption to Ni-agarose, separated them by SDS-PAGE and transferred them onto a blotting membrane. To monitor the levels of ubiquitylated p53 protein, I hybridized the membrane with the anti-p53 antibody DO-1. For control of the p53 protein levels, aliquots of cellular lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blotting (Fig. 3.17, II, *left panel*).

Figure 3.17, I, *left panel* shows that the p53 protein was still ubiquitylated in the presence of GSK 3 inhibitors. Moreover, independent on the presence or absence of the GSK 3

inhibitors, comparable amounts or the p53 protein were ubiquitylated and also the pattern of ubiquitylation was unaltered (Fig. 3.17, I, *left panel*). This result shows that inhibition of GSK 3 does not interfere with the ubiquitin-ligase activity of the Mdm2 protein and demonstrates that the p53 protein accumulates in response to GSK 3 inhibition despite its ubiquitylation. Therefore, inhibition of GSK 3 must interfere with a step in p53 degradation that is beyond p53 ubiquitylation.



**Figure 3.17. GSK 3 inhibition does not change p53 ubiquitylation.** *left panel:* U2OS cells were transfected with a plasmid encoding His-tagged ubiquitin. 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours. 2 hours prior to harvest, alsterpaullone (A) or bisindolylmaleimide IX (B) were added or cells were left untreated for control (C): *right panel:* H1299 cells were transfected with a plasmid encoding His-tagged ubiquitin, pcDNA3-p53 and wild type pcDNA3-p53 (lane 1) or with a plasmid encoding His-tagged ubiquitin, pcDNA3-p53 and wild type pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2) or mutant mdm2 (lane 3 and 4). 24 hours after transfection, cells were treated with the proteasome inhibitor MG132 for 5 hours. Aliquots of the cells were analysed for the presence of Mdm2, p53 and PCNA by Western blotting (II). The remaining cells were lysed in guanidinium lysis buffer. Ubiquitylated proteins were purified by adsorption to Ni<sup>2+</sup>-NTA-agarose beads, separated on a SDS-PAGE gel, transferred to a blotting membrane and probed for the presence of p53 (I).

## 3.6 GSK 3 regulates the Mdm2-proteasome interaction

Several reports support the hypothesis that in addition to its ubiquitin ligase activity, Mdm2 fulfills a function beyond p53 ubiquitylation in the pathway that leads to p53 degradation (Argentini et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2001; Blattner et al., 2002; Brignone et al., 2004). This function is associated with the central domain of the Mdm2 protein since deletion mutants of the central domain or point mutations of serine 238, 240, 244, 251, 254, 258 or 260 into an alanine allow p53 ubiquitylation but the ubiquitylated p53 protein is not degraded. One of the hypotheses for the nature of this function is that the central domain of Mdm2 may directly interact with the proteasome thus bringing ubiquitylated p53 protein to the place of its degradation.

To test whether the Mdm2 protein interacts with cellular proteasomes, I transfected U2OS cells with Myc-tagged Mdm2, treated the cells with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone or left them untreated for control and harvested the cells two hours after drug addition. I precipitated the proteasomes from cell lysates with an antibody against the S6b protein, one of the regulatory AAA ATPases of 19S proteasome. I separated the S6b-antibody complexes by SDS-PAGE and determined the level of co-precipitated Mdm2 protein by western blotting. For control of the Mdm2 protein expression, aliquots of cellular lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and analyzed by western blotting (Fig. 3.18 B).

In these experiments, I repeatedly obtained a weak but reproducible signal for the Mdm2 protein in the absence of GSK 3 inhibitors, indicating that the Mdm2 protein interacts with the proteasome (Fig. 3.18 A). Inhibition of GSK 3 significantly reduced the signal for the co-precipitated Mdm2 protein (Fig. 3.18 A), indicating that GSK 3-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 is important for the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with cellular proteasomes.

Α



**Figure 3.18. GSK 3 inhibition blocks the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome.** U2OS cells were transfected with pcDNA3-Myc-Mdm2 wild type or mutant where serines 251 and 254 are mutated into alanine. 2 hours prior to harvest, alsterpaullone was added. A: Mdm2/proteasome complexes were immunoprecipitated with an anti-S6b antibody coupled to Protein A sepharose. The protein-antibody complexes were washed and separated by SDS-PAGE. Proteins were transferred to a blotting membrane and probed with anti-Myc (Mdm2) antibody. B: Cellular lysates were separated by SDS-PAGE and probed for the presence of Mdm2 and PCNA.

## 3.7 Mutants of Mdm2 where GSK 3 consensus sites are mutated into alanine ubiquitylate p53 but do not promote p53 degradation

GSK 3 inhibition did not interfere with the interaction of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins or their localization, with the interaction of the Mdm2 and MdmX proteins or with Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity but it blocked the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. If the reason for the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to GSK 3

inhibition is indeed underphosphorylation of the GSK 3 consensus sites in the central domain of the Mdm2 protein in the absence of GSK 3 activity, one would expect that replacing GSK 3 phosphorylation sites in the Mdm2 protein with non-phosphorylatable residues should lead to the same effect.

To test this hypothesis, I transfected p53 negative H1299 cells with p53 and wild type Mdm2 or Mdm2 where serine 238 and 240 or serine 251 and 254 were replaced with an alanine (S238/240A Mdm2, S251/254A Mdm2). Twenty-four hours after transfection, I harvested the cells, separated the lysates by SDS-PAGE and determined p53, Mdm2 and PCNA levels by western blotting.

In consistence with published data, co-expression of wild type Mdm2 with p53 significantly reduced p53 protein levels due to targeting of the p53 protein for proteasomal degradation. In contrast, mutant Mdm2 protein (S238/240A Mdm2, S251/254A Mdm2) was not able to mediate p53 protein degradation (Fig. 3.19; Blattner et al., 2002).



**Figure 3.19. Hypophosphorylated Mdm2 does not degrade p53.** H1299 cells were transfected with pcDNA3-p53 (lanes 1-4) and wild type pcDNA3-mdm2 (lane 2) or pcDNA3-mdm2 possessing the indicated point mutations (lane 3 and 4). 24 hours after transfection, cells were harvested and analysed for p53, Mdm2 and PCNA by western blotting.

To investigate whether the interaction of the p53 protein with the Mdm2 protein, their localization, p53 ubiquitylation or the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the MdmX protein is affected by the mutations, I transfected H1299 cells with p53 and wild type Mdm2, S238/240A Mdm2 or/and S251/254A Mdm2. I harvested the cells 24 hours after transfection and analyzed the cellular lysate as described in section 3.5.

In complete agreement with the results I obtained when I inhibited GSK 3, mutation of the GSK 3 consensus sites in the Mdm2 protein did not affect the localization of the p53 protein or the Mdm2 protein (Fig. 3.14, II). It did also not alter the interaction of both proteins, (Fig. 3.15, *right panel*), or the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the MdmX protein (Fig. 3.16, *right panel*) nor p53 protein ubiquitylation (Fig. 3.17, *right panel*).

To determine whether the mutations in the Mdm2 protein prevent the association of the Mdm2 protein with cellular proteasomes as it occurred in the presence of GSK 3 inhibitors, I transfected U2OS cells with Mdm2 where serine 251 and 254 are replaced by

an alanine (S251,254A Mdm2). I harvested and precipitated the proteasomes from cell lysates with an antibody against the S6b protein. I separated the S6b-antibody complexes by SDS-PAGE and determined the level of co-precipitated Mdm2 protein as described in section 3.6. In contrast to wild type Mdm2, mutated Mdm2 did not associate with the proteasome (Fig. 3.18), indicating that phosphorylation of GSK 3 consensus sites in the central domain of Mdm2 is critical for association of Mdm2 with the proteasome.

As a summary, these results strongly argue that the accumulation of p53 in response to GSK 3 inhibition is related to the hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein.

## 3.8 GSK 3 is inhibited after ionizing irradiation

lonizing irradiation (IR) leads to hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein although the mechanism(s) are as yet unclear (Blattner et al., 2002). During my work, I observed that GSK 3 most likely phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein at some of the residues that are hypophosphorylated after IR. If GSK 3 was indeed a physiologic Mdm2 kinase, one would expect that phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein by GSK 3 must be somehow prevented after IR. One possibility to prevent phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein by GSK 3 is to inhibit GSK 3 activity. In cells, there are two distinct ways to inactivate GSK 3. GSK 3 can be inactivated either by disruption of multiprotein complexes that contain GSK 3 as it occurs after activation of the Wnt-signalling pathway or via phosphorylation of serine 9 in GSK 3 $\beta$  (serine 21 in GSK 3 $\alpha$ ) as it happens after activation of different signaling pathways (Fig. 1.9; Sutherland et al., 1993; Sutherland and Cohen, 1994). Since the possibility to inactivate GSK 3 in response to IR by phosphorylation of Ser9 was more likely event I analyzed whether GSK 3 is phosphorylated at Ser9 in response to IR.

I irradiated the human osteosarcoma U2OS cell line with 7.5 Gray by using a  $Co^{60}$ gamma-source and harvested the cells at different time points after irradiation. I prepared protein extracts, separated them by SDS-PAGE, transferred the proteins to a blotting membrane, cut the membrane into half and incubated the lower part of the membrane consecutively with an antibody directed against phosphorylated Ser9 of GSK 3 $\beta$ , and PCNA, for loading control. To monitor total levels of GSK 3 $\beta$ , I incubated the membrane with an anti-GSK 3 $\beta$  antibody. The upper part of the membrane, I hybridized with an Ab-2 antibody directed against the p53 protein.

In consistency with the hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein (Blattner et al., 2002), GSK 3 $\beta$  was phosphorylated within 5 minutes after IR. Phosphorylation was retained for 1.5 to 2 hours and declined thereafter to basal levels. The total GSK 3 $\beta$  protein levels did not change significantly under these conditions (Fig. 3.20 A). The p53 protein levels began to raise at twenty or forty minutes after IR and

Results

reached their maximum at four hours after IR. This result shows that phosphorylation of GSK  $3\beta$  at Ser9 clearly preceeds the accumulation of the p53 protein (Fig. 3.20 A).

To have confidence that the phosphorylation of GSK  $3\beta$  after IR corresponds indeed to its inhibition, I measured GSK 3 activity after IR.

I irradiated U2OS in a Co<sup>60</sup>-gamma-source and harvested the cells after different time periods. I incubated the cellular lysates with the pre-phosphorylated GSK 3 substrate phospho-glycogen synthase peptide-2 and radioactive  $\gamma$ -[<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. After 15 minutes of incubation, I applied the sample onto the P81 phosphocellulose paper, which binds phosphorylated substrate, and determined the amount of incorporated radioactive phosphate in the scintillation counter.

## Α



В



Figure 3.20. GSK 3 $\beta$  is inactivated towards primed substrates after ionizing irradiation. U2OS cells were irradiated and harvested after the indicated times. A: Proteins were separated by SDS PAGE and transferred to a blotting membrane. The membrane was probed for phospho-Ser9-GSK 3 $\beta$ , total GSK 3 $\beta$ , p53 and PCNA. B: The activity of GSK 3 $\beta$  towards primed substrates. Cellular lysates were incubated at 30°C with phospho-glycogen synthase peptide-2 and  $\gamma$ -[<sup>32</sup>P]-ATP. After 15 minutes incubation, substrate was washed on phosphocellulose paper P81 and the amount of incorporated phosphate was measured in scintillation counter. The average of two experiments was calculated and plotted.

In consistency with earlier report (Turenne et al., 2001), GSK 3 was inactivated in response to ionizing irradiation. The inactivation was evident as early as 10 min after irradiation and was retained for 2-3 hours. At four hours post-irradiation, GSK 3 activity was fully restored. Thus, inactivation of GSK 3 is completely consistent with the phosphorylation at Ser9 (Figure 3.20).

#### 3.9 Inactivation of GSK 3 contributes to p53 accumulation after IR

The delay between the phosphorylation of GSK 3 at Ser9 and the accumulation of the p53 protein would be consistent with a contributory role of the phosphorylation of GSK 3 and in consequence its inactivation, and the accumulation of the p53 protein. If both processes are causally related, then cells expressing a constitutively active form of GSK 3 should accumulate less of the p53 protein after ionizing irradiation than normal cells.

To test this principle, I generated a Flag-tagged mutant form of GSK 3 $\beta$  where Ser9 was replaced with an alanine by site-directed mutagenesis. This mutation makes the kinase refractory to inactivation by Ser9 phosphorylation (Eldar-Finkelman et al., 1996). For control, I also generated a Flag-tagged form of wild type GSK 3 $\beta$ . I transfected U2OS cells with the Flag-tagged wild type GSK 3 $\beta$ , with the Flag-tagged mutant GSK 3 $\beta$  or with the empty vector and grew the cells for 10 days in cell culture medium supplemented with 300 µg/ml neomycin. Expression of GSK 3 $\beta$  was confirmed by western blot analysis with anti-Flag antibodies. I irradiated the selected cells with 7.5 Gray in a Co<sup>60</sup>-gamma-source, harvested them at zero, one, two, four and six hours after irradiation and determined p53 protein levels by western blotting. I quantified the signal for the p53 and PCNA proteins densitometrically and normalized the signal that I obtained for the PCNA protein.

In support for the involvement of the GSK 3 protein in the p53 response to IR, the cell line that expressed the constitutively active mutant form of GSK 3 $\beta$  (S9A) accumulated significantly less of the p53 protein in response to IR in comparison to cells that had been transfected with the vector alone (Fig. 3.21). To my surprise, overexpression of wt GSK 3 $\beta$  also reduced the accumulation of the p53 protein (Fig. 3.21). In fact, there was hardly any difference between cells expressing wild type and mutant GSK 3. The basis for the behavior of cells that express either wild type or mutant GSK 3 is not entirely clear. Nevertheless, the reduction in p53 accumulation in response to IR in cells expressing wild type or mutant GSK 3 activity which is not significantly reduced in response to IR when cells overexpress wild type GSK 3 or a mutant where Ser9 is replaced with an alanine (Karen Böhme, unpublished observation). In summary, these data suggest that inactivation of GSK 3 $\beta$  in response to IR is required for the full accumulation of the p53 protein.

#### Results

## Α

В



Figure 3.21. Expression of a constitutive active GSK 3 mutant reduces p53 accumulation after ionizing irradiation. U2OS cells were transfected with Flag-tagged wild type GSK 3 $\beta$  or with mutant GSK 3 $\beta$  where serine 9 was replaced with an alanine. Transfected cells were selected for 10 days with 300  $\mu$ g/ml neomycin, irradiated and harvested after the indicated time. Proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and transferred to Immobilon P membrane. The membrane was probed for p53 and PCNA. A: Western blot. B: p53 and PCNA expression of four independent experiments were quantified and mean values of relative p53 expression were plotted. Relative p53 expression of non-irradiated cells was set as 1.

## DISCUSSION

## 4.1 The Mdm2 protein is a physiological substrate for GSK 3

In the last years, the significance of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein for the regulation of the p53 protein was underestimated. However, more recently the central domain of Mdm2 received more attention and several labs are now trying to unravel its function. It is clear that along with the N-terminus, which associates with the p53 protein and the C-terminal RING finger, which harbors the ubiquitin ligase function of the Mdm2 protein, the central domain is critical for p53 ubiquitylation and degradation (Argentini et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2001; Kawai et al., 2003; Meulmeester et al., 2003; Blattner et al., 2002). Though the precise mechanism, by which the central domain contributes to p53 ubiquitylation and degradation is as yet unclear. Several laboratories proposed a model in which the central acidic domain of the Mdm2 protein fulfills a function that is required for degradation of ubiquitylated p53 (Glockzin et al., 2003; Brignone et al., 2004). This model is supported by the observation that a number of deletion and point mutations in the central domain interfere with the degradation of the p53 protein, although they still allow its ubiquitylation.

Efficient degradation of the p53 protein depends on the phosphorylation of several serines in the Mdm2 protein, which are located in the middle of the central domain (Ser 238, Ser240, Ser244, Ser251, Ser254, Ser258, Ser260; Blattner et al., 2002). When these serines are replaced with an alanine, the p53 protein accumulates though it is fully ubiquitylated. Importantly, this region of the Mdm2 protein is hypophosphorylated in response to ionizing irradiation suggesting a role of the phosphorylation of the central domain in p53 regulation in response to DNA damage (Blattner et al., 2002). The acidic domain is heavily phosphorylated under normal conditions, and a few kinases have been shown to phosphorylate it (Zhang und Prives, 2001; Gotz et al., 1999; Winter et al., in press) but before I began with my PhD work no kinase was known that phosphorylates any of the serines that are crucial for the degradation of the p53 protein, which are serine 238, serine 240, serine 244, serine 251, serine 254, serine 258 and serine 260 of mouse Mdm2. In accordance to described observations kinases that phosphorylate this region must be active under normal physiological conditions, they are likely to be inhibited in response to DNA damage and the inhibition of the kinases should lead to p53 accumulation.

At the beginning of my PhD work, I found that glycogen synthase kinase 3 suites the mentioned requirements. Glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK 3) has initially been identified due to its activity in glycogen metabolism. It is now also well known for its activity in the Wnt signaling pathway (Patel et al., 2004). In the following years of my PhD work, I have addressed the question whether GSK 3 is a physiological kinase for the Mdm2 protein.

Along with CKI, GSK 3 is the only kinase requiring prior phosphorylation of its consensus site which is [S/T]xxx[S/T](P) (Fiol et al., 1987; x is any aminoacid). The presence of a phosphorylated serine or threonine at the +4 position increases phosphorylation efficiency by 100-1000 fold (Thomas et al., 1999). This property of GSK 3 makes the identification of GSK 3 substrates more complex since *in vitro* phosphorylation assays with bacterially expressed proteins are hardly conclusive. In accordance to it, when I expressed the Mdm2 protein in bacteria and phosphorylated it with recombinant GSK 3 protein, only 1 % of the molecules were phosphorylated. Using *in vitro* kinase assays I found that recombinant GSK 3 phosphorylated N-terminal and central domains of the Mdm2 protein. Moreover, two GSK 3 consensus sites that are present in the central domain were phosphorylated by GSK 3 as determined by two-dimensional peptide analysis.

While I was working on my PhD, Markus Winter, a former diploma student of our group, showed that CKI $\delta$  phosphorylates serine 244 of the Mdm2 protein (Winter et al., In press). Serine 244 lies at the +4-position within one of the two GSK 3 consensus sites of the Mdm2 protein. The finding that CKI $\delta$  phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein within the GSK 3 consensus site then allowed a two-step *in vitro* phosphorylation, first with the priming kinase CKI $\delta$ , which created the phosphorylated +4 residue for GSK 3, and then with GSK 3 $\beta$  itself. Pre-phosphorylation of bacterially expressed Mdm2 by CKI $\delta$  remarkably enhanced subsequent phosphorylation by GSK 3 $\beta$  thus supporting the idea that the Mdm2 protein may be an authentic GSK 3 substrate.

After having established that GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein in vitro, I addressed the question whether GSK 3 also phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein in a living cell. The obvious and most straightforward approach would be to use phosphorylation specific antibodies that are directed against the putative GSK 3 phosphorylation sites in the Mdm2 protein. Unfortunately, antibodies which recognize these residues are not available. As an alternative approach, I mapped the phosphopeptides of the Mdm2 protein and compared the phosphopeptide maps from cells that I had treated with the GSK 3 inhibitor alsterpaullone with phosphopeptide maps from control cells. As expected from the presence of the consensus site and the *in vitro* phosphorylation data, the two maps differed in the phosphorylation pattern. Phosphorylation of a single peptide was absent in the phosphopeptide maps of inhibitor-treated cells or cells which were transfected with dominant negative mutant of GSK 3<sup>β</sup> indicating that the Mdm2 protein is indeed a physiologic substrate for GSK 3. The large number of multiply phosphorylated peptides and the complexity of the Mdm2 phosphopeptide maps made it, however, very difficult to draw a final conclusion from these maps. To definitely answer the question whether GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein in vivo, I used another approach. I immunoprecipitated the Mdm2 protein from cells and employed this pre-phosphorylated Mdm2 protein in *in vitro* kinase assays. If Mdm2 is a physiologic substrate for GSK 3, only Mdm2 from cells that had been treated with the GSK 3 inhibitor should be phosphorylated by recombinant kinase since only in the presence of the inhibitor the Mdm2 protein remains unphosphoylated in cells (Fig. 3.5 A). As expected, Mdm2 derived from the GSK 3 inhibitor treated cells was phosphorylated stronger by recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  further proving Mdm2 to be a physiological substrate of GSK 3. Importantly, deletion of the central domain of Mdm2 completely prevented *in vitro* phosphorylation by recombinant GSK 3 $\beta$  suggesting that GSK 3 phosphorylates Mdm2 *in vivo* within the central domain (aa 200-300). More precise mapping of the phosphorylation site, however, was not possible since neither single point mutations nor small deletion mutants of the parts of the central domain in Mdm2 were not able to block GSK 3 dependent phosphorylation suggesting the existence of several phosphorylation sites within the central acidic domain of Mdm2.

Despite the fact that the GSK 3 protein phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein *in vitro* and the observation that the Mdm2 protein is phosphorylated in GSK 3-dependent manner in cells, my results do not entirely exclude the possibility that the Mdm2 protein may be phosphorylated in the cell by another kinase whose activity depends on GSK 3. Nevertheless, the fact that the Mdm2 and GSK 3 proteins interact *in vivo* supports my assumption that GSK 3 phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein directly.

Since the level of phosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein is reported to be critical for the degradation of the p53 protein (Blattner et al., 2002), p53 protein levels can be considered as an indication for the phosphorylation state of the Mdm2 protein, particularly if other effects of GSK 3 inhibition on p53 levels are excluded. Therefore, the effect of GSK 3 on p53 degradation was scrutiniously tested.

As expected, inhibition with structurally independent chemical inhibitors of GSK 3 led to p53 accumulation. Similarly, when I overexpressed GSK 3, p53 protein levels were reduced. When I determined the half-life of the p53 protein in the presence and absence of GSK 3 inhibitors, I observed a much longer half-life for the p53 protein in the presence of the GSK 3 inhibitor revealing that this increase is solely due to blocked degradation of p53. This view is supported by the fact that *p53* mRNA levels remained unchanged in the presence of GSK 3 inhibitor. When I knocked down Mdm2 expression by transfecting cells with Mdm2 siRNA, the p53 protein did no longer accumulate when GSK 3 was inhibited indicating the Mdm2 protein is required for the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to GSK 3 inhibition. The involvement of the Mdm2 protein is further supported by the observation that the E2F-1 protein, another Mdm2 substrate, also accumulates when GSK 3 is inhibited.

Since my results pointed to the involvement of the Mdm2 protein in the stabilization of the p53 protein in response to GSK 3 inhibition, I investigated whether principles other than hypophosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein could interfere with the degradation of the p53 protein in the absence of GSK 3 activity. In accordance to the principles of p53 degradation, which are discussed in detail in the introduction of my thesis (chapter 1.3; Fig. 1.4) several requirements need to be fulfilled to allow p53 degradation. The p53 and Mdm2 proteins must co-localize in the same cellular compartment and the two proteins must be able to associate. In addition, the ubiquitin ligase activity and the post-ubiquitylation function of Mdm2 must be present.

My results show that the inhibition of GSK 3 does not alter the intracellular localization of the p53 and Mdm2 proteins and it does not prevent their interaction. It also does not impair the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the MdmX protein and it does not reduce the ubiquitin ligase activity of the Mdm2 protein. In fact, inhibition of GSK 3 led to the accumulation of ubiquitylated p53, indicating that the post-ubiquitylation function of the Mdm2 protein is most likely affected. Importantly, inhibition of GSK 3 followed the same lines with regarding to p53 degradation as mutations of serines 238/240 or 251/254 into alanine, which include the GSK 3 consensus sites.

The accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 protein and the similarity of the response to GSK 3 inhibition with the activity of Mdm2 mutants where serines in the GSK 3 consensus sites were replaced with an alanine strongly suggest that the Mdm2 is phosphorylated at least at one of these sites in a GSK 3-dependent manner.

In summary, I conclude that the phosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein is the mechanism by which GSK 3 regulates p53 stability. Therefore, I assume that GSK 3 dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 can be analyzed indirectly, by controlling p53 levels. Based on this assumption, I will discuss whether Mdm2 conforms to the criteria for being a physiological GSK 3 substrate.

A few years ago, Philip Cohen suggested 7 criteria that need to be met to regard a protein as a physiological substrate of GSK 3 (Frame and Cohen, 2001; Table 4.1). Occassionally, it is hardly possible to test all criteria due to the complexity of GSK 3 regulation (Frame and Cohen, 2001). In consequence, only a few of the suggested substrates of GSK 3 have been shown to meet all requirements. Nevertheless, these requirements are regarded as a strategy for identifying physiological substrates of GSK 3.

1) The substrate should be shown, by phosphopeptide mapping and sequence analysis, to be phosphorylated by GSK3 in vitro at the same residue(s) that is (are) phosphorylated in vivo.

Mdm2 is phosphorylated *in vivo* at the serines 238, 240, 244, 251, 254, 258 and 260 (Blattner et al., 2002). As demonstrated by peptide mapping, several of these serines are phosphorylated by GSK 3 *in vitro*.

1) The substrate should be shown, by phosphopeptide mapping and sequence analysis, to be phosphorylated by GSK3 in vitro at the same residue(s) that is (are) phosphorylated in vivo.

2) Phosphorylation should be abolished by mutagenesis of this (these) site(s) to non-phosphorylatable residue(s).

3) The phosphorylation of the endogenous protein in cells should decrease in response to one or more signals known to inhibit GSK 3; dephosphorylation should occur with similar kinetics to the inhibition of GSK 3.

4) The endogenous protein should become dephosphorylated at the relevant site(s) in vivo when cells are incubated with cell-permeant inhibitors of GSK 3.

5) Phosphorylation of the residues targeted by GSK 3 should affect the function of the protein in a manner consistent with physiological effects of the agonist(s) that regulate(s) GSK 3 activity.

6) Phosphorylation of the protein at the GSK 3 site(s) should not occur in cells that carry targeted disruptions of the genes encoding GSK 3, and can be restored when GSK 3 is replaced.

7) Dephosphorylation of the protein at the GSK 3 site(s) should not occur in response to the appropriate signal in cells that do not express one of the protein kinases that lies upstream of GSK 3;

Table 4.1. Criteria for identifying physiological substrates of GSK 3 (Frame and Cohen, 2001).

2) Phosphorylation should be abolished by mutagenesis of this (these) site(s) to nonphosphorylatable residue(s).

The phosphorylation of Mdm2 by GSK 3 seems to occur at multiple sites and I failed to block the Mdm2 phosphorylation by mutating only one or two of the phosphorylation sites. However, the deletion of the central domain completely abolished phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein by GSK 3 in accordance to the second criterion.

3) The phosphorylation of the endogenous protein in cells should decrease in response to one or more signals known to inhibit GSK 3; dephosphorylation should occur with similar kinetics to the inhibition of GSK 3.

There are a few pathways known to regulate GSK 3 activity. Among them, the insulin signaling and Wnt signaling are the most studied ones (Patel et al., 2004). These two

pathways represent two different ways of GSK 3 regulation. In the Wnt pathway GSK 3 activity is regulated via the formation of specific protein-protein complexes, in the insulin signaling pathway PKB phosphorylates GSK 3 at Ser 9 (Ser 21 for GSK  $3\alpha$ ) thereby inhibiting GSK 3 activity towards the primed substrates (Patel et al., 2004). The inhibition is very transient as the insulin-induced PKB activation reaches the peak after 5 minutes and then it goes down to the basal level (Cross et al., 1995). The transient inhibition of GSK 3 is not sufficient to make any significant impact on Mdm2 phosphorylation and therefore, p53 stability. Physiologically relevant p53 regulation by GSK 3 should involve the stable inhibition of GSK 3, either indirectly, by inhibiting the priming kinase for Mdm2, which may be CKIô for Ser244 or an unknown kinase, or by prolonged inhibition of GSK 3 activity via its phosphorylation at Ser9 (Ser21 for GSK  $3\alpha$ ). In accordance to the requirements for an Mdm2 central domain kinase, GSK 3 should be inactivated after ionizing irradiation (IR). Indeed, it was reported previously that GSK 3 is inactivated in response to IR (Turenne and Price, 2001). In consistency with these data, I also observed that GSK  $3\beta$  is inactivated after IR via the inhibitory phosphorylation at Ser9. This phosphorylation was stable for several hours and preceded p53 accumulation. Interestingly enough, after dephosphorylation (reactivation) of GSK  $3\beta$ , p53 levels decreased as well (data not shown). Thus, p53 protein levels clearly correlated with GSK 3<sup>β</sup> activity. The kinetics of IR-induced dephosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein was not studied in this work in detail but it was shown before that it precedes the increase in p53 protein levels (Blattner et al., 2002) and it occurs at the same time as GSK 3 inactivation.

Therefore, according to the third criterion, it can be concluded that Mdm2 fits the requirement for a physiological GSK 3 substrate.

# 4) The endogenous protein should become dephosphorylated at the relevant site(s) in vivo when cells are incubated with cell-permeant inhibitors of GSK 3.

At the time of this study there were no specific inhibitors of GSK 3 known (Bain et al., 2003). Therefore, I tested several inhibitors of independent structure: lithium chloride, a classical inhibitor of GSK 3 that is used in therapy for bipolar disorder, bisindolylmaleimides I and IX and alsterpaullone (Hers et al., 1999; Leost et al., 2000; Jope, 2003). In all cases, treatment with GSK 3 inhibitors led to p53 accumulation. As a final prove of GSK 3 dependent p53 accumulation, I knocked-down GSK 3 $\beta$  expression by siRNA and again, I observed the accumulation of the p53 protein.

Phosphopeptide mapping of *in vivo* phosphorylated Mdm2 protein further supports the hypothesis that inhibition of GSK 3 with alsterpaullone or with a dominant negative mutant of GSK 3 (R96A) leads to the dephosphorylation of the Mdm2, in consistency with the accumulation of the p53 protein.

5) Phosphorylation of the residues targeted by GSK 3 should affect the function of the protein in a manner consistent with physiological effects of the agonist(s) that regulate(s) GSK 3 activity.

As it was discussed, GSK 3 activity is regulated by ionizing irradiation. The suggested GSK 3 phosphorylation sites are located in the central domain of Mdm2. IR leads to hypophosphorylation of the same residues resulting in p53 accumulation, which is consistent with my data on GSK 3 inhibition (Blattner et al., 2002).

6) Phosphorylation of the protein at the GSK 3 site(s) should not occur in cells that carry targeted disruptions of the genes encoding GSK 3, and can be restored when GSK 3 is replaced.

This criterion was not tested. GSK  $3\alpha$  /GSK  $3\beta$  double knockout cell lines are not reported so far, and creating them was not within the goals of my PhD work. However, the knockout of GSK  $3\beta$  with siRNA led to the accumulation of the p53 protein.

7) Dephosphorylation of the protein at the GSK 3 site(s) should not occur in response to the appropriate signal in cells that do not express one of the protein kinases that lie upstream of GSK 3;

The mechanism of GSK 3 phosphorylation and inactivation after IR is currently under investigation. So far no kinases are known that are responsible for GSK 3 inactivation after IR. The understanding of this mechanism will provide the tool to test the 7<sup>th</sup> criterion.

In summary, the Mdm2 protein meets 5 out of 7 criteria that are required to be regarded as a physiological substrate of GSK 3. The remaining 2 criteria are impossible to test at the moment due to the absence of the necessary research tools. Nevertheless, further investigations are required to identify the precise phosphorylation sites. The only possibility to reach this goal seems to be the use of phosphorylation specific antibodies against GSK 3 consensus sites. These antibodies, however, do not exist.

# 4.2 Phosphorylation of the central region of the Mdm2 protein regulates its interaction with the proteasome.

A number of studies demonstrated that ubiquitylation of the p53 protein is not sufficient for its successful degradation. Overexpression of the hRad23 or MdmX proteins, or point mutations or specific deletions within the central domain of the Mdm2 protein do not interfere with p53 ubiquitylation, but hamper or completely block its degradation (Argentini et al., 2001; Zhu et al., 2001; Stad et al., 2001; Blattner et al., 2002; Glockzin et al., 2003). In my work, I demonstrated that inhibition of GSK 3 leads to the accumulation of ubiquitylated p53. This finding supports the hypothesis that the Mdm2 protein has another

function beyond p53 ubiquitylation that mediates degradation of ubiquitylated p53. This new function seems to depend on the central acidic domain of the Mdm2 protein. One of the hypotheses that I put forward describes this function as an interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. This interaction is presumably required to bring ubiquitylated p53 to the place of its degradation. It is possible that the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome is mediated by a third protein. At least, two proteins that are capable of binding polyubiquitin chains and the proteasome at the same time, the hRad23 proteins are claimed to target the p53 protein for degradation (Glockzin et al, 2003; Brignone et al., 2004). The hRad23 proteins directly interact with the Mdm2 and S5a protein, one of the regulatory subunits of the 19S proteasome. This interaction makes an attractive link between the Mdm2 protein and the proteasome. Moreover, the hRad23 proteins are the only proteins so far that proved to be multi-ubiquitin receptors for the proteasome (Verma et al., 2004). However, current evidence argues against the involvement of hRad23 in the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. First, silencing of hRad23 with siRNA increases the rate of p53 degradation rather then decreases it what one would expect from the model (Brignone et al., 2004). Second, a degradation-defective mutant form of the Mdm2 protein ( $\Delta$ 211-240 aa) displays an increased binding to hRad23 but it is not able to target the p53 protein for degradation (Brignone et al., 2004). It is therefore more likely that the Mdm2 protein interacts directly with the proteasome, without the involvement of bridging proteins. As discussed in the introduction, several E3 ubiquitin ligases associate directly with the proteasome and at least for one of them, pVHL, binding to the proteasome is critical for targeting its substrate for degradation (Tsuchiya et al., 1996). To analyze whether the Mdm2 protein interacts with the proteasome, I investigated whether the Mdm2 protein interacts with one of the AAA ATPase subunits of the 19S regulatory part of the proteasome. In my work, I observed a weak but reproducible interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the S6b subunit of the proteasome. Importantly, inhibition of GSK3 with alsterpaullone or replacement of the potential GSK 3 phosphorylation site Ser254 with an alanine reduced the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome significantly. This observation provides an important clue towards the mechanism how phosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein may influence p53 degradation. Phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein (by GSK 3 and/or other kinases) may regulate the direct interaction of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome. In this case inhibition of the phosphorylation would lead to the dissociation of the Mdm2 protein from the proteasome. Another plausible explanation for the reduction in the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome would be the intrasteric inhibition of Mdm2 by its central domain when it is dephosphorylated. The Mdm2 protein is a very flexible protein that undergoes global conformational changes upon binding to different ligands, e.g. p53, zinc ions and RNA (Burch et al., 2000; Burch et al., 2004). Future

investigations should address the question whether phosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein might regulate global conformation of the Mdm2 protein.

The possibility to regulate Mdm2 function via phosphorylation could provide a highly interesting possibility to regulate p53 function by small molecule kinase inhibitors. Such inhibitors are easy to develop in contrast to the drugs blocking protein-protein interactions since they are effective in their action and cell permeable. Since many tumors have defective p53 pathways, such inhibitors could present perspective drugs for activation of p53 to cure cancer.

## 4.3 The accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 leads to selective activation of *p21/waf1* and mdm2 transcription

An important aspect of GSK 3-dependent regulation of the p53 protein is its transcriptional activity. For a possible employment in tumor therapy, it is of utmost importance whether the p53 protein retains its capacity to activate transcription of its target genes when GSK 3 is inhibited. This is particularly interesting since inhibition of GSK 3 has been shown to reduce the capacity of p53 to activate gene transcription (Watcharasit et al., 2003). In consistency with earlier reports (Mao et al., 2001), I observed a strong increase of mRNA levels of p53 target gene *p21/waf1* in the presence of the GSK 3 inhibitor lithium chloride. Thus it appears as if the raise in the p53 protein level after GSK 3 inhibition is able to overcome the inhibitory effect of GSK 3 inhibition on p53-dependent transcription leading to a positive net result and the activation of p53 target genes. Interestingly, among the other p53 target genes, that I investigated, only *Mdm2* mRNA levels were increased. In contrast, transcription of the pro-apoptotic genes *bax* and *puma* was not altered after GSK 3 inhibition. This result opens the intriguing possibility that ubiquitylated p53 may specifically induce promoters of genes that are involved in growth arrest but not promotors of proapoptotic genes.

Mechanisms that contribute to the cellular decision whether a cell dies or arrests in response to p53 activation is currently intensely investigated (Wahl and Carr, 2001). Particularly the question what makes p53 to induce transcription from only a subset of the promoters is as yet unclear. The observation that the ubiquitylated p53 protein is transcriptionally active but induces only the *p21/waf1* and *mdm2* promoter could provide this long sought mechanism.

It is known that the promoters of proapoptotic genes (*DR5/Killer*, *PIG3*, *PTEN*, *FAS/apo1*, *PUMA* and *p53AIP1*) and of genes involved in growth arrest/DNA repair response (*p21*, *14-3-3* $\sigma$  and *GADD45*) have different levels of loaded transcription preinitiation complexes in the absence of DNA damage (Espinosa et al., 2003). The *p21/waf1* promotor, for instance, is pre-loaded with paused RNA Pol II in normal cells. Once the p53 protein is activated in response to DNA damage, transcription starts (Espinosa et al., 2003). For

proapoptotic genes, however, the assembly of the transcription preinitiation complexes occurs after the DNA has been damaged and this process requires active p53 (Espinosa et al., 2003). A very recent report suggests that the C-terminus of the p53 protein is required for linear diffusion along the DNA (McKinney et al., 2004). It is likely that this linear diffusion allows the p53 protein to find its target sites in promoters. The same lysines that are acetylated and ubiquitylated are important for this function of the p53 protein (Weinberg et al., 2004). While acetylation or phosphorylation of the C-terminus have hardly any effect on the DNA-sliding activity of the p53 protein (McKinney et al., 2004), ubiquitin moieties are more bulky and could possibly block linear diffusion. Therefore, it is tempting to assume that the accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 interferes with the assembly of transcription preinitiation complexes on promotors of proapoptotic genes while it doesn't block the transcription from the p21/waf1 promotor because this promoter is already preloaded with RNA Pol II in normal unstressed cells. According to this hypothesis, ubiquitylation of the p53 protein could represent the molecular switch that determines whether the cell becomes growth arrested or whether it undergoes apoptosis. DNA damage leads to p53 accumulation via several mechanisms, among which are the disruption of p53/Mdm2 interaction, their intracellular relocalization, inhibition of Mdm2 ubiquitin ligase activity via interaction with nucleolar proteins or the block of Mdm2proteasome interaction via hypophosphorylation of the central domain of Mdm2 (Fei and El-Deiry, 2003; Ruby and Milner, 2003; Blattner et al., 2002; this work). Depending on the balance between the mechanisms, DNA damage may lead to the accumulation of ubiquitylated or non-ubiquitylated p53 protein, which as a consequence determines the cell fate by inducing transcription of a specific subset of p53 target genes.

In my work, I discovered a pathway that leads specifically to the accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 protein after DNA damage. It would be extremely interesting to see whether a selective block of such a pathway after DNA damage would change the cellular decision to live or to die.

# 4.4 GSK 3 contributes to the activation of the p53 protein in response to DNA damage

Although I have found that GSK 3 is phosphorylated at serine 9 and inactivated towards primed substrates in response to DNA damage and that this phosphorylation precedes p53 accumulation, it doesn't prove that GSK 3 inactivation is involved in the process that leads to the stabilization of the p53 protein in response to DNA damage. To prove the participation of GSK 3 in the process, I prevented DNA-damage induced phosphorylation of GSK 3 by replacing Ser9 in GSK 3 $\beta$  with a alanine. This mutant form of GSK 3 should be refractory to ionizing irradiation. I transfected either the mutant form (S9A), wild type GSK 3 $\beta$  or a vector control into U2OS cells. Importantly, when I irradiated the cells, the

accumulation of the p53 protein in response to DNA damage was partially blocked in cells that were transfected with mutant GSK 3 suggesting that GSK 3 inhibition contributes to the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to DNA damage. Surprisingly, the cells transfected with wild type GSK 3 did not accumulate p53 to the same levels as control vector transfected cells. This could be possibly explained by a limited phosphorylation of GSK 3 at Ser9 that is not sufficient to inactivate overexpressed GSK 3 in response to DNA damage. Indeed, when the activity of immunoprecipitated GSK 3 was measured, no significant inhibition of overexpressed wild type and mutant GSK 3 in response to DNA damage was observed (unpublished observation, Karen Böhme).

The link between p53 and GSK 3 has already been suggested in previous reports but in a different context. It was reported that GSK 3 directly interacts with the p53 protein after DNA damage stimulating its transcriptional activity (Watcharasit et al., 2002; Watcharasit et al., 2003). GSK 3 phosphorylation sites were identified in the p53 protein. While an initial study suggested Ser33 based on in vitro kinase assays (Turenne and Price, 2001), a more recent report identified two other serines in the p53 protein namely Ser315 and Ser376, that are phosphorylated by GSK 3 in vivo in response to endoplasmic reticulum (ER) stress (Qu et al., 2004). In my experiments I have not observed a GSK 3 dependent phosphorylation of the p53 protein at any of the sites. However, this does not contradict published data since phosphorylation of the p53 protein by GSK 3 was observed in response to ER-stress or DNA damage induced by the drug capmtothecin and not in unstressed cells (Turenne and Price, 2001; Qu et al., 2004). Jope and co-workers showed that DNA damage, induced by camptothecin, activated GSK 3 that was bound to the p53 protein (Watcharasit et al., 2002; Watcharasit et al., 2003). However, I have observed that ionizing irradiation leads to the phosphorylation of GSK 3 at Ser-9 and therefore, to its inactivation. Although the reports from Jope and co-workers and my results are contradictory, there may be a simple explanation. It is possible that the difference in the cellular reaction is caused by the difference in the nature of the stimuli. Ionizing irradiation initiates the formation of reactive oxygen radicals, single and double DNA strand breaks (Ward, 1988; Lyng et al., 2001), whereas camptothecin induces DNA damage by inhibiting DNA topoisomerase I (Thomas et al., 2004). It would therefore be conceivable that GSK 3 is not inactivated by the DNA double strand breaks but by oxidative stress which is generated by the insult (Shaw et al., 1998). However, I found that GSK 3 was also phosphorylated in response to treatment with the radiomimetic drug bleomycin (lgbal et al., 1976), as well as in response to treatment with H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, an inducer of oxidative stress (data not shown). This result suggests that both, DNA damage and oxidative stress, can lead to GSK 3 inhibition.

The discrepancy in my results and observations of Jope and co-workers might be also explained by differential regulation of GSK 3 towards primed versus non-primed substrates. Actually, GSK 3 activity towards the non-primed substrates doesn't depend on the Ser9 phosphorylation (Frame et al., 2001). In fact, in my experiments phosphorylation of the non-primed protein Tau by GSK 3 $\beta$  was stimulated after irradiation (data not shown), while at the same time phosphorylation of the primed substrate phosphorylated at Ser9 may be active towards non-primed substrates and inactive towards the primed substrates. Jope and co-workers have measured GSK 3 $\beta$  activity after DNA damage using non-primed GSK 3 substrate Tau protein (Watcharasit et al., 2002) which is then consistent with my results.

Importantly, the p53 protein seems to be a non-primed substrate for GSK 3 because it is phosphorylated very efficiently *in vitro* in the absence of a priming phosphorylation and the p53 *in vivo* phosphorylation sites identified so far are Ser-315 and Ser-376 which cannot be primed (Qu et al., 2004). The role of GSK 3 in the activation of the p53 protein therefore seems to be dual. First, GSK 3 $\beta$  becomes phosphorylated at serine 9 and inactivated within the first 30 minutes after DNA damage. This leads to the hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. It is most likely that additional kinases, including GSK 3 priming kinases, phosphorylate the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. As a consequence, ubiquitylated p53 accumulates in the nucleus. At the same time, GSK 3 becomes activated towards non-primed substrates and stimulates the activity of accumulated p53 via the non-primed phosphorylation. Such regulation is rather unexpected and future investigations will show whether it may be true.

### 4.5 Model of p53 regulation by GSK 3: conclusion

GSK 3 inhibition is generally considered to have a pro-survival role. The inhibition of GSK 3 by lithium or small-molecule inhibitors protects primary neurons from death (Li et al., 2002; Cross et al., 2001) and this protective role is possibly mediated by inhibition of GSK 3-induced apoptosis (reviewed in: Grimes and Jope, 2001). My data suggest a novel mechanism by which GSK 3 could regulate cell survival and apoptosis, namely by phosphorylating the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. This phosphorylation stimulates the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome and allows degradation of ubiquitylated p53 (Fig. 4.1).

At least one signal is discovered that blocks GSK 3 dependent degradation of the p53 protein. GSK  $3\beta$  becomes phosphorylated and inactivated in response to ionizing irradiation and this inactivation of GSK  $3\beta$  leads to Mdm2 hypophosphorylation and

contributes to p53 accumulation. The p53 protein that accumulates in response to GSK 3 inhibition is transcriptionally active and activates transcription of the *p21/waf1* and *mdm2* genes but not pro-apoptotic genes.



**Figure 4.1. Model of p53 regulation by GSK 3.** GSK 3 is a constitutively active kinase that phosphorylates the Mdm2 protein within the central domain. Phosphorylation of the Mdm2 protein is critical for the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome and for targeting the ubiquitylated p53 protein for the proteasomal degradation. In response to DNA damage, GSK 3 $\beta$  becomes inactivated by phosphorylation of Ser9 that leads in turn to hypophosphorylation of the central domain of the Mdm2 protein. It blocks the interaction of the Mdm2 protein with the proteasome and leads to the accumulation of ubiquitylated p53 protein. Ubiquitylated p53 activates transcription of *p21* and *mdm2*.

This model of GSK 3-dependent degradation of the p53 protein raises many interesting questions that should be addressed in the future. First of all, the physiological consequences of the accumulation of the p53 protein in response to GSK 3 inhibition should be analyzed. It is possible that the increase in *p21* levels in response to p53 accumulation after GSK 3 inhibition initiates growth arrest. This idea is supported by the recent observation that prolonged inhibition of GSK 3 by lithium chloride leads to quiescence in WI-38 human fibroblasts (Zmijevsky and Jope, 2004). Interestingly, several reports demonstrated that the p53 protein protects fibroblasts from apoptosis after ionizing

and UV irradiation (Lackinger et al., 2001; McKay et al., 2000; McKay et al., 2001). It is therefore conceivable that GSK 3 might participate in this protective effect by regulating p53 abundance and transcription of p53 target genes in response to DNA damage. Another interesting question is whether regulation of GSK 3 activity by signaling pathways like Wnt signaling or insulin signaling can affect the p53 response after DNA damage and therefore influence whether cells arrest or die.

Multiple stress response pathways activate p53 protein that leads to cell-cycle arrest, DNA repair, cellular senescence or apoptosis. Since GSK 3 activity is regulated by different signaling cascades, it might provide a novel link between p53 stress responses and many cellular GSK 3-regulated pathways as diverse as glucose metabolism, protein synthesis, microtubule dynamics, cell motility and Wnt-signalling.

## 5. REFERENCES

Alarcon-Vargas, D. and Ronai, Z. (2002) p53-Mdm2-the affair that never ends. *Carcinogenesis*, **23**, 541-7.

Amit, S., Hatzubai, A., Birman, Y., Andersen, J.S., Ben-Shushan, E., Mann, M., Ben-Neriah, Y. and Alkalay, I. (2002) Axin-mediated CKI phosphorylation of beta-catenin at Ser 45: a molecular switch for the Wnt pathway. *Genes Dev*, **16**, 1066-76.

Argentini, M., Barboule, N. and Wasylyk, B. (2001) The contribution of the acidic domain of MDM2 to p53 and MDM2 stability. *Oncogene*, **20**, 1267-75.

Asahara, H., Li, Y., Fuss, J., Haines, D.S., Vlatkovic, N., Boyd, M.T. and Linn, S. (2003) Stimulation of human DNA polymerase epsilon by MDM2. *Nucleic Acids Res*, **31**, 2451-9.

Ashcroft, M., Kubbutat, M.H., Vousden, K.H. (1999) Regulation of p53 function and stability by phosphorylation. *Mol Cell Biol*, **19**, 1751-8.

Ashcroft, M., Ludwig, R.L., Woods, D.B., Copeland, T.D., Weber, H.O., MacRae, E.J. and Vousden KH. (2002) Phosphorylation of HDM2 by Akt. *Oncogene*, **21**, 1955-62.

Bain, J., McLauchlan, H., Elliott, M. and Cohen, P. (2003) The specificities of protein kinase inhibitors: an update. *Biochem J*, **371**, 199-204.

Baker, S.J., Fearon, E.R., Nigro, J.M., Hamilton, S.R., Preisinger, A.C., Jessup, J.M., van Tuinen, P., Ledbetter, D.H., Barker, D.F., Nakamura, Y., White, R. and Vogelstein, B. (1989) Chromosome 17 deletions and p53 gene mutations in colorectal carcinomas. *Science*, **244**, 217-21.

Barak, Y., Juven, T., Haffner, R. and Oren, M. (1993) mdm2 expression is induced by wild type p53 activity. *EMBO J*, **12**, 461-8.

Ben-Saadon, R., Fajerman, I., Ziv, T., Hellman, U., Schwartz, A.L. and Ciechanover A. (2004) The tumor suppressor protein p16(INK4a) and the human papillomavirus oncoprotein-58 E7 are naturally occurring lysine-less proteins that are degraded by the ubiquitin system. Direct evidence for ubiquitination at the N-terminal residue. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 41414-21.

Bijur, G.N. and Jope, R.S. (2003) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta is highly activated in nuclei and mitochondria. *Neuroreport*, **14**, 2415-9.

Blattner, C., Sparks, A. and Lane, D. (1999a) Transcription factor E2F-1 is upregulated in response to DNA damage in a manner analogous to that of p53. *Mol Cell Biol*, **19**, 3704-13.

Blattner, C., Tobiasch, E., Litfen, M., Rahmsdorf, H.J. and Herrlich, P. (1999b) DNA damage induced p53 stabilization: no indication for an involvement of p53 phosphorylation. *Oncogene*, **18**, 1723-32.

Blattner, C., Hay, T., Meek, D.W. and Lane D.P. (2002) Hypophosphorylation of Mdm2 augments p53 stability. *Mol Cell Biol*, **22**, 6170-82.

Bode, A.M. and Dong, Z. (2004) Post-translational modification of p53 in tumorigenesis. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **4**, 793-805.

Boname, J.M. and Stevenson, P.G. (2001) MHC class I ubiquitination by a viral PHD/LAP finger protein. *Immunity*, **15**, 627-36.

Bottger, A., Bottger, V., Garcia-Echeverria, C., Chene, P., Hochkeppel, H.K., Sampson, W., Ang, K., Howard, S.F., Picksley, S.M. and Lane, D.P. (1997) Molecular characterization of the hdm2-p53 interaction. *J Mol Biol*, **269**, 744-56.

Breitschopf, K., Bengal, E., Ziv, T., Admon, A. and Ciechanover, A. (1998) A novel site for ubiquitination: the N-terminal residue, and not internal lysines of MyoD, is essential for conjugation and degradation of the protein. *EMBO J*, **17**, 5964-73.

Brignone, C., Bradley, K.E., Kisselev, A.F., Grossman, S.R. (2004) A post-ubiquitination role for MDM2 and hHR23A in the p53 degradation pathway. *Oncogene*, **23**, 4121-9.

Burch, L.R., Midgley, C.A., Currie, R.A., Lane, D.P. and Hupp, T.R. (2000) Mdm2 binding to a conformationally sensitive domain on p53 can be modulated by RNA. *FEBS Lett*, **472**, 93-8.

Burch, L., Shimizu, H., Smith, A., Patterson, C. and Hupp, T.R. (2004) Expansion of protein interaction maps by phage peptide display using MDM2 as a prototypical conformationally flexible target protein. *J Mol Biol*, **337**, 129-45.

Buschmann, T., Lerner, D., Lee, C.G. and Ronai, Z. (2001) The Mdm-2 amino terminus is required for Mdm2 binding and SUMO-1 conjugation by the E2 SUMO-1 conjugating enzyme Ubc9. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 40389-95.

Cahilly-Snyder, L., Yang-Feng, T., Francke, U. and George, D.L. (1987) Molecular analysis and chromosomal mapping of amplified genes isolated from a transformed mouse 3T3 cell line. *Somat Cell Mol Genet*, **13**, 235-44.

Chehab, N.H., Malikzay, A., Stavridi, E.S. and Halazonetis, T.D. (1999) Phosphorylation of Ser-20 mediates stabilization of human p53 in response to DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **96**, 13777-82.

Chen, C. and Okayama, H. (1987). High-efficiency transformation of mammalian cells by plasmid DNA. *Mol Cell Biol*, **7**, 2745-2752.
Chen, J., Marechal, V. and Levine, A.J. (1993) Mapping of the p53 and mdm-2 interaction domains. *Mol Cell Biol*, **13**, 4107-14.

Chen, J., Lin, J. and Levine, A.J. (1995) Regulation of transcription functions of the p53 tumor suppressor by the mdm-2 oncogene. *Mol Med*, **1**, 142-52.

Chiou, S.K. and White, E. (1997) p300 binding by E1A cosegregates with p53 induction but is dispensable for apoptosis. *J Virol*, **71**, 3515-25.

Cho, J.H. and Johnson, G.V. (2003) Glycogen synthase kinase 3beta phosphorylates tau at both primed and unprimed sites. Differential impact on microtubule binding. *J Biol Chem*, **278**, 187-93.

Corn, P.G., McDonald, E.R. 3rd, Herman, J.G. and El-Deiry, W.S. (2003) Tat-binding protein-1, a component of the 26S proteasome, contributes to the E3 ubiquitin ligase function of the von Hippel-Lindau protein. *Nat Genet*, **35**, 229-37.

Coscoy, L., Sanchez, D.J. and Ganem, D. (2001) A novel class of herpesvirus-encoded membrane-bound E3 ubiquitin ligases regulates endocytosis of proteins involved in immune recognition. *J Cell Biol*, **155**, 1265-73.

Cross, D.A., Alessi, D.R., Cohen, P., Andjelkovich, M. and Hemmings, B.A. (1995) Inhibition of glycogen synthase kinase-3 by insulin mediated by protein kinase B. *Nature*, **378**, 785-9.

Cross, D.A., Culbert, A.A., Chalmers, K.A., Facci, L., Skaper, S.D. and Reith, A.D. (2001) Selective small-molecule inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity protect primary neurones from death. *J Neurochem*, **77**, 94-102.

Cyr, D.M., Hohfeld, J. and Patterson, C. (2002) Protein quality control: U-box-containing E3 ubiquitin ligases join the fold. *Trends Biochem Sci*, **27**, 368-75.

Dai, M.S. and Lu, H. (2004) Inhibition of MDM2-mediated p53 Ubiquitination and Degradation by Ribosomal Protein L5. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 44475-82.

Dai, M.S., Zeng, S.X., Jin, Y., Sun, X.X., David, L. and Lu, H. (2004) Ribosomal protein L23 activates p53 by inhibiting MDM2 function in response to ribosomal perturbation but not to translation inhibition. *Mol Cell Biol*, **24**, 7654-68.

Dang, J., Kuo, M.L., Eischen, C.M., Stepanova, L., Sherr, C.J. and Roussel MF. (2002) The RING domain of Mdm2 can inhibit cell proliferation. *Cancer Res*, **62**, 1222-30.

de Toledo, S.M., Azzam, E.I., Dahlberg, W.K., Gooding, T.B. and Little, J.B. (2000) ATM complexes with HDM2 and promotes its rapid phosphorylation in a p53-independent manner in normal and tumor human cells exposed to ionizing radiation. *Oncogene*, **19**, 6185-93.

Diehl, J.A., Cheng, M., Roussel, M.F. and Sherr, C.J. (1998) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta regulates cyclin D1 proteolysis and subcellular localization. *Genes Dev*, **12**, 3499-511.

Dornan, D., Wertz, I., Shimizu, H., Arnott, D., Frantz, G.D., Dowd, P., O'Rourke, K., Koeppen, H. and Dixit, V.M. (2004) The ubiquitin ligase COP1 is a critical negative regulator of p53. *Nature*, **429**, 86-92.

Eldar-Finkelman, H., Argast, G.M., Foord, O., Fischer, E.H. and Krebs, E.G. (1996) Expression and characterization of glycogen synthase kinase-3 mutants and their effect on glycogen synthase activity in intact cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **93**, 10228-33.

Elenbaas, B., Dobbelstein, M., Roth, J., Shenk, T. and Levine, A.J. (1996) The MDM2 oncoprotein binds specifically to RNA through its RING finger domain. *Mol Med*, **2**, 439-51.

Embi, N., Rylatt, D.B. and Cohen, P. (1980) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 from rabbit skeletal muscle. Separation from cyclic-AMP-dependent protein kinase and phosphorylase kinase. *Eur J Biochem*, **107**, 519-27.

Espinosa, J.M., Verdun, R.E. and Emerson, B.M. (2003) p53 functions through stress- and promoter-specific recruitment of transcription initiation components before and after DNA damage. *Mol Cell*, **12**, 1015-27.

Fakharzadeh, S.S., Trusko, S.P. and George, D.L. (1991) Tumorigenic potential associated with enhanced expression of a gene that is amplified in a mouse tumor cell line. *EMBO J*, **10**, 1565-9.

Fang, S., Jensen, J.P., Ludwig, R.L., Vousden, K.H. and Weissman, A.M. (2000) Mdm2 is a RING finger-dependent ubiquitin protein ligase for itself and p53. *J Biol Chem*, **275**, 8945-51.

Fang, S. and Weissman, A.M. (2004) A field guide to ubiquitylation. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, **61**, 1546-61.

Fei, P. and El-Deiry, W.S. (2003) P53 and radiation responses. Oncogene, 22, 5774-83.

Feng, J., Tamaskovic, R., Yang, Z., Brazil, D.P., Merlo, A., Hess, D. and Hemmings, B.A. (2004) Stabilization of Mdm2 via decreased ubiquitination is mediated by protein kinase B/Akt-dependent phosphorylation. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 35510-7.

Finlay, C.A., Hinds, P.W. and Levine, A.J. (1989) The p53 proto-oncogene can act as a suppressor of transformation. *Cell*, **57**, 1083-93.

Fiol, C.J., Mahrenholz, A.M., Wang, Y., Roeske, R.W. and Roach, P.J. (1987) Formation of protein kinase recognition sites by covalent modification of the substrate. Molecular mechanism for the synergistic action of casein kinase II and glycogen synthase kinase 3. *J Biol Chem*, **262**, 14042-8.

Frame, S. and Cohen, P. (2001) GSK3 takes centre stage more than 20 years after its discovery. *Biochem J*, **359**, 1-16.

Frame, S., Cohen, P. and Biondi, R.M. (2001) A common phosphate binding site explains the unique substrate specificity of GSK3 and its inactivation by phosphorylation. *Mol Cell*, **7**, 1321-7.

Glockzin, S., Ogi, F.X., Hengstermann, A., Scheffner, M. and Blattner, C. (2003) Involvement of the DNA repair protein hHR23 in p53 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, **23**, 8960-9.

Goldberg, Z., Vogt Sionov, R., Berger, M., Zwang, Y., Perets, R., Van Etten, R.A., Oren, M., Taya, Y. and Haupt, Y. (2002) Tyrosine phosphorylation of Mdm2 by c-Abl: implications for p53 regulation. *EMBO J*, **21**, 3715-27.

Goode, N., Hughes, K., Woodgett, J.R. and Parker, P.J. (1992) Differential regulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta by protein kinase C isotypes. *J Biol Chem*, **267**, 16878-82.

Gotz, C., Kartarius, S., Scholtes, P., Nastainczyk, W. and Montenarh, M. (1999) Identification of a CK2 phosphorylation site in mdm2. *Eur J Biochem*, **266**, 493-501.

Grimes, C.A., Jope, R.S. (2001) The multifaceted roles of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta in cellular signaling. *Prog Neurobiol*, **65**, 391-426.

Gronroos, E., Terentiev, A.A., Punga, T. and Ericsson, J. (2004) YY1 inhibits the activation of the p53 tumor suppressor in response to genotoxic stress. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **101**, 12165-70.

Grossman, S.R., Perez, M., Kung, A.L., Joseph, M., Mansur, C., Xiao, Z.X., Kumar, S., Howley, P.M. and Livingston, D.M. (1998) p300/MDM2 complexes participate in MDM2-mediated p53 degradation. *Mol Cell*, **2**, 405-15.

Grossman, S.R., Deato, M.E., Brignone, C., Chan, H.M., Kung, A.L., Tagami, H., Nakatani, Y. and Livingston, D.M. (2003) Polyubiquitination of p53 by a ubiquitin ligase activity of p300. *Science*, **300**, 342-4.

Gu, J., Kawai, H., Nie, L., Kitao, H., Wiederschain, D., Jochemsen, A.G., Parant, J., Lozano, G. and Yuan, Z.M. (2002) Mutual dependence of MDM2 and MDMX in their functional inactivation of p53. *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 19251-4.

Hagen, T., Di Daniel, E., Culbert, A.A. and Reith, A.D. (2002) Expression and characterization of GSK-3 mutants and their effect on beta-catenin phosphorylation in intact cells. *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 23330-5.

Hartmann-Petersen, R. and Gordon, C. (2004) Protein degradation: recognition of ubiquitinylated substrates. *Curr Biol*, **14**, R754-6.

Haupt, Y., Maya, R., Kazaz, A. and Oren, M. (1997) Mdm2 promotes the rapid degradation of p53. *Nature*, **387**, 296-9.

Hay, T.J. and Meek, D.W. (2000) Multiple sites of in vivo phosphorylation in the MDM2 oncoprotein cluster within two important functional domains. *FEBS Lett*, **478**, 183-6.

Hers, I., Tavare, J.M. and Denton, R.M. (1999) The protein kinase C inhibitors bisindolylmaleimide I (GF 109203x) and IX (Ro 31-8220) are potent inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3 activity. *FEBS Lett*, **460**, 433-6.

Hofseth, L.J., Hussain, S.P. and Harris, C.C. (2004) p53: 25 years after its discovery. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **25**, 177-81.

Honda, R., Tanaka, H. and Yasuda, H. (1997) Oncoprotein MDM2 is a ubiquitin ligase E3 for tumor suppressor p53. *FEBS Lett*, **420**, 25-7.

Honda R and Yasuda H. (1999) Association of p19(ARF) with Mdm2 inhibits ubiquitin ligase activity of Mdm2 for tumor suppressor p53. *EMBO J*, **18**, 22-7.

Honda, R. and Yasuda, H. (2000) Activity of MDM2, a ubiquitin ligase, toward p53 or itself is dependent on the RING finger domain of the ligase. *Oncogene*, **19**, 1473-6.

Hughes, K., Nikolakaki, E., Plyte, S.E., Totty, N.F. and Woodgett, J.R. (1993) Modulation of the glycogen synthase kinase-3 family by tyrosine phosphorylation. *EMBO J*, **12**, 803-8.

Huibregtse, J.M., Scheffner, M., Beaudenon, S. and Howley, P.M. (1995) A family of proteins structurally and functionally related to the E6-AP ubiquitin-protein ligase. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **92**, 2563-7.

Iqbal, Z.M., Kohn, K.W., Ewig, R.A. and Fornace, A.J.Jr. (1976) Single-strand scission and repair of DNA in mammalian cells by bleomycin. *Cancer Res*, **36**, 3834-8.

Iwakuma, T. and Lozano, G. (2003) MDM2, an introduction. *Mol Cancer Res*, 1, 993-1000.

Jackson, M.W. and Berberich, S.J. (2000) MdmX protects p53 from Mdm2-mediated degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, **20**, 1001-7.

Jackson, M.W., Agarwal, M.K., Agarwal, M.L., Agarwal, A., Stanhope-Baker, P., Williams, B.R. and Stark, G.R. (2004) Limited role of N-terminal phosphoserine residues in the activation of transcription by p53. *Oncogene*, **23**, 4477-87.

Joazeiro, C.A and Weissman, A.M. (2000) RING finger proteins: mediators of ubiquitin ligase activity. *Cell*, **102**, 549-52.

Jones, S.N., Roe, A.E., Donehower, L.A. and Bradley, A. (1995) Rescue of embryonic lethality in Mdm2-deficient mice by absence of p53. *Nature*, **378**, 206-8.

Jope, R.S. (2003) Lithium and GSK-3: one inhibitor, two inhibitory actions, multiple outcomes. *Trends Pharmacol Sci*, **24**, 441-3.

Jope, R.S. and Johnson, G.V. (2004) The glamour and gloom of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Trends Biochem Sci*, **29**, 95-102.

Kawai, H., Wiederschain, D. and Yuan, Z.M. (2003) Critical contribution of the MDM2 acidic domain to p53 ubiquitination. *Mol Cell Biol*, **23**, 4939-47.

Khosravi, R., Maya, R., Gottlieb, T., Oren, M., Shiloh, Y. and Shkedy, D. (1999) Rapid ATM-dependent phosphorylation of MDM2 precedes p53 accumulation in response to DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **96**, 14973-7.

Kimura, S.H. and Nojima, H. (2002) Cyclin G1 associates with MDM2 and regulates accumulation and degradation of p53 protein. *Genes Cells*, **7**, 869-80.

Koegl, M., Hoppe, T., Schlenker, S., Ulrich, H.D., Mayer, T.U. and Jentsch, S. (1999) A novel ubiquitination factor, E4, is involved in multiubiquitin chain assembly. *Cell*, **96**, 635-44.

Kubbutat, M.H., Jones, S.N. and Vousden, K.H. (1997) Regulation of p53 stability by Mdm2. *Nature*, **387**, 299-303.

Kubbutat, M.H., Ludwig, R.L., Ashcroft, M. and Vousden, K.H. (1998) Regulation of Mdm2-directed degradation by the C terminus of p53. *Mol Cell Biol*, **18**, 5690-8.

Kuo, M.L., den Besten, W., Bertwistle, D., Roussel, M.F. and Sherr, C.J. (2004) N-terminal polyubiquitination and degradation of the Arf tumor suppressor. *Genes Dev*, **18**, 1862-74.

Kussie, P.H., Gorina, S., Marechal, V., Elenbaas, B., Moreau, J., Levine, A.J. and Pavletich, N.P. (1996) Structure of the MDM2 oncoprotein bound to the p53 tumor suppressor transactivation domain. *Science*, **274**, 948-53.

Lackinger, D., Eichhorn, U. and Kaina, B. (2001) Effect of ultraviolet light, methyl methanesulfonate and ionizing radiation on the genotoxic response and apoptosis of mouse fibroblasts lacking c-Fos, p53 or both. *Mutagenesis*, **16**, 233-41.

Lai, Z., Freedman, D.A., Levine, A.J. and McLendon, G.L. (1998) Metal and RNA binding properties of the hdm2 RING finger domain. *Biochemistry*, **37**, 7005-15.

Lai, Z., Auger, K.R., Manubay, C.M. and Copeland, R.A. (2000) Thermodynamics of p53 binding to hdm2(1-126): effects of phosphorylation and p53 peptide length. *Arch Biochem Biophys*, **381**, 278-84.

Lai, Z., Ferry, K.V., Diamond, M.A., Wee, K.E., Kim, Y.B., Ma, J., Yang, T., Benfield, P.A., Copeland, R.A. and Auger, K.R. (2001) Human mdm2 mediates multiple monoubiquitination of p53 by a mechanism requiring enzyme isomerization. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 31357-67.

Lane, D.P. and Crawford, L.V. (1979) T antigen is bound to a host protein in SV40-transformed cells. *Nature*, **278**, 261-3.

Legube, G., Linares, L.K., Lemercier, C., Scheffner, M., Khochbin, S. and Trouche, D. (2002) Tip60 is targeted to proteasome-mediated degradation by Mdm2 and accumulates after UV irradiation. *EMBO J*, **21**, 1704-12.

Legube, G., Linares, L.K., Tyteca, S., Caron, C., Scheffner, M., Chevillard-Briet, M. and Trouche, D. (2004) Role of the Histone Acetyl Transferase Tip60 in the p53 Pathway. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 44825-33.

Leng, R.P., Lin, Y., Ma, W., Wu, H., Lemmers, B., Chung, S., Parant, J.M., Lozano, G., Hakem, R. and Benchimol, S. (2003) Pirh2, a p53-induced ubiquitin-protein ligase, promotes p53 degradation. *Cell*, **112**, 779-91.

Leost, M., Schultz, C., Link, A., Wu, Y.Z., Biernat, J., Mandelkow, E.M., Bibb, J.A., Snyder, G.L., Greengard, P., Zaharevitz, D.W., Gussio, R., Senderowicz, A.M., Sausville, E.A., Kunick, C. and Meijer, L. (2000) Paullones are potent inhibitors of glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and cyclin-dependent kinase 5/p25. *Eur J Biochem*, **267**, 5983-94.

Li, M., Wang, X., Meintzer, M.K., Laessig, T., Birnbaum, M.J. and Heidenreich, K.A. (2000) Cyclic AMP promotes neuronal survival by phosphorylation of glycogen synthase kinase 3beta. *Mol Cell Biol*, **20**, 9356-63.

Li, M., Chen, D., Shiloh, A., Luo, J., Nikolaev, A.Y., Qin, J. and Gu, W. (2002) Deubiquitination of p53 by HAUSP is an important pathway for p53 stabilization. *Nature*, **416**, 648-53.

Li, M., Brooks, C.L., Wu-Baer, F., Chen, D., Baer, R. and Gu, W. (2003) Mono- versus polyubiquitination: differential control of p53 fate by Mdm2. *Science*, **302**, 1972-5.

Li, M., Brooks, C.L., Kon, N. and Gu, W. (2004) A dynamic role of HAUSP in the p53-Mdm2 pathway. *Mol Cell*, **13**, 879-86.

Li, X., Bijur, G.N. and Jope, R.S. (2002) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta, mood stabilizers, and neuroprotection. *Bipolar Disord*, **4**, 137-44.

Lin, H.K., Wang, L., Hu, Y.C., Altuwaijri, S. and Chang, C. (2002) Phosphorylationdependent ubiquitylation and degradation of androgen receptor by Akt require Mdm2 E3 ligase. *EMBO J*, **21**, 4037-48. Linzer, D.I. and Levine, A.J. (1979) Characterization of a 54K dalton cellular SV40 tumor antigen present in SV40-transformed cells and uninfected embryonal carcinoma cells. *Cell*, **17**, 43-52.

Llanos, S., Clark, P.A., Rowe, J. and Peters, G. (2001) Stabilization of p53 by p14ARF without relocation of MDM2 to the nucleolus. *Nat Cell Biol*, **3**, 445-52.

Lohrum, M.A., Ludwig, R.L., Kubbutat, M.H., Hanlon, M. and Vousden, K.H. (2003) Regulation of HDM2 activity by the ribosomal protein L11. *Cancer Cell*, **3**, 577-87.

Lowe, S.W. and Sherr, C.J. (2003) Tumor suppression by Ink4a-Arf: progress and puzzles. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, **13**, 77-83.

Lyng, F.M., Seymour, C.B. and Mothersill, C. (2001) Oxidative stress in cells exposed to low levels of ionizing radiation. *Biochem Soc Trans*, **29**, 350-3.

Maki, C.G., Huibregtse, J.M. and Howley, P.M. (1996) In vivo ubiquitination and proteasome-mediated degradation of p53(1). *Cancer Res*, **56**, 2649-54.

Maltzman, W. and Czyzyk, L. (1984) UV irradiation stimulates levels of p53 cellular tumor antigen in nontransformed mouse cells. *Mol Cell Biol*, **4**, 1689-94.

Maniatis, T., Fritsch, E.F. and Smabrook, J. (1989) *Molecular cloning*, Cold Spring Harbor, New York.

Mao, C.D., Hoang, P. and DiCorleto, P.E. (2001) Lithium inhibits cell cycle progression and induces stabilization of p53 in bovine aortic endothelial cells. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 26180-8.

Marchenko, N.D., Zaika, A. and Moll, U.M. (2000) Death signal-induced localization of p53 protein to mitochondria. A potential role in apoptotic signaling. *J Biol Chem*, **275**, 16202-12.

Marechal, V., Elenbaas, B., Piette, J., Nicolas, J.C. and Levine, A.J. (1994) The ribosomal L5 protein is associated with mdm-2 and mdm-2-p53 complexes. *Mol Cell Biol*, **14**, 7414-20.

Marine, J.C. and Jochemsen, A.G. (2004) Mdmx and Mdm2: Brothers in Arms? *Cell Cycle*, **3**, e105-e109.

Maya, R., Balass, M., Kim, S.T., Shkedy, D., Leal, J.F., Shifman, O., Moas, M., Buschmann, T., Ronai, Z., Shiloh, Y., Kastan, M.B., Katzir, E. and Oren, M. (2001) ATM-dependent phosphorylation of Mdm2 on serine 395: role in p53 activation by DNA damage. *Genes Dev*, **15**, 1067-77.

Mayo, L.D., Turchi, J.J. and Berberich, S.J. (1997) Mdm-2 phosphorylation by DNAdependent protein kinase prevents interaction with p53. *Cancer Res*, **57**, 5013-6. Mayo, L.D. and Donner, D.B. (2001) A phosphatidylinositol 3-kinase/Akt pathway promotes translocation of Mdm2 from the cytoplasm to the nucleus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **98**, 11598-603.

McCoy, M.A., Gesell, J.J., Senior, M.M. and Wyss, D.F. (2003) Flexible lid to the p53binding domain of human Mdm2: implications for p53 regulation. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **100**, 1645-8.

McKay, B.C., Chen, F., Perumalswami, C.R., Zhang, F. and Ljungman, M. (2000) The tumor suppressor p53 can both stimulate and inhibit ultraviolet light-induced apoptosis. *Mol Biol Cell*, **11**, 2543-51.

McKay, B.C., Becerril, C. and Ljungman, M. (2001) P53 plays a protective role against UV- and cisplatin-induced apoptosis in transcription-coupled repair proficient fibroblasts. *Oncogene*, **20**, 6805-8.

McKinney, K., Mattia, M., Gottifredi, V. and Prives, C. (2004) p53 Linear Diffusion along DNA Requires Its C Terminus. *Mol Cell*, **16**, 413-24.

Meek, D.W. and Knippschild, U. (2003) Posttranslational modification of MDM2. *Mol Cancer Res*, **1**, 1017-26.

Meulmeester, E., Frenk, R., Stad, R., de Graaf, P., Marine, J.C., Vousden, K.H. and Jochemsen A.G. (2003) Critical role for a central part of Mdm2 in the ubiquitylation of p53. *Mol Cell Biol*, **23**, 4929-38.

Meyer, H.H., Wang, Y. and Warren, G. (2002) Direct binding of ubiquitin conjugates by the mammalian p97 adaptor complexes, p47 and Ufd1-Npl4. *EMBO J*, **21**, 5645-52.

Midgley, C.A., Fisher, C.J., Bartek, J., Vojtesek, B., Lane, D. and Barnes, D.M. (1992) Analysis of p53 expression in human tumours: an antibody raised against human p53 expressed in Escherichia coli. *J Cell Sci*, **101**, 183-9.

Midgley, C.A., Desterro, J.M., Saville, M.K., Howard, S., Sparks, A., Hay, R.T. and Lane, D.P. (2000) An N-terminal p14ARF peptide blocks Mdm2-dependent ubiquitination in vitro and can activate p53 in vivo. *Oncogene*, **19**, 2312-23.

Migliorini, D., Denchi, E.L., Danovi, D., Jochemsen, A., Capillo, M., Gobbi, A., Helin, K., Pelicci, P.G. and Marine, J.C. (2002) Mdm4 (Mdmx) regulates p53-induced growth arrest and neuronal cell death during early embryonic mouse development. *Mol Cell Biol*, **22**, 5527-38.

Mihara, M., Erster, S., Zaika, A., Petrenko, O., Chittenden, T., Pancoska, P. and Moll, U.M. (2003) p53 has a direct apoptogenic role at the mitochondria. *Mol Cell*, **11**, 577-90.

Milne, D., Kampanis, P., Nicol, S., Dias, S., Campbell, D.G., Fuller-Pace, F. and Meek, D. (2004) A novel site of AKT-mediated phosphorylation in the human MDM2 onco-protein. *FEBS Lett*, **577**, 270-276.

Minsky, N. and Oren, M. (2004) The RING Domain of Mdm2 Mediates Histone Ubiquitylation and Transcriptional Repression. *Mol Cell*, **16**, 631-9.

Mirnezami, A.H., Campbell, S.J., Darley, M., Primrose, J.N., Johnson, P.W. and Blaydes, J.P. (2003) Hdm2 recruits a hypoxia-sensitive corepressor to negatively regulate p53-dependent transcription. *Curr Biol*, **13**, 1234-9.

Miyauchi, Y., Yogosawa, S., Honda, R., Nishida, T. and Yasuda, H. (2002) Sumoylation of Mdm2 by protein inhibitor of activated STAT (PIAS) and RanBP2 enzymes. *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 50131-6.

Momand, J., Zambetti, G.P., Olson, D.C., George, D. and Levine, A.J. (1992) The mdm-2 oncogene product forms a complex with the p53 protein and inhibits p53-mediated transactivation. *Cell*, **69**, 1237-45.

Montes de Oca Luna, R., Wagner D.S. and Lozano, G. (1995) Rescue of early embryonic lethality in mdm2-deficient mice by deletion of p53. *Nature*, **378**, 203-6.

Murphy, M.E., Leu, J.I. and George, D.L. (2004) p53 Moves to Mitochondria: A Turn on the Path to Apoptosis. *Cell Cycle*, **3**, e19-e22.

Nomura, M., Kaji, A., Ma, W.Y., Zhong, S., Liu, G., Bowden, G.T., Miyamoto, K.I. and Dong, Z. (2001) Mitogen- and stress-activated protein kinase 1 mediates activation of Akt by ultraviolet B irradiation. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 25558-67.

O'Brate, A. and Giannakakou, P. (2003) The importance of p53 location: nuclear or cytoplasmic zip code? *Drug Resist Updat*, **6**, 313-22.

Ogawara, Y., Kishishita, S., Obata, T., Isazawa, Y., Suzuki, T., Tanaka, K., Masuyama, N. and Gotoh, Y. (2002) Akt enhances Mdm2-mediated ubiquitination and degradation of p53. *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 21843-50.

Okamoto, K., Li, H., Jensen, M.R., Zhang, T., Taya, Y., Thorgeirsson, S.S. and Prives, C. (2002) Cyclin G recruits PP2A to dephosphorylate Mdm2. *Mol Cell*, **9**, 761-71.

Passmore, L.A. and Barford, D. (2004) Getting into position: the catalytic mechanisms of protein ubiquitylation. *Biochem J*, **379**, 513-25.

Patel, S., Doble, B. and Woodgett, J.R. (2004) Glycogen synthase kinase-3 in insulin and Wnt signalling: a double-edged sword? *Biochem Soc Trans*, **32**, 803-8.

Qu, L., Huang, S., Baltzis, D., Rivas-Estilla, A.M., Pluquet, O., Hatzoglou, M., Koumenis, C., Taya, Y., Yoshimura, A. and Koromilas, A.E. (2004) Endoplasmic reticulum stress induces p53 cytoplasmic localization and prevents p53-dependent apoptosis by a pathway involving glycogen synthase kinase-3beta. *Genes Dev*, **18**, 261-77.

Rajendra, R., Malegaonkar, D., Pungaliya, P., Marshall, H., Rasheed, Z., Brownell, J., Liu, L.F., Lutzker, S., Saleem, A. and Rubin, E.H. (2004) Topors functions as an E3 ubiquitin ligase with specific E2 enzymes and ubiquitinates p53. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 36440-4.

Rodriguez, M.S., Desterro, J.M., Lain, S., Lane, D.P. and Hay, R.T. (2000) Multiple C-terminal lysine residues target p53 for ubiquitin-proteasome-mediated degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, **20**, 8458-67.

Ruas, M. and Peters, G. (1998) The p16INK4a/CDKN2A tumor suppressor and its relatives. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **1378**, F115-77.

Rubbi, C.P. and Milner, J. (2003) Disruption of the nucleolus mediates stabilization of p53 in response to DNA damage and other stresses. *EMBO J*, **22**, 6068-77.

Ryves, W.J., Fryer, L., Dale, T. and Harwood, A.J. (1998) An assay for glycogen synthase kinase 3 (GSK-3) for use in crude cell extracts. *Anal Biochem*, **264**, 124-7.

Sauer, R.T., Bolon, D.N., Burton, B.M., Burton, R.E., Flynn, J.M., Grant, R.A., Hersch, G.L., Joshi, S.A., Kenniston, J.A., Levchenko, I., Neher, S.B., Oakes, E.S., Siddiqui, S.M., Wah, D.A. and Baker, T.A. (2004) Sculpting the proteome with AAA(+) proteases and disassembly machines. *Cell*, **119**, 9-18.

Saville, M.K., Sparks, A., Xirodimas, D.P., Wardrop, J., Stevenson, L.F., Bourdon, J.C., Woods, Y.L. and Lane, D.P. (2004) Regulation of p53 by the ubiquitin-conjugating enzymes UbcH5B/C in vivo. *J Biol Chem*, **279**, 42169-81.

Schon, O., Friedler, A., Bycroft, M., Freund, S.M. and Fersht, A.R. (2002) Molecular mechanism of the interaction between MDM2 and p53. *J Mol Biol*, **323**, 491-501.

Sdek, P., Ying, H., Zheng, H., Margulis, A., Tang, X., Tian, K. and Xiao, Z.X. (2004) The central acidic domain of MDM2 is critical in inhibition of Rb-mediated suppression of E2F and cell growth. *J Biol Chem*, Oct 13 [Epub ahead of print].

Shaw, M., Cohen, P. and Alessi, D.R. (1998) The activation of protein kinase B by H2O2 or heat shock is mediated by phosphoinositide 3-kinase and not by mitogen-activated protein kinase-activated protein kinase-2. *Biochem J*, **336**, 241-6.

Shieh, S.Y., Ikeda, M., Taya, Y. and Prives, C. (1997) DNA damage-induced phosphorylation of p53 alleviates inhibition by MDM2. *Cell*, **91**, 325-34.

Shimizu, H., Burch, L.R., Smith, A.J., Dornan, D., Wallace, M., Ball, K.L. and Hupp, T.R. (2002) The conformationally flexible S9-S10 linker region in the core domain of p53 contains a novel MDM2 binding site whose mutation increases ubiquitination of p53 in vivo. *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 28446-58.

Sigal, A. and Rotter, V. (2000) Oncogenic mutations of the p53 tumor suppressor: the demons of the guardian of the genome. *Cancer Res*, **60**, 6788-93.

Slee, E.A., O'Connor, D.J. and Lu, X. (2004) To die or not to die: how does p53 decide? *Oncogene*, **23**, 2809-18.

Stad, R., Little, N.A., Xirodimas, D.P., Frenk, R., van der Eb, A.J., Lane, D.P., Saville, M.K. and Jochemsen, A.G. (2001) Mdmx stabilizes p53 and Mdm2 via two distinct mechanisms. *EMBO Rep*, **2**, 1029-34.

Sui, G., Affar, el B., Shi, Y., Brignone, C., Wall, N.R., Yin, P., Donohoe, M., Luke, M.P., Calvo, D., Grossman, S.R. and Shi, Y. (2004) Yin Yang 1 is a negative regulator of p53. *Cell*, **117**, 859-72.

Sutherland, C., Leighton, I.A. and Cohen, P. (1993) Inactivation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 beta by phosphorylation: new kinase connections in insulin and growth-factor signalling. *Biochem J*, **296**, 15-9.

Sutherland, C. and Cohen P. (1994) The alpha-isoform of glycogen synthase kinase-3 from rabbit skeletal muscle is inactivated by p70 S6 kinase or MAP kinase-activated protein kinase-1 in vitro. *FEBS Lett*, **338**, 37-42.

Tanimura, S., Ohtsuka, S., Mitsui, K., Shirouzu, K., Yoshimura, A. and Ohtsubo, M. (1999) MDM2 interacts with MDMX through their RING finger domains. *FEBS Lett*, **447**, 5-9.

Tanji, C., Yamamoto, H., Yorioka, N., Kohno, N., Kikuchi, K. and Kikuchi, A. (2002) Akinase anchoring protein AKAP220 binds to glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK-3beta) and mediates protein kinase A-dependent inhibition of GSK-3beta. *J Biol Chem*, **277**, 36955-61.

Tao, W. and Levine, A.J. (1999) P19(ARF) stabilizes p53 by blocking nucleo-cytoplasmic shuttling of Mdm2. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **96**, 6937-41.

Thomas, C.J., Rahier, N.J. and Hecht, S.M. (2004) Camptothecin: current perspectives. *Bioorg Med Chem*, **12**, 1585-604.

Thomas, G.M., Frame, S., Goedert, M., Nathke, I., Polakis, P. and Cohen, P. (1999) A GSK3-binding peptide from FRAT1 selectively inhibits the GSK3-catalysed phosphorylation of axin and beta-catenin. *FEBS Lett*, **458**, 247-51.

Thompson, T., Tovar, C., Yang, H., Carvajal, D., Vu, B.T., Xu, Q., Wahl, G.M., Heimbrook, D.C. and Vassilev, L.T. (2004) Phosphorylation of p53 on key serines is dispensable for transcriptional activation and apoptosis. *J Biol Chem*, Oct 6 [Epub ahead of print].

Thrower, J.S., Hoffman, L., Rechsteiner, M. and Pickart, C.M. (2000) Recognition of the polyubiquitin proteolytic signal. *EMBO J*, **19**, 94-102.

Tsuchiya, H., Iseda, T. and Hino, O. (1996) Identification of a novel protein (VBP-1) binding to the von Hippel-Lindau (VHL) tumor suppressor gene product. *Cancer Res*, **56**, 2881-5.

Turenne, G.A. and Price, B.D. (2001) Glycogen synthase kinase3 beta phosphorylates serine 33 of p53 and activates p53's transcriptional activity. *BMC Cell Biol*, **2**, 12.

Uldrijan, S. and Vousden, K. (2004) Characterization of HDM2 regions involved in regulation of p53 and HDMX stability. Beatson International Cancer Conference "Cell Cycle, Senescence, Apoptosis and Cancer", June 20th - June 23rd 2004. Abstract book, p 95.

Usui, I., Imamura, T., Huang, J., Satoh, H., Shenoy, S.K., Lefkowitz, R.J., Hupfeld, C.J. and Olefsky, J.M. (2004) {beta}-Arrestin-1 Competitively Inhibits Insulin-Induced Ubiquitination and Degradation of Insulin Receptor Substrate 1. *Mol Cell Biol*, **24**, 8929-8937.

Verma, R., Oania, R., Graumann, J. and Deshaies, R.J. (2004) Multiubiquitin chain receptors define a layer of substrate selectivity in the ubiquitin-proteasome system. *Cell*, **118**, 99-110.

Vogelstein, B., Lane, D. and Levine, A.J. (2000) Surfing the p53 network. *Nature*, **408**, 307-10.

Vojtesek, B., Dolezalova, H., Lauerova, L., Svitakova, M., Havlis, P., Kovarik, J., Midgley, C.A. and Lane, D.P. (1995) Conformational changes in p53 analysed using new antibodies to the core DNA binding domain of the protein. *Oncogene*, **10**, 389-93.

Vousden, K.H. and Lu, X. (2002) Live or let die: the cell's response to p53. *Nat Rev Cancer*, **2**, 594-604.

Wahl, G.M. and Carr, A.M. (2001) The evolution of diverse biological responses to DNA damage: insights from yeast and p53. *Nat Cell Biol*, **3**, E277-86.

Wang, W. and Malcolm, B.A. (2002) Two-stage polymerase chain reaction protocol allowing introduction of multiple mutations, deletions, and insertions, using QuikChange site-directed mutagenesis. *Methods Mol Biol*, **182**, 37-43.

Wang, X., Taplick, J., Geva, N. and Oren, M. (2004) Inhibition of p53 degradation by Mdm2 acetylation. *FEBS Lett*, **561**, 195-201.

Ward, J.F. (1988) DNA damage produced by ionizing radiation in mammalian cells: identities, mechanisms of formation, and reparability. *Prog Nucleic Acid Res Mol Biol*, **35**, 95-125.

Waseem, N.H. and Lane, D.P. (1990) Monoclonal antibody analysis of the proliferating cell nuclear antigen (PCNA). Structural conservation and the detection of a nucleolar form. *J Cell Sci*, **96**, 121-9.

Watcharasit, P., Bijur, G.N., Zmijewski, J.W., Song, L., Zmijewska, A., Chen, X., Johnson, G.V. and Jope, R.S. (2002) Direct, activating interaction between glycogen synthase kinase-3beta and p53 after DNA damage. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **99**, 7951-5.

Watcharasit, P., Bijur, G.N., Song, L., Zhu, J., Chen, X. and Jope, R.S. (2003) Glycogen synthase kinase-3beta (GSK3beta) binds to and promotes the actions of p53. *J Biol Chem*, **278**, 48872-9.

Weber, J.D., Taylor, L.J., Roussel, M.F., Sherr, C.J. and Bar-Sagi, D. (1999) Nucleolar Arf sequesters Mdm2 and activates p53. *Nat Cell Biol*, **1**, 20-6.

Weinberg, R.L., Freund, S.M., Veprintsev, D.B., Bycroft, M. and Fersht, A.R. (2004) Regulation of DNA binding of p53 by its C-terminal domain. *J Mol Biol*, **17**, 801-11.

Winter, M., Milne, D., Kulikov, R., Knippschild, R., Blattner, C. and Meek, D. Protein kinase CKI<sup>δ</sup> phosphorylates key sites in the acidic domain of Mdm2 in vitro and in vivo. *Biochemistry*, in press.

Woodgett, J.R. and Cohen, P. (1984) Multisite phosphorylation of glycogen synthase. Molecular basis for the substrate specificity of glycogen synthase kinase-3 and casein kinase-II (glycogen synthase kinase-5). *Biochim Biophys Acta*, **788**, 339-47.

Woodgett, J.R. (1990) Molecular cloning and expression of glycogen synthase kinase-3/factor A. *EMBO J*, **9**, 2431-8.

Woodgett, J.R. (1991) cDNA cloning and properties of glycogen synthase kinase-3. *Methods Enzymol*, **200**, 564-77.

Wu, Z., Earle, J., Saito, S., Anderson, C.W., Appella, E. and Xu, Y. (2002) Mutation of mouse p53 Ser23 and the response to DNA damage. *Mol Cell Biol*, **22**, 2441-9.

Xie, Y. and Varshavsky, A. (2000) Physical association of ubiquitin ligases and the 26S proteasome. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, **97**, 2497-502.

Xirodimas, D.P., Stephen, C.W. and Lane, D.P. (2001a) Cocompartmentalization of p53 and Mdm2 is a major determinant for Mdm2-mediated degradation of p53. *Exp Cell Res*, **270**, 66-77.

Xirodimas, D., Saville, M.K., Edling, C., Lane, D.P. and Lain S. (2001b) Different effects of p14ARF on the levels of ubiquitinated p53 and Mdm2 in vivo. *Oncogene*, **20**, 4972-83.

Xirodimas, D.P., Chisholm, J., Desterro, J.M., Lane, D.P. and Hay, R.T. (2002) P14ARF promotes accumulation of SUMO-1 conjugated (H)Mdm2. *FEBS Lett*, **528**, 207-11.

Yang, Y., Li, C.C. and Weissman, A.M. (2004) Regulating the p53 system through ubiquitination. *Oncogene*, **23**, 2096-106.

Yogosawa, S., Miyauchi, Y., Honda, R., Tanaka, H. and Yasuda, H. (2003) Mammalian Numb is a target protein of Mdm2, ubiquitin ligase. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, **302**, 869-72.

You, J. and Pickart, C.M. (2001) A HECT domain E3 enzyme assembles novel polyubiquitin chains. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 19871-8.

Zeng, X., Chen, L., Jost, C.A., Maya, R., Keller, D., Wang, X., Kaelin, W.G. Jr, Oren, M., Chen, J. and Lu, H. (1999) MDM2 suppresses p73 function without promoting p73 degradation. *Mol Cell Biol*, **19**, 3257-66.

Zhang, T. and Prives, C. (2001) Cyclin a-CDK phosphorylation regulates MDM2 protein interactions. *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 29702-10.

Zhang, Y. and Xiong, Y. (2001) Control of p53 ubiquitination and nuclear export by MDM2 and ARF. *Cell Growth Differ*, **12**, 175-86.

Zhou, B.P., Liao, Y., Xia, W., Zou, Y., Spohn, B. and Hung, M.C. (2001) HER-2/neu induces p53 ubiquitination via Akt-mediated MDM2 phosphorylation. *Nat Cell Biol*, **3**, 973-82.

Zhu, Q., Yao, J., Wani, G., Wani, M.A. and Wani, A.A. (2001) Mdm2 mutant defective in binding p300 promotes ubiquitination but not degradation of p53: evidence for the role of p300 in integrating ubiquitination and proteolysis, *J Biol Chem*, **276**, 29695-701.

Zmijewski, J.W. and Jope, R.S. (2004) Nuclear accumulation of glycogen synthase kinase-3 during replicative senescence of human fibroblasts. *Aging Cell*, **3**, 309-17.